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2. Corporate Structure 
 

 The Issuer’s full corporate name is MOAG Copper Gold Resources Inc. (the “Issuer”, 
“Moag”, the “Company” or the “Corporation”), having its registered office at 21 
Burkebrook Pl., Suite 405, Toronto, Ontario, M4G 0A2, and its principal place of 
business at 21 Burkebrook Pl., Suite 405, Toronto, Ontario, M4G 0A2. 

 
 The Issuer was formed by a Certificate of Amalgamation pursuant to the Canada 

Business Corporations Act on December 1st, 2011, as a result of an amalgamation 
between Greenfab Build Systems Inc. (“Greenfab”), which was incorporated under the 
Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on June 11, 2010, and MOAG Copper 
Gold Resources Inc. (“MOAG”), which was incorporated under the Canada Business 
Corporations Act on May 11, 2006.   

 
 The Issuer has no subsidiaries. 
 
3. General Development of the Business 
 

 MOAG was incorporated under the laws of Canada by articles of incorporation dated 
May 11, 2006, under the name “Transformation Capital Corp.”  By Articles of 
Amendment dated June 30, 2009, the company changed its name to “MOAG Copper 
Gold Resources Inc.”  The company was extra provincially registered in the Province of 
British Columbia on September 22, 2009.  Until the company changed its name on June 
30, 2009, it never conducted any business activities.  Since that time, the company has 
been engaged in the acquisition and development of molybdenum, silver, copper and gold 
mineral properties in Canada and Ireland.  It has not yet determined whether the 
properties contain reserves that are economically recoverable. The recoverability of 
amounts shown for mineral properties is dependent upon the discovery of economically 
recoverable reserves, confirmation of MOAG’s interest in the underlying mineral 
properties in accordance with industry practice, the ability of MOAG to obtain necessary 
financing to complete the development, and upon future profitable production.  To date, 
MOAG has acquired the following properties: the Ketchan property, the Highland Valley 
property and the Mace property.  These projects are in the exploration stage. 

 
 On July 5, 2009, MOAG purchased the Highland Valley Claim Group, located in 

southwest British Columbia, from a company owned by a related party for a 
consideration of $490,000, which consists of 8,000,000 common shares of MOAG at a 
fair value of $0.03 per share and cash of $250,000 (paid).  Subsequently MOAG optioned 
the Highland Valley property pursuant to the terms of a Property Option Agreement dated 
December 8, 2009 with Highbank Resources Ltd. (“HBK”). Under the terms of the 
Highland Valley Property Option Agreement, HBK can earn a 50% interest in the 
Highland Valley Property by issuing 20,000,000 common shares of HBK to MOAG, 
making option payments of $250,000 to MOAG, and incurring $1,000,000 in exploration 
expenditures on the Highland Valley property.  Bradley L. Jones, a director and officer of 
MOAG, is also a director of HBK. 
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 On July 5, 2009, MOAG purchased the Ketchan Claim Group, located in southwest 

British Columbia, from a company owned by a related party for a consideration that 
consisted of 20,000,000 common shares of MOAG at a fair value of $0.03 per share and 
cash of $250,000 (paid).  The Ketchan property consists of five areas and the initial 
exploration effort will be focused on the Ketchan Lake Zone. 

 
 MOAG acquired the Mace property pursuant to the terms of a Property Option 

Agreement dated September 23, 2009 with HBK. Under the terms of the Property Option 
Agreement, MOAG can earn a 50% interest in the Mace property by making option 
payments of $50,000 to HBK (paid) and incurring $1,000,000 of exploration 
expenditures on the Mace property.  

 
 On July 19, 2012 the Company and Highbank Resources Limited (“HBK”) approved the 

following changes to certain property agreements and or arrangements between the 
parties: 

 
 The Company and HBK are parties to a Property Option Agreement (“the 

agreement”) dated December 8, 2009, amended December 15, 2010 and further 
amended February 2, 2011 in respect of the Company’s Highland Valley property. 
The agreement required HBK to pay amounts aggregating $250,000, issue 20 million 
shares and incur exploration expenditures of $1,000,000 over a three (3) year period 
in order to secure a fifty (50) percent inserts in the property. 

 Agreement was reached that the aforementioned fifty (50) percent interest would 
be considered “earned” based on cash payments and exploration expenditures made 
or incurred to date. The issuance of the 20 million shares was completed in February 
2011. 

 Whereas HBK was the legal and beneficial owner of all right, title and interest in 
and to prospecting licence over prospecting area #930 and #934 in the Country of 
Galway located in Ireland. 

 HBK agreed to transfer its 100% interest in the licenses to the Company and will 
retain a 1% NSR which the Company have the option to purchase ½% for $500,000. 

 
 The Issuer has not completed an acquisition or disposition or proposed any significant 

probable acquisition or disposition for which financial statements would be required 
under National Instrument 41-101. 

  
 As of the date of the Listing Statement, the Issuer plans to focus on the development of 

its Highland Valley, Ketchan and Mace mining properties in British Columbia and 
Ireland, as described under the heading “Narrative Description of the Business” as well as 
any other projects it may acquire from time to time.  The financing and exploration and 
development of the Issuer’s properties are subject to a number of factors, including laws 
and regulations in the areas of taxation, environmental, permitting and others, hiring 
qualified people, and obtaining necessary services in jurisdictions where the Issuer 
operates.  The current trends relating to these factors are favourable but could change at 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

October 29, 2012 
Page 5 

 
  

any time and negatively affect the Issuer’s operations and business.  Please refer to 
“Narrative Description of the Business” for risk factors affecting the Issuer.  Other than 
as disclosed herein, the Issuer is not aware of any trends, uncertainties, demands, 
commitments or events which are reasonably likely to have a material effect on the 
Issuer’s business, financial condition or results of operations. 

 
4. Narrative Description of the Business 
 
 The long term objective of the Issuer is to identify, evaluate, acquire and explore mineral 

properties for the purposes of identifying a mineral resource deposit on any of the Issuer’s 
properties for the development of a mine or for the sale of the deposit or the Issuer to a 
senior mining company. The exploration and evaluation of mining properties is a long 
and costly process. It can take many months or years to achieve these objectives. The 
initial costs are set out in the technical information provided herein as well as that 
incorporated by reference. 

 
 The Issuer’s objectives for the next 12 months and how it intends to achieve them are set 

out below: 
  
Objectives Target completion date Costs to complete 
Phase I of the recommended 
work program on the Highland 
Valley property 

Completed US$588,000 

Phase I of the recommended 
work program on the Ketchan 
property 

Fall 2013 US$879,000 

Phase I of the recommended 
work program on the Mace 
property 

Fall 2013 US$400,000 

Phase I of the recommended 
work program on the Murvey 
property 

Fall 2013 US$168,000 

 
With respect to its properties, the Issuer’s business objective is to conduct drilling exploration 
programs and to compile the information obtained in an effort to define the mineral potential of 
the properties.  The Issuer may from time to time consider other property acquisition 
opportunities in the resource sector or acquire any other projects that will bring value to 
shareholders wherever they may arise.  On its specific properties, the Issuer intends to do the 
following: 

Ketchan Property 

The Issuer has commissioned a National Instrument 43-101 compliant technical report on the 
Ketchan property.  The report, dated May 15, 2009, and prepared by William R. Bergey, P.Eng., 
consulting geologist, is entitled “Report on the Ketchan Property, Aspen Grove Area, British 
Columbia” and recommended an exploration program that includes diamond drilling, 
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geophysical and geochemical surveying, and geological mapping at an estimated cost of 
$879,000.  The report recommended the bulk of the work for the Ketchan Lake porphyry copper-
gold system, with the objective of producing a preliminary mineral resource estimate. 
Exploration also is recommended for the Par Prospect, the Zig 3 Prospect, the Rum East Prospect 
and the WD zone.  In some cases diamond drilling is recommended in conjunction with 
geophysical and geochemical surveys. However, the drilling is not contingent on the results of 
the surveys. The cost estimate for diamond drilling includes mobilization and demobilization, 
travel & living expenses, supervision, core logging & storage, and environmental remediation.  
A test of the Mobile Metal Ion (MMI) geochemical analytical technique is recommended in areas 
of transported overburden in the Ketchan Lake and MD zones in order to determine its 
effectiveness under the prevailing geological conditions. 
 

Cost Estimate 
 

Ketchan Lake Zone 
 

3D induced polarization survey: 30 kilometres @ $2800./km.    $84,000. 
MMI geochemical survey: 120 samples @ $50./sample    $6,000. 
 
Diamond drilling: 

 
Main Zone -- 2000 metres in 5 holes @ $200./ metre     $400,000. 
West Extension – 200 metres in 2 holes @ $200./metre     $40,000. 
East Extension – 200 metres in 2 holes @ $200./metre     $40,000. 
 

Total     $570,000. 
 
 PAR Prospect 
 

3D induced polarization: 10 kilometres @ $2800./km.     $28,000. 
Diamond drilling: 600 metres in 3 holes @ $200./metre     $120,000. 
 

Total     $148,000. 
 
 Coke East Prospect 
 

Geological mapping & prospecting: 10 days @ $1000./day    $10,000. 
Geochemical survey: 500 samples @ $30./sample     $15,000. 

 
Total     $25,000. 

  
Zig 3 Prospect 
 

Geochemical survey: 500 samples @ $30./sample     $15,000. 
Geological mapping & prospecting: 10 days @ 1000./day    $10,000. 

 
Total     $25,000. 

 
 WD Zone 
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Diamond drilling: 400 metres in 4 holes @ $200./metre     $80,000. 
MMI geochemical survey: 60 samples @ $50./sample     $3,000. 
3D induced polarization survey 10 kilometres @ $2800,/km.    $28,000. 
 

Total     $111,000. 
 
Grand Total    $879,000. 

Mace Property 

The Issuer has commissioned a National Instrument 43-101 compliant technical report on the 
Mace property.  The report, dated July 18, 2008, and prepared by William R. Bergey, P.Eng., 
consulting geologist, is entitled “Geological Report on the Mace Molybdenum-Copper Prospect, 
Connemara, County Galway, Ireland” and recommended an exploration program consisting of 
nine holes along three cross sections, totalling 1350 metres of drilling. In addition, detailed 
geological mapping and air-photo interpretation were recommended. The cost of the work is 
estimated to be US$374,000. It is anticipated that a second stage of drilling will be carried out, 
based in part on the results of the program recommended in the report. 
 

Cost Estimate 
 

Diamond drilling: 9 holes @ 150 metres/hole = 1350 metres@ $US$200   $270,000. 
Geological mapping, air-photo interpretation, report preparation    $40,000. 
Travel and transportation:        $30,000. 

 
Sub-total    $340,000. 
Contingency @ 10%   $34,000. 

 
TOTAL US   $374,000. 

 
Note: The cost shown for diamond drilling includes geological supervision, accommodation, core handling, 
assaying and environmental remediation. 

 
Murvey Property 

The Issuer has commissioned a National Instrument 43-101 compliant technical report on the 
Murvey property.  The report, dated September 5, 2008, and prepared by William R. Bergey, 
P.Eng., consulting geologist, is entitled “Geological Report on the Murvey Molybdenum 
Prospect, Connemara, County Galway, Ireland” and recommended an exploration program 
consisting of five holes totalling 600 metres of drilling. In addition, trenching, geological 
mapping and air-photo interpretation were recommended. The cost of the work is estimated to be 
US$168,000.  
 
Cost Estimate 
 
Diamond drilling: 600 metres@ $US$200            $120,000 
Trenching                 15,000 
Geological mapping, air-photo interpretation, report preparation                   25,000 
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Travel and transportation:                    8,000 
TOTAL           US$ 168,000 

 
[Note:  The cost shown for diamond drilling includes geological supervision,                     
accommodation, core handling, assaying and environmental remediation.] 
 
 
TECHNICAL REPORT – HIGHLAND VALLEY PROPERTY 
 
The following information regarding the property has been summarized from a technical report 
entitled “Geological Report on the Highland Valley Property, Highland Valley Area, British 
Columbia”, dated September 25, 2009, and prepared by William R. Bergey, P.Eng, (“Mr. 
Bergey” or the “author”) and should be read in conjunction with this Circular.  Mr. Bergey is an 
independent Qualified Person as defined by NI 43-101.  The Technical Report has been prepared 
in accordance with NI 43-101 and is available for inspection at the head office of MOAG during 
normal business hours. 
 
The author of the Technical Report has obtained and reviewed various reports concerning past 
exploration work conducted on the property which were not prepared in accordance with NI 43-
101.  The following technical information has been taken from these reports; however, the author 
has not completed sufficient work to verify the accuracy of this historical information.  
Accordingly, readers should use caution when considering this information and should not rely 
upon the accuracy of such information. 
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Property Description and Location 
 
The Highland Valley Property (“the Property”) comprises 18 unpatented Mineral Tenures 
covering 9418.21 hectares (about 36 square miles) in the Kamloops Mining Division, British 
Columbia. The tenures are contiguous except for the small Skuhun Block, which lies to the west 
of the other claim blocks. The locations of the tenures are shown on Figure 1. 
 
The National Topographic System designation is 92I36 (Chataway Lake). The centre of the 
Property is located at Latitude 50°20’N, Longitude 120°53’W. 
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Ownership of the mineral rights to the tenures is held by MOAG COPPER GOLD RESOURCES 
INC.  There is extensive private ownership of land along the valley of Guichon Creek in the 
eastern portion of the property.  This is outlined on Figure 1. 
 
There are no known mineralized zones or mineral resources within the Property whose 
authenticity has been confirmed by the author.  A discussion of this topic is contained in a later 
section of the present report. 
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Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure and Physiography 
 
The Property lies in the south-eastern part of a high plateau that drops off abruptly toward the 
Guichon Creek valley to the east. The topography on the plateau is characterized by moderately 
steep-sided hills with local relief of less than 100 metres except along the western part of the 
valley of Skuhun Creek, which lies more than 200 metres below the average surface of the 
plateau. Elevations are highest in the north-western part of the area, averaging more than 1500 
metres north and west of Chataway Lake. Mamit Lake, which occupies a portion of the valley of 
Guichon Creek, lies below 1000 metres. 
 
The north-western portion of the map area falls within the biogeoclimatic zone classified as Sub-
Boreal Spruce. To the south and east this is replaced by the Interior Douglas-Fir zone. In local 
terms this means that Lodgepole Pine is supplanted as the predominant tree species by Ponderosa 
Pine along the more arid lower slopes of the Guichon Creek valley. This transition is apparent in 
the patchwork of clear-cut logging on the plateau –- the result of pine beetle infestation of the 
favoured Lodgepole Pine. 
 
The area is accessible by road from the town of Merritt, which lies 180 kilometres east of 
Vancouver, and also from the city of Kamloops via Logan Lake townsite and the Highland 
Valley mining district. The access route from Merritt follows a paved highway for 20 kilometres 
via Lower Nicola as far as the Tap Group. A network of gravel roads provides access beyond this 
point to the Chataway and Skuhun Groups. The Merritt-Logan Lake Highway transects portions 
of the Mamit Group. The local road network is shown on Figure 1. (The roads to Mamit Lake 
and Chataway Lake are maintained throughout the year). 
 
The map area has a cool-temperate to sub-boreal climate with fairly hot summers and cold 
winters. Rainfall and snowfall are moderate. Mineral exploration commonly is carried out year-
round. Large-scale open-pit mining in the Highland Valley copper has not been unduly hindered 
by the climatic conditions over the past half a century. 
 
Surface rights for a mining operation on Crown land can be obtained from the provincial 
government as a part of the negotiations for a mining lease. There are existing power lines at the 
Highland Valley Copper operation 15 kilometres to the northwest of the property. Ample water 
resources are available within the area. Merritt and Logan Lake provide convenient town-sites 
and sources of labour. There appear to be no unusual problems relating to plant sites and 
ancillary facilities in the vicinity of the property. 
 
History 
 
Intensive prospecting was carried out in the late 1800’s within a mineralized trend that I have 
termed the “Southeast Belt.” It extends for about five kilometres south-southeast from Twilight 
Lake, which is located in the central part of the Chat Group. Early in the following century 
attempts were made to mine high-grade copper veins that were emplaced along northeast 
trending faults and shears at several localities, including the Aberdeen, Vimy and Wiz Mines 
(see Figure 8). More recent exploration work has expanded some of the vein deposits and there is 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

October 29, 2012 
Page 14 

 
  

evidence that porphyry-copper type mineralization is present locally in association with the 
veins. 
 
Intensive modern prospecting activity in the vicinity of the Property commenced once it was 
recognized that the Bethlehem prospect, located 13 kilometres north of Chataway Lake, 
contained a porphyry copper deposit that could be mined in a large-scale, low-cost operation. 
Following the opening of this mine in 1962, major porphyry-copper discoveries were made south 
of Bethlehem at Lornex, Valley Copper, Highmont and JA. Although cyclical in nature, in phase 
with metal-price cycles, exploration in the region has been intense since the 1960’s. Highland 
Valley Copper currently is the largest base-metal mine in Canada, and it is one of the largest in 
the world in terms of ore treated. 
 
All of the area that encloses the Property has been explored, in many cases by an almost 
unbroken succession of companies. The following summary lists various exploration programs 
that have been carried out within and adjacent to the Property. Most of the published information 
was contained in assessment reports that the B.C. Government has made available on the 
Internet. Descriptions of mineral occurrences are summarized on Minfile and in publications of 
the B.C. Geological Survey. The compilation and interpretation of this voluminous data 
constitute a large portion of the preparatory work for the present report. 
 
The following summary is incomplete. Not all of the published material provided data that I 
deemed to be significant for the purposes of this report, and not all of the results of the 
exploration programs in the region were disclosed in published form. 
 
Chat Block 
 
1958: Craigmont Mines Ltd. carried out a magnetometer survey in the vicinity of the Buck 
showings (Rennie, 1958). The prospect is located close to the margin of the Guichon batholith in 
a geological setting deemed to be similar to the Craigmont mine, a recent discovery at the time. 
 
1963: Geological mapping was undertaken to aid in the interpretation of physical work 
previously carried out by Chataway Exploration in the southeastern part of their property 
(McTaggart, 1963). 
 
1964: Induced polarization and electromagnetic surveys were carried out within two small areas 
for Chataway Exploration Co. (Selmser, 1964). Drilling south of Chataway Lake based on these 
surveys was done later, but no details have been uncovered on the results of this work – although 
a mineral resource was announced by the company. 
 
1966-67: A joint exploration program was carried out by Chataway Exploration and Bralorne 
Pioneer Mines. Most of the work was carried south of the eastern part of the Property but an IP 
survey extended into Chat Group near Twilight Lake, where a substantial anomaly was detected. 
The work included 25 percussion drill holes, mainly in the area designated as the No.4 Zone, a 
part of the Southeast mineralized trend (see Figure 8). 
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1968: Geological mapping of the entire Chataway Explorations property was carried out (Meyer, 
1969). This work provided a sound geological base for later exploration in the area, and it was 
particularly important to my photo-geological study since it accurately located most of the 
outcrops in the western three-quarters of the Chat Block. 
 
1969: Chisholm Prospection Ltd. carried out geochemical, magnetometer and IP surveys over the 
area surrounding the Buck prospect, close to the margin of the Guichon batholith (Chisholm, 
1969: Prendergast, 1969). 
 
1970: Asarco carried out a systematic program of percussion drilling on a 1500-foot grid that 
included 56 shallow holes. In addition, they drilled 9 follow-up holes to somewhat greater depths 
(Bayley, 1970). Nearly one-half of this drilling was located within the Chat Block. 
 
1971: Much of the information on exploration work carried out on the Chataway Exploration 
property is contained in Sanguinetti (1971.) 
 
1972: Canadian Superior Exploration carried out induced polarization surveys and diamond 
drilling on parts of the Chataway Exploration property (Brace & Murphy, 1972; Murphy, 1972). 
 
1975: Yukonadian Mineral Exploration Ltd. carried out a geochemical survey over the Buck 
prospect-area (McBean, (1975). 
 
1979: An induced polarization survey was completed west of Chataway Lake for Lawrence 
Mining Corp.(Mullan & Hallof, 1979). 
1986: John Lepinski carried out geological mapping and geochemical rock sampling in an area 
bordering the Chat Block south of Gypsum Lake (Gower, 1986). 
 
1991: Aucumo Resources carried out stream-sediment sampling and a minor amount of soil 
geochemical sampling on the CVS Property. This property included the western and central 
portions of the present Chat Group (Troup, 1992a,b). 
 
1992: Hudson Bay Exploration carried out an extensive induced polarization survey of the CVS 
Property. This work is particularly relevant to the present report since it gave blanket coverage to 
the western part of the Chat Block, and it utilized more sophisticated geophysical equipment, to 
areas that had been surveyed previously in piecemeal fashion (Walcott, 1992). 
 
1998: Tarco Oil & Gas put down two diamond drill holes along the south boundary of the 
present Chat Group close to Gypsum Mountain (Lindinger, 1998). 
 
Skuhun Block 
1968: Northwest Syndicate carried out an induced polarization survey within an area along the 
Skuhun Creek valley that included the present Skuhun Group (Chaplin, 1968). 
 
1969: Tyner Lake Mines Ltd. carried out magnetometer and induced polarization surveys over a 
block of claims along the eastern margin of the (Cannon, 1969). Canex Placer (Ruck, 1981) 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

October 29, 2012 
Page 16 

 
  

tested an induced polarization anomaly located a short distance east of the Skuhun Group. I have 
been unable to locate detailed information on this work. 
 
1980: Pearl Resources Ltd. drilled eight shallow percussion holes within the area of the present 
Skuhun Group. (DeLeen, 1980). 
 
1981: Pearl Resources Ltd. drilled eight percussion holes within and east of the present Shuhun 
Group (Ruck, 1981). 
 
1982: SMD Mining drilled 7 diamond drill holes on the property to test portions of the Skuhun 
fault within the Skuhun Group (Chan, 1982). 
 
Tap Block 
 
1960: Spokane Syndicate carried out a magnetometer survey southeast of the road junction 
(Millar, 1960). 
 
1961: Tormont Mines Ltd. carried out magnetometer and IP surveys within the same general 
area, but it was not possible to define the location on the information provided. Faessler & 
Gregotski,1961). 
 
1962: General Resources Ltd completed three IP lines south of the road junction. (Faessler & 
Gregotski, 1962). 
1965-1969: Carolin Mines Ltd. carried out geochemical soil sampling and geophysical surveying 
(EM, magnetometer and IP) followed by 3500 feet of diamond drilling in five holes close to 
Tyler Creek east of the road junction. No records relating to this work have been located. 
 
1970: Lake Beaverhouse Mines Ltd. surveyed seven miles of IP southeast of the road junction 
(Bell &Hallof. 1970). The location is uncertain. 
 
1972: Exel Explorations Ltd. carried out geochemical soil sampling over a large area southwest 
of the road junction (Hindson, 1972). 
 
1972-73: G.S. Eldridge completed soil geochemical, magnetometer and EM surveys (Hings, 
1972; Hings, 1973). The location is imprecise. 
 
1972-74: Sonic Ray Resources Ltd. carried out an IP survey and diamond drilling, mainly along 
Tyner Creek southeast of the road junction (Cochrane, 1974). This work was a continuation of 
the exploration carried out by Carolin Mines Ltd. in 1965-69. 
 
1983: Artina Resources completed two diamond drill holes southeast of the road junction. A map 
showing the locations of an IP anomaly and of a number of previously undocumented diamond 
drill holes from programs carried out by Carolin Mines and Sonic Ray Resources (1965-74) was 
included. (Weymark, 1983). 
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Mamit Block 
 
1959: Northwest Exploration Ltd, (Kennecott) carried out geological mapping, along with local 
geophysical and geochemical surveying, over a large area that included the northern portion of 
the Chat Block (Ney, 1959). 
 
1970: Exel Explorations Ltd., completed a ground magnetometer survey east of Mamit Lake 
(Tomlinson, 1970). 
 
1972: Teck Corp. completed a geochemical and geological surveys west of Mamit Lake 
(Hindson & Carr, 1972; Ulrich and Carr, 1972). 
 
1978: Bethlehem Copper Corp. undertook regional geological mapping along the north-eastern 
margin of the Guichon Creek batholith. The survey area included the northern portion of the 
Mamit and Chat Blocks (Nethery, 1978). 
 
1980-82: Cominco Ltd. carried out magnetic and induced polarization surveys covering Mamit 
Lake and a large area to the west. The surveying included the western portion of the Chat Group 
(Scott, 1980; Stewart, 1981). 
 
1995: Godwin (1995) carried out detailed magnetometer surveying close to the southeast corner 
of Mamit Lake to improve the definition of a magnetic anomaly outlined in an earlier survey. He 
noted that two very shallow percussion drill holes had been drilled in this vicinity in 1980, but 
that there was no published record of the work. 
 
Geological Setting 
 
Regional Geology 
 
In terms of base-metal mining, the geological setting in the region between Kamloops and the 
U.S. border is defined by the outline of Nicola Volcanic Belt (Figure 2). This belt, along with its 
sedimentary counterpart to the east, is the southern portion of the Quesnellia Terrane, one of the 
slices of exotic rocks that were accreted to the North American continent during the Mesozoic. 
The volcanic rocks of the Nicola group apparently contain above average amounts of copper -- 
and I do not believe that it is coincidental that most of the major copper deposits of British 
Columbia are found in this terrane and in equivalent exotic terranes to the north. The Highland 
Valley Property is located within and adjacent to the Guichon Creek batholith which was 
emplaced in rocks of the Nicola volcanic belt. The geology of the area surrounding the eastern 
part the batholith is shown in Figure 3. 
 
The Nicola volcanic rocks have been dated as Late Triassic in age. In very late Triassic and early 
Jurassic time a large volume of intrusive rock was emplaced in the volcanic pile. The intrusive 
rocks fall into two groups, based on their chemical compositions, each containing a distinctive 
type of porphyry copper mineralization. 
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The largest intrusions, typified by the Guichon Creek batholith, are composed of quartz-rich 
granitic rocks of the “calc-alkalic” type. The copper deposits associated with this type of 
intrusion often contain molybdenum, but they are deficient in gold. Molybdenum commonly is 
an important by-product and may be a co-product, as at Brenda and Highmont. 
 
Intrusive rock bodies of the alkalic type are much smaller on average than the calc-alkalic ones. 
They are deficient in quartz and, based on my recent work in the region, they include large 
volumes of previously unidentified intrusive breccia. [I have introduced the term Alkalic 
Intrusive Complex to include a variety of alkaline intrusive rocks and breccias (Bergey, 2007a)]. 
Copper deposits associated with these rocks often contain significant amounts of gold. 
Depending on comparative metal prices, gold may be the more important product in some of the 
deposits. Important mines of this type within the Nicola volcanic belt and its equivalents to the 
north include Afton, Ajax, Copper Mountain, and Mount Polley. 
 
The alkalic intrusions are generally believed to be coeval with the Nicola volcanic rocks and thus 
older than the Guichon Creek batholith. However, my work in the region over the past four years 
strongly indicates that the rocks of the alkalic complex, although similar in average composition 
to the Nicola volcanic rocks, were intruded following the deformation of the latter -- and after 
the intrusion of the late Triassic to early Jurassic calc-alkalic rocks, including the Guichon Creek 
batholith. The proposed revision is of considerable importance within the Mamit Block, where a 
number of bodies of rock of quartz-poor alkalic intrusive rock are found along the margin of the 
Guichon Creek batholith and appear to be intrusive into the quartz-rich calc-alkalic rocks of the 
batholith. 
 
Several volcanic and sedimentary rock units overlie the Nicola group and the associated calc-
alkaline and alkaline intrusive rocks. A northwest–trending belt of moderately folded volcanic 
rocks of the Spences Bridge group of Early Cretaceous age rests unconformably on the south-
western margin of the Guichon Creek batholith and on the adjacent volcanic rocks of the Nicola 
Group. Volcanic rocks correlated with the Princeton group of Eocene age are present south of the 
batholith. Sedimentary rocks of probable early Tertiary age are preserved in the central portion 
of the Mamit Lake graben. The volcanic-dominated Kamloops group of Eocene age overlies the 
northern portion of the Guichon creek batholith and a small remnant is found near Gypsum Lake 
in the Chat Block. An upper Tertiary clastic sedimentary unit was mapped on the higher parts of 
the plateau within the Chat Group, and also in fault blocks within the Mamit Lake graben. 
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Geology of the Guichon Creek Batholith 
 
The Property is located within and adjacent to the south-eastern portion of the Guichon Creek 
batholith (Figure 3). This very large igneous intrusion is an elliptical body approximately 60 
kilometres north-south by 30 kilometres east-west. It was emplaced into rocks of the Nicola 
Volcanic Belt in several stages, with the oldest intrusive phase located around the periphery and 
the youngest at the centre of the mass. The following account is based mainly on McMillan 
(1978) and Casselman et al. (1995). 
 
More than half a century of detailed geological study has resulted in a generally accepted 
classification of the various phases and phase-varieties of intrusive rocks. Except for the Border 
Phase, which includes quartz diorite and diorite, most of the rocks in the batholith are mapped as 
granodiorite, along with lesser amounts of quartz monzonite. [My recent work suggests that at 
least some of the mafic to intermediate intrusive rocks previously mapped as Border Phase may 
belong to a younger alkalic intrusive complex, which is interpreted to be widely distributed 
within the region.] Although important variations in chemical composition are apparent in the 
laboratory, textural differences play the most significant role in distinguishing phases and 
varieties in the field. In general, the rocks tend to be porphyritic to some extent; the larger 
phenocrysts are hornblende, biotite and magnetite. Dike rocks related to the younger phases of 
the batholith are common and these may extend for considerable distances into the older 
adjoining phases. 
 
The Border Phase is depicted on government geological maps as a nearly continuous girdle 
around the periphery of the batholith. It is darker in colour than the later intrusive phases and 
includes a considerable amount of quartz diorite as well as granodiorite. Rocks that are more 
mafic in composition, including diorite and gabbro, are present locally along the margin. These 
rocks are reflected in geophysical surveys as a zone of high magnetic intensity. They are 
considered by some geologists to be “hybrid” rocks that have consumed quantities of the 
adjacent Nicola volcanic rock. My mapping in the eastern part of the Property suggests that most 
of the quartz deficient rocks in this area are part of a younger alkaline intrusive suite. Because of 
uncertainties regarding the identification of the various rock types that purportedly make up the 
Border Phase, it is not distinguished from the Guichon variety on the property geological maps 
(Figures 4a, 4b and 4c). 
 
The Highland Valley Phase underlies more than half of the exposed area of the Guichon Creek 
batholith. This phase includes the Guichon variety and the younger Chataway variety as well as 
various intermediate and more localized varieties. The Guichon variety (along with the Border 
Phase) underlies the eastern portion of the batholith, including the eastern part of the Chat Block 
and the western part of the Tap Block. The Chataway variety is present in the central and western 
parts of the Chat Block. 
 
The Bethlehem Phase of the intrusive sequence is believed to have been coincident with the 
earliest period of porphyry copper mineralization in the Highland Valley district (Casselman et 
al., 1995). The outcrop area is confined mainly to a narrow strip east of the Bethsaida Phase. 
However, both field and aeromagnetic evidence suggest that rocks of the Bethlehem phase may 
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be present at depth beneath a large area that extends to the east across the Chat Group and along 
the Southeast Belt as defined below. 
 
The Bethsaida Phase comprised the final major intrusion that formed part of the central core of 
the Guichon Creek Batholith. The very large copper and copper-molybdeum deposits of the 
Highland Valley mining district are enclosed within this core and in the adjacent rocks. The 
Bethsaida Phase terminates a short distance to the north of the major deposits that it encloses. 
The Skuhun Group is located astride the southern border of the Bethsaida Phase. 
 
The geochemistry of the rocks in the batholith tends to vary systematically with relative age. For 
example, silica is lowest in the Border Phase at about 55%, increasing to more than 70% in rocks 
of the Bethsaida Phase. The reverse is true for copper which decreases dramatically from nearly 
100 parts per million in the border phase to less than 10 ppm in some of the Bethsaida Phase 
rocks (Casselman et al., 1995). This has important implications in the interpretation of 
geochemical surveys. 
 
The magnetite content of the batholithic rocks varies considerably, even on a local scale. 
However, there is a systematic variation in the average magnetite content of the rocks from 
highest at the margin to much lower in the core rocks. Airborne magnetometer surveys tend to 
smooth out the local variations and show a consistent decline in intensity toward the centre of the 
intrusion, with steeper gradients at some of the phase boundaries. Figure 5, taken from a 
government regional airborne magnetometer survey, illustrates the magnetic pattern in the area 
covered by the geological map in Figure 3. 
 
Regional Structure 
 
The Guichon Creek batholith is bisected by a major north-south fault designated as the Lornex 
fault. Apparent horizontal movement along this fault is indicated to be 5 to 6 kilometres in a 
dextral (east-side-south) sense. This movement has effectively separated the Lornex and Valley 
orebodies. There has been a significant amount of vertical movement along the fault as well, as 
attested by the down-dropping of volcanic and sedimentary rocks of the Eocene Kamloops 
Group along the eastern margin of the Valley ore body. McMillan (1976a) argued that the Valley 
ore body formed at a deeper level under higher temperature conditions than the Lornex portion 
of the deposit. 
 
Two other regional faults have been documented in the literature within the central portion of the 
batholith prior to the present study. The Highland Valley fault; and the interpreted Dupuis Creek 
fault which joins it at of the widest part of the Highland valley, represent a major east-west 
structural zone close to the centre of the Highland Valley mining district. The JA copper deposit 
is elongated parallel to this zone beneath a thick cover of surficial material in the Highland 
Valley. The Skuhun fault lies 17 kilometres south of the Highland Valley fault. Like the latter, 
the Skuhun fault trends east-west and is masked in part by a thick cover of overburden within a 
broad, steep-sided valley. The Skuhun Group of claims follows this valley for a length of nearly 
three kilometres. 
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The Guichon Creek valley is located along the eastern margin of the batholith. The conspicuous 
change in the geology along this linear feature strongly suggests that it follows a major structural 
zone. This impression is supported by the aeromagnetic data north of Mamit Lake (Figure 5). To 
the south, the pattern may have been distorted by the introduction of the Alkalic Intrusive 
Complex. 
 
My recent photo-geological interpretation outlined a large number of faults within the portion of 
the Guichon Creek batholith that includes the Property, most of which were not defined 
previously. Particularly prominent are swarms of regional faults that trend north-south to north-
northwest that have been traced for 25 kilometres within the batholith (Figure 3). An astonishing 
number of significant copper occurrences, including all of the major deposits, appear to be 
associated with regional faults of this orientation. They include the Lornex fault, noted above, 
which locally followed the older HVC fault. The Highmont orebody is located astride the 
Highmont fault, which continues to the north where it apparently is associated with the JA, 
Bethlehem, Krain and South Seas deposits in turn. The Roscoe Lake fault is occupied by two 
copper prospects south of the lake and extends north to the vicinity of the JA deposit. The former 
Alwin mine is located adjacent to a north-south fault located west of the Highland Valley copper 
deposits. The No.4 Zone and the Wiz “mine” south of the Chat Block are associated with south-
southwest faults (Figure 8). Farther to the southeast, Dot Resources Ltd. has recently published a 
copper resource estimate on several zones that are reported to follow “north to northwest 
regional faults” (Robinson, 2009). The former Craigmont mine is located in volcanic and 
sedimentary rocks of the Nicola Group adjacent to the contact of the Guichon Creek batholith. 
Regional faults are interpreted to the north of the mine, but the immediate vicinity is obscured by 
younger cover. 
 
Property Geology 
 
The following account is not limited to the Property. It includes descriptions of geological 
features in the surrounding area that are relevant to an understanding of the property geology. 
Since the four claim blocks that comprise the Property occupy somewhat different geological 
settings, the bedrock geology and the faulting of each is treated separately in this account. The 
locations of the property maps (4a,b,c) are shown on Figure 1. 
 
Skuhun Block 
 
The geology of this small block is illustrated on Figure 4a. Portions of the southern margins of 
the Bethsaida and Bethlehem Phases, the younger units that comprise the core of the composite 
intrusion, underlie the Skuhun Block. Rock outcrops are very scarce on this claim group which 
overlaps the widest section of the valley of Skuhun Creek. The north slope of the valley is 
occupied by thick glacial deposits of the type referred to as “icecontact features” that were 
formed as the glaciers melted and retreated. The land forms include eskers, kames and kame 
terraces. This unit is indicated to be more than 100 metres in thickness in a drill hole put down 
west of the Skuhun Group. The deepest part of the valley is floored by rather sparse alluvium, 
and by landslide deposits derived from collapse of the unstable sand and gravel of adjacent kame 
terraces. A drill hole in this material within the Property failed to reach bedrock at 50 metres.  
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The southern contact of the Bethsaida Phase is poorly defined by geological mapping within the 
Skuhun Block due to the lack of outcrops, particularly in the broad valley. This was remedied to 
some extent by the results the ground magnetic survey (Cannon, 1969) since the magnetite 
content of the rocks of the Bethlehem phase is distinctly higher on average than that of the 
Bethsaida phase. It appears that the south contact extends farther south and east than shown on 
McMillan (1978). Rocks of the Bethlehem Phase are exposed in outcrops and in drill holes 
across the central portion of the claims. The Chataway variety of the Highland Valley Phase 
crops out in the south-eastern corner of the claim group. 
 
The Skuhun Creek fault follows the deep valley of Skuhun Creek in the north-central part of the 
Block. The fault was conjectured many years ago on the basis of a strong lineament that extends 
across the entire southern portion of the Guichon Creek batholith. Its age and economic 
significance are undetermined. However, it parallels the Highland Valley fault, another major 
structural feature and one that is associated (in space) with the major copper deposits of the 
Highland Valley -- the JA deposit in particular. 
 
Air-photo interpretation has identified a pair of regional faults that trend south-southeast from 
the Lornex /Valley deposit(s) and the JA, Highmont and Bethlehem deposits. I have termed these 
the HVC fault and Highmont fault. The Roscoe Lake fault, situated to the east, also extends into 
the vicinity of the JA deposit. These three regional faults appear to approach one another a short 
distance north of the Skuhun Block, but their definition in this area is obscured by deep 
overburden. The offset of these faults by the Skuhun Creek fault is uncertain, but the indicated 
offset of the Lornex fault (i.e., south side west) would correlate them with faults shown in the 
southern part of the Block (Figures 3and 5a). 
 
Regarding the possible economic importance of at least some of the northtrending faults, 
McMillan (1976b) stated, “By inference they [north- and northwest-trending faults] are assumed 
to have existed prior to mineralization and to have played a role in initiating the many fractures 
which were subsequently mineralized to form the [JA] deposit.” 
 
Chat Block 
 
Rocks of the Chataway variety of the Highland Valley Phase of the Guichon Creek batholith 
underlie the western two-thirds of the Chat Block. Various subdivisions of the Highland Valley 
Phase in the eastern part of the Block have been proposed. Essentially, they constitute 
intermediate sub-varieties between the Guichon variety and the adjacent phases and are lumped 
as Guichon variety on the accompanying geological maps of the Property (Figures 5b and 5c). I 
was unable to distinguish any features of the intrusive rocks on the air photos that would serve to 
identify individual units. Because of uncertainties regarding the identification of the various rock 
types that purportedly make up the Border Phase, it is not distinguished from the Guichon variety 
on the property geological maps. 
 
Volcanic rocks of the Late Triassic Nicola group are indicated on government geological maps to 
be present in the eastern part of the Chat Block. My field mapping suggests that the area shown 
as volcanics is underlain by mafic to intermediate intrusive rocks. These intrusions are described 
later in the report since most of their outcrop area lies within and adjacent to the Mamit Block. 
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Gently dipping intermediate to mafic volcanic rocks of the Kamloops group of Eocene age crop 
out east of Gypsum Lake. These are shown on all of the published maps. However, the outline of 
the unit shown on Figure 4a was interpreted from air photographs. 
 
A late Tertiary sedimentary unit that surrounds Chataway Lake was first identified on air photos 
and later substantiated by field mapping. The unit consists of a thin basal conglomerate 
composed of crudely sorted, rounded 
 
boulders of granodiorite overlain by quartz-rich sandstone and grit. The rock is weakly 
indurated; in surface exposures -- the boulders in the conglomerate lack cementing material and 
the sandstone is rather friable. This unit apparently was not identified in percussion or diamond 
drilling, although Dot Resources Ltd. reported that several of the drill holes on their property 
southeast of the Chat Block encountered granitic boulders at the base of the overburden. All of 
the sandstone “outcrops” of this unit that I examined were exposed by digging through till with a 
mattock. Intrusive bedrock that I noted at several localities immediately underlying the 
“conglomerate” was highly fractured and weathered. 
 
The late Tertiary sediments in the Chataway Lake area are confined to a number of rather small 
remnants of what was once a much more extensive sedimentary deposit. On present evidence, 
the late Tertiary sedimentary unit is confined to the upland surrounding Chataway Lake at an 
elevation of about 1500 metres and in fault blocks in the Mamit Lake graben. The lithology and 
the nearly horizontal dip of the sediment appear to be the same in the two areas but they cannot 
be correlated with certainty. A more complete description of the sedimentary unit and the related 
faulting in the graben is covered in the section on the Mamit Block. 
 
The particular relevance of the late Tertiary deposits near Chataway Lake to mineral exploration 
is that geochemical soil sampling is not meaningful in areas largely covered by these sediments, 
even though the unit may be very thin. In addition, their distribution confirms that the intrusive 
rocks on the plateau surrounding Chataway Lake were not exposed to erosion during a long time 
period. The significance is expanded upon later in the present report. 
 
The faults shown within the Chat Block were interpreted from photogeology in the absence of 
any dependable information on fault distribution in the literature. The dominant trend of the 
regional faults is north to northnorthwest. (These will be referred to as “the north-south regional 
faults” for brevity.) They include the named faults that appear to be associated with the major ore 
deposits, but not the faults within the Mamit Lake graben. Members of the north-south fault 
system seldom are linear in plan for long distances, except for the Lornex fault which is 
exceptionally straight. 
 
The age relationships of the various faults are unclear, in part because some of the faults may 
have a long and complex history. In general, the northsouth regional faults are older than the late 
Tertiary(?) sediments and are offset by all of the other interpreted faults. However, both the 
Lornex fault and another major north-trending fault located in the eastern part of the Chat Block, 
the “Western Graben-fault” (WG fault), clearly offset Tertiary rocks. (The latter appears to 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

October 29, 2012 
Page 29 

 
  

define the western boundary of the “Mamit Lake” graben.) In both cases I believe that the latest 
movement represented the reactivation of precursor north-south regional faulting. 
 
Mamit Block 
 
The Mamit Block (Figures 5b and 5c) is a narrow claim group that follows along and east of the 
valley of Guichon Creek -- and the eastern margin of the Guichon Creek batholith -- for a north-
south distance of 18 kilometres. The valley itself is almost entirely occupied by Tertiary clastic 
sedimentary rocks and by late-glacial sand and gravel deposits. Very little exploration work has 
been carried within a strip up to 2 kilometres in width, and the geology of the basement rocks 
cannot be deduced by photo-geology along this belt. 
 
A major structural zone is inferred to underlie the valley on the basis of striking geological 
dissimilarities east and west of the valley. The aeromagnetic pattern north of Mamit Lake also is 
suggestive of a major discontinuity. The only surface manifestation of an early regional structure 
along the valley is the Mamit Lake graben, a Tertiary structural feature that comprises a number 
of predominantly north-south–trending normal faults whose dislocation appears to be relatively 
modest. 
 
West of the Guichon Creek valley, rocks of the Guichon Creek batholith are exposed only in the 
northern portion of the Mamit Block. These include granodiorite and quartz diorite of the 
Highland Valley and Border phases. In the northernmost part of the Mamit Block, west of 
Guichon Creek, rocks of the Gump Lake Phase are exposed. This phase is separated from the 
main mass of the batholith by faulting and, locally, by a “screen” of metamorphosed sedimentary 
and intrusive rocks of undetermined age. 
 
East of the Guichon Creek valley the rocks are interpreted to be mainly intrusive breccia related 
to an alkaline intrusive complex that is occurs throughout the Nicola Volcanic Belt from 
Kamloops Lake to the U.S. border. The breccia appears to have been emplaced within a large 
number of coalescent pipe-shaped bodies. Remnants of volcanic rocks of the Nicola Group 
within the intrusive complex are interpreted to occur east and north of the Mamit Block. [A 
steeply east-dipping breccia pipe intruding limestone of the Nicola Group is illustrated below. 
Andesitic lava crops out a short distance to the east.] 
 
A large body of intermediate to mafic intrusive rocks was noted west of Mamit Lake. It was 
described as “diorite complex” by Ney (1959) and as Nicola volcanic rock by McMillan (1978). 
It includes a pyroxene-rich gabbro that closely resembles certain rocks of the alkalic intrusive 
complex. On this basis, and on the air-photo indications of a cluster of clearly defined circular 
features along the northern margin of the gabbro, I have assigned this unit to the alkalic intrusive 
complex, subject to further study. These rocks appear to intrude the granitic rocks of the Guichon 
Creek batholith. 
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Granitic intrusive rocks related to the Jesse Creek stock crop out in the extreme southern part of 
the Mamit Block east of the Guichon Creek valley. These rocks are similar in composition to 
those of the Guichon Creek batholith. 
 
Two previously unidentified clastic sedimentary units of Tertiary age are confined mainly to the 
Mamit Lake graben. The older unit (Unit LTs) was noted only in the northern part of the Block 
where it flanks the crystalline highlands on both sides of the Guichon Creek valley. Flat-lying, 
weakly lithified sandstone and conglomerate (Unit UTs) that follows the axis of the graben and 
is exposed in fault blocks appears to correlate with similar rocks on the plateau surrounding 
Chataway Lake. They appear to have been down-dropped at least 500 metres into the graben in 
several stages. 
 
The Mamit Lake graben is the most obvious structural feature. It also appears to be the youngest, 
although it is apparent that some of the faults were the results of the reactivation of major 
precursors. This appears to be the case for the north-south WG fault and the east-west Skuhun 
and Tyner Creek faults. 
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Tap Block 
 
This block, the most southerly part of the Property, is located only about four kilometres north of 
the Craigmont Mine. The central portion of the Block, nearly four kilometres in width, is almost 
completely masked by younger sedimentary rocks and by transported glacial deposits. The area 
to the west is underlain by the oldest granitic rock units of the batholith – Highland Valley Phase 
and Border Phase. 
 
The Jesse Creek stock is exposed in sparsely distributed exposures east of the Mamit Lake 
graben. Quartz monzonite appears to predominate, on the basis of limited evidence. The 
relationship of the stock to the Guichon Creek batholith has not been established. 
 
A number of north-south faults of the cluster that appears to be associated with the major copper 
deposits of the Highland Valley have been interpreted north of the Block and projected into the 
covered area (Figure 4c). The Tyner Creek fault, a major east-west structure, extends from the 
northwest corner to the southeast corner of the Tap Block. 
 
Unconsolidated Deposits 
 
Transported unconsolidated sedimentary deposits, largely of late-glacial origin, cover several 
very large areas within the Highland Valley Property. Their identification and delineation are of 
particular interest because the presence of deposits of this type precludes the application of 
conventional geochemical techniques. 
 
Ice-contact deposits, mainly eskers, kames and kame terraces, comprise the thickest overburden 
in the map area. These unconsolidated deposits are prone to landsliding on the steep slopes 
bordering Guichon and Skuhun Creeks. The cover of transported material appears to be 
particularly deep along Chataway Creek south of the lake – several drill holes failed to reach 
bedrock at depths of greater than 100 metres. (The overburden in this area probably includes till 
and older sedimentary deposits below the sand and gravel of the ice-contact deposits.) Similar 
material is present in the broad valley within the Skuhun Block. Transported overburden appears 
to be relatively thin, but is nearly continuous in the central part of the Tap Property. 
 
Glacial till forms a relatively thin blanket that covers the entire area except for the ice-contact 
deposits and the scarce, mainly small, rock outcrops. The distribution of till is not indicated on 
the geological maps since it does not inhibit the application of photo-geological interpretation. 
Till is a relatively effective medium for the application of conventional geochemical prospecting 
methods. 
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Aeromagnetic Survey 
 
The Geological Survey of Canada aeromagnetic survey was of considerable value in the 
preparation of the photo-geological interpretation. [A simplified version is shown on Figure 5 
and on the Frontispiece. 
 
The outline of the Guichon Creek batholith is fairly clearly indicated by the magnetic data. 
However, it fails to distinguish between the border phases of the intrusion and younger alkaline 
intrusive rocks that were generated within the volcanic rocks of the Nicola Group. The strongest 
magnetic anomaly within the Property reflects the highly magnetic gabbro and diorite body in 
the north-western part of the Mamit Block. The magnetic pattern north of Mamit Lake supports 
the commonly held assumption of a major fault zone along Guichon Creek Valley. The pattern is 
disrupted south of the lake, possibly due to the introduction of rocks of the Alkalic Intrusive 
Complex. 
 
A number of magnetic features of possible economic interest cannot be explained satisfactorily 
by the known geology. Additional field mapping to address this subject is warranted. 
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DEPOSIT TYPES 
 
The mines of the Highland Valley copper district, which lie between 8 and 14 kilometres 
northeast of the Chat Group, are obvious target models. These are the largest producers of copper 
in Canada, and they generate a substantial tonnage of molybdenum as well. The Highland Valley 
mines are classified as “porphyry copper- and copper-molybdenum deposits of the calc-alkaline 
type.” They are based on very large orebodies (150 millionto more than one billion-tonnes) that 
are associated with faulting but are not obviously aligned along faults except for the JA deposit, 
which is elongated parallel to the Highland Valley fault zones. Almost all of the mineralization 
occurs along fractures -- and fracture density is the most important factor influencing ore grade 
(Casselman et al. (1995). North-south and east-west fracturing appears to be dominant (Highland 
Valley Copper mine staff, pers. comm.) The copper minerals are bornite and chalcopyrite. Pyrite 
is present but is not abundant within the ore. Average ore grade depends to some extent on 
copper price but generally falls within the range of 0.40 to 0.45%. The total sulphide content of 
an orebody may be less than 2%. The mineralized zones are not enriched in magnetite. 
Consequently, geophysical techniques other than induced polarization (IP) are ineffective, and 
even the IP response over a major deposit may be fairly weak. 
 
The classic types of porphyry-copper-related hydrothermal alteration – potassic, phyllic, argillic, 
propylitic -- are present in the Highland Valley ores. However, the proportions tend to vary 
considerably between deposits. Potassic alteration is most pronounced in the core of the Valley 
deposit. This probably is a basis for the suggestion by McMillan (1976a) that the ore at Valley 
formed at a greater depth than that at Lornex. 
 
The major copper deposits of the Highland Valley area are found mainly within the Bethsaida 
and Bethlehem phases of the Guichon Creek batholith. However, ore-grade mineralization 
extends into the adjacent, somewhat older, intrusive rocks, particularly in association with dikes 
and intrusive breccia. This is not to say that the remainder of the batholith lacks widespread 
indications of copper mineralization. Vein-type deposits have been explored and mined on a very 
small scale for more than a century within an area southeast the property. Of particular relevance 
is the north to northwest-trending structural zone that include the former Aberdeen, Vimy and 
Wiz ”mines” that I have termed the Southeast Belt. There is some evidence of porphyry-copper 
style of mineralization associated with some of the fault-related vein-zones. This mineralized 
trend, which extends into the south-central part of the Property, is discussed in the later sections 
of this report. 
 
The orebody at the Craigmont Mine is classified as “skarn type. It was deposited in volcanic and 
sedimentary rocks, limestone in particular, adjacent to intrusive rocks of the Border Phase at the 
southern margin of the batholith. The key element in the precipitation of copper minerals in this 
case was the “reactive” nature of the rock rather than the fracture density. The orebody contained 
some very high-grade mineralization where limestone was replaced by chalcopyrite – a 
characteristic of skarn-type copper deposits. 
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Mineralization 
 
The zones of known mineralization on the Property are shown on the accompanying property 
geological maps (Figures 4a,b,c). 
 
The Sku showing in the Skuhun claim block is located near the south margin of the younger 
intrusive phases (Bethsaida and Bethlehem) that comprise the core of the Guichon Creek 
batholith.  The Skuhun Creek fault lies a short distance north of the showing under a thick cover 
of glacial and post-glacial sediments.  The mineralization consists of bornite . magnetite and 
hematite within quartz veinlets in fractures that are widely distributed in the area (data from 
MINFILE).  Weak to moderate alteration (sericitization, kaolinization, propylitization) 
accompanies the mineralization.  A diamond drill hole along the southern edge of the Shuhun 
Creek valley intersected a zone containing 0.184% copper across 10 metres. 
 
A showing in Roscoe Creek, situated a short distance from Chataway Lake in the north-western 
part of the Chat claim block, lies close to one of the regional faults that extend south from the 
Highland Valley area.  Mineralization consists mainly of malachite and iron oxides in highly 
fractured rock.  Two adits, now collapsed, were driven into a nearby slope.  No assays are 
available from this showing. 
 
The Chataway Zone is located south of Chataway Lake.  Photo-geological interpretation 
suggests that the granitic rocks in the immediate area are overlain by a thin layer of younger 
sedimentary rock.  A news release in the George Cross News Letter of February 8, 1967 
(reported in Troup, 1992b) stated that copper mineralization was intersected in four diamond 
drill holes and gave an inferred resource of 544,320 tonnes grading 1.58% copper.  I have been 
unable to obtain any reliable information on the nature of the mineralization or to verify the 
assay results.  Accordingly, I have classified the resource as hypothetical.  A more detailed 
account of the exploration in this area is given later in the present report. 
 
The Wiz 3 showing is located along the north-eastern extension of the “Southeast Belt”, a zone 
that includes a number of prospects related to north-to northwest-trending faults.  Trenching and 
a nearby drill hole are reported to have encountered disseminated bornite, but no assays are 
available (MINFILE). 
 
The TDM showing lies in the north-eastern part of the Chat block.  MINFILE reports that fine 
disseminated native copper occurs in one of the varieties of the Highland Valley Phase of the 
batholith. 
 
The Buck showing is located in the easternmost portion of the Chat block, close to the eastern 
margin of the Guichon Creek batholith.  The showing occurs in east-trending shear zones in 
gabbro of the Border Phase of the intrusion.  The mineralization consists of chalcopyrite, 
malachite and pyrite (MINFILE).  Early exploration of the showing included extensive “Cat” 
trenching and an adit.  Geophysical and geochemical surveys have been carried out.  The results 
are discussed below. 
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Exploration 
 
Field exploration on behalf of Gary Brown, the vendor, was limited to mapping carried out 
intermittently by the writer between June 2006 and May 2009 in conjunction with an ongoing 
photo-geological study. In addition, a limited amount of prospecting and stream-sediment 
sampling was undertaken by G. Lovang. 
 
The voluminous published information on exploration work carried out in the area during the 
past 50 years was scrutinized and compiled. The raw data included more than 40 assessment 
reports, various published technical maps and reports, and a number of mining company 
Property Reports posted on the Geological Survey website. The descriptions of most of the 
exploration described in this section were based on my re-appraisal of the previous work in the 
light of the geological insights provided by the photogeological interpretation and by my field 
work in the region. 
 
PHOTO-GEOLOGICAL INTERPRETATION 
 
Interpretation of air photos is an extremely valuable --and vastly underused -- exploration tool in 
appropriate circumstances. (This exercise should not be confused with plotting of linear features 
as has been done on some of the published geological maps.) In the present case, it was not 
possible to distinguish clearly between varieties of the Guichon Creek batholith due to their 
overall homogeneity. However, the published geological maps are generally accurate in this 
regard, and they provide sufficient detail for the purposes of this report. Other geological units 
could be identified more readily. For example, the rocks of the Alkalic Intrusive Complex, which 
previously had been identified as volcanic rock of the Nicola Group, has a characteristic massive 
appearance, and the circular features that reflect breccia pipes within the Complex are clearly 
visible. The rocks of the Nicola Group are more recessive than rocks of the Complex, and they 
almost always can be distinguished by evidence of stratification that trends within a few degrees 
of north-south. 
 
Perhaps the most useful information obtained from the air photo study was the definition of the 
fault pattern in the, including the identification and projection of faults that appear to be 
associated with the major ore deposits of the Highland Valley district. The study also detected 
and delineated two previously unidentified (or, at least, unreported) sedimentary rock units and it 
defined the distribution of thick late-glacial and post-glacial deposits more clearly. These 
findings were crucial in the re-interpretation of the previous work and in the planning of future 
exploration. 
 
The initial regional interpretation was carried out using black-and-white air photos at a scale of 
1:75,000, followed by a detailed interpretation on colour photos at 1:20,000 scale of the area 
immediately adjacent to the Property. The interpretation was carried out in conjunction with 
ongoing field mapping and was revised several times. The results of the photo-geology were 
layered on the computer base map with the data compiled from the previous exploration work 
and government mapping. The final geological map of the Property and its environs was plotted 
at 1:20,000 and reduced to 1:50,000 for inclusion in this report (Figures 4a,b,c). The photo-
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geological results for the region that surrounds the Guichon Creek batholith are shown in 
simplified form on Figure 3. 
 
GEOPHYSICAL SURVEYS 
 
The early discoveries in the region were mainly of the “vein-type”– i.e., elongated zones 
occupying faults and shears, not true veins. These sometimes contained sufficiently large 
concentrations of sulphide minerals to be conductive bodies that could be detected by electrical 
geophysical techniques. The first major discovery related to the southern portion of the Guichon 
Creek batholith, the skarn-type Craigmont Mine, also contained fairly large amounts of 
sulphides; in addition, it had a significant magnetite content. Accordingly, the earliest 
geophysical surveyors in the vicinity of the present Property often elected to utilize magnetic and 
electromagnetic methods. These proved to be ineffective in detecting the more recently 
discovered porphyry copper deposits of the Highland Valley, which were non-magnetic and 
contained only minor amounts of conductive sulphides. However, magnetic surveys were useful 
in assisting geological interpretation within a largely overburden-covered region. 
 
Induced Polarization 
 
Fortuitously, the discovery period of the mines in the Highland Valley -- Bethlehem in the mid 
1950’s, followed by Highmont, Lornex and Valley during the next decade -- was coincident with 
the early development of induced polarization (IP). These deposits are extremely low grade and 
their total sulphide content is not sufficient to impart a detectable conductivity to the enclosing 
rocks. Since the IP method does not rely on gross conductivity, and can detect mineralized 
bodies that contain relatively small percentages of sulphide minerals, it quickly became the 
geophysical method of choice in the Highland Valley region. 
 
Oxidation of sulphide minerals extends to a considerable depth, possibly as much as 150 metres, 
in the uplands surrounding the Chataway Lake. [The presence of the flat-lying late Tertiary  
sedimentary remnants Figure 5 suggests that this part of the region was an ancient peneplain that 
was not subjected to deep erosion for a sufficiently long time to permit deep oxidation.] Because 
the mineralization in the area contains relatively little pyrite for the production of sulphuric acid, 
the oxidation was not accompanied by leaching and downward movement of the metals to a 
significant extent. Instead the mineralogy of the deposits has been altered – i.e., pyrite (a 
conductive mineral) was oxidized to form poorly conductive iron minerals, and the copper from 
chalcopyrite and bornite were converted into native copper and chalcocite – conductive minerals 
that have much less volume. The significance of these transformations is that the copper content 
was not diminished, but the amount of conductive material in the mineral 
deposits was greatly reduced to a considerable depth. 
 
Contemporary IP equipment is capable of detecting minor amounts of sulphides at depths of 
more than 250 metres. However, deep exploration of the type utilized in the more recent IP 
surveys in the area requires wide electrode spacings, a configuration that is less effective in 
resolving the responses of smaller, higher grade deposits associated with faults, dikes and breccia 
pipes. The following discussion concerns the results of several of the more relevant IP surveys. 
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Chataway Zone. One of the earliest geophysical surveys of record in the vicinity of the Property 
was an electromagnetic (EM) survey carried out by Chataway Exploration in 1964 (Selmser, 
1964). The interpretation indicated a number of north-trending conductors, with a particularly 
dense concentration south of Chataway Lake. An IP survey was conducted in this portion of the 
area. Subsequently, the survey results were tested by nine diamond drill holes. The 
mineralization encountered in this drilling is discussed as the “Chataway Lake Zone” in the 
present report under “Mineralization.” 
 
The contoured IP data were distributed in an apparently meaningless pattern that I believe was 
due to the use of an unsatisfactory electrode configuration for this particular situation. My 
interpretation is that the direction of the mineralization was nearly parallel to the survey lines. An 
alternate interpretation of the data, using only the strongest responses, is shown above. It 
suggests that the drilling was directed nearly parallel to the zone. 
 

 
 
Note:  The original IP interpretation is illustrated by the contours in the background.  The yellow 

colour outlines the interpreted Tertiary sedimentary rocks. The reported mineralization 
was found in diamond drill holes CS-3,4,5,6.  

         
North-western Portion of Chat Block.  An IP survey that covered the north-western portion of the 
Chat Block was carried out in 1993 on behalf of Hudson Bay Exploration (Walcott, 1993).  The 
survey utilized a three-electrode moving array using a potential-electrode spacing (a) of 150 
metres.  At each station measurements were taken with the separation between the current 
electrode (C1) and the nearest potential electrode (P1) of a, 2a, 3a and 4a.  (The layout is 
illustrated graphically on Figure 7).  Walcott (1993) explained that “the purpose of the survey 
was to relocate and better define the many weakly anomalous I.P zones located in the late sixties 
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through the early eighties on various grids by different contractors using a variety of 
instruments.  A large dipole was employed to look for subtle anomalies based on the premise of 
looking for sulphur poor sulphide assemblages with considerable bedrock oxidation and deep 
overburden cover.” 
 
Figure 6 shows contours of chargeability and resistivity in units of millivolts per volt and ohm-
metres respectively.  Chargeability, the basic parameter of the induced polarization geophysical 
method, refers to an electrical effect that may be due in part to grains of sulphides and other 
conductive minerals.  Resistivity is the reciprocal of conductivity (i.e., low resistivity values are 
indicative of conductive material).  Consequently, low values of resistivity are indicative of more 
conductive rock.  The two parameters normally are not plotted on the same map.  However, the 
chargeability and resistivity anomalies are so nearly antipathetic in this case that the combined 
data are reasonably comprehensible.  The highest chargeability values are shown in shades of red 
and the lowest resistivity values are shown in shades of blue.  
 
Figure 6 illustrates the apparent chargeability and resistivity values derived from the third 
separation at each station.  Figure 7 compares the apparent chargeability data for the first (150-
metre) and third (450-metre) separations. [The third separation is focused on a much deeper layer 
of rock than the first separation.]  This figure demonstrates the relative deficiency of chargeable 
material at shallower levels, presumably the result of the almost complete oxidation of sulphide 
minerals close to surface.  As noted above, it does not necessarily imply a concomitant reduction 
in copper values. 
 
It is obvious that the anomalous chargeability zones are elongated parallel to the dominant north-
south trend of the interpreted regional faults in the area. The relationship between the faults and 
possible mineralization is a general one due to the poor resolution of the very wide electrode 
spacing. It is not possible to connect the cause of a chargeability response to a particular fault. 
Nevertheless, the geophysical evidence suggests that the north-trending regional faults in this 
area are favourable for mineralization – as has been demonstrated in the Highland Valley area to 
the northwest and along the Southeast Belt. 
 
The most pronounced resistivity “lows” are located in the valley of Chataway Creek southwest 
of Chataway Lake. Overburden in this valley, as indicated by diamond drilling, locally is more 
than 100 metres in thickness. Chargeability anomalies were not detected in this part of the area, 
possibly due to the greater depth to unoxidized sulphides. The pronounced resistivity “low” 
northwest of the property has no obvious cause since overburden is thin in this area. 
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Southeast Belt.  An induced polarization survey carried out on behalf of Bralorne Pioneer Mines 
in 1966 is of some interest.  The survey covered a large area that lies mainly south of the 
Property but two of the three anomalies of interest fall within the Chat claim group (Figure 8).   
The survey area included three small deposits that produced minor amounts of copper early in 
the last century.  The most southerly, the Aberdeen mine, lies close to the junction of the Skuhun 
fault and the major fault that appears to define the western margin of the Mamit Lake graben 
(i.e., the WG fault).  The information at hand includes only the chargeability data.  I have been 
unable to obtain a copy of the raw data that also showed the resistivity results. 
 
The Twilight Lake anomalous IP area is located in the north-western corner of the survey area, 
entirely within the Property.  Three northwest-trending zones are indicated, more than a 
kilometre in length and open to the north.  Minor amounts of copper were found in narrow 
sericitized shears within the anomaly area.  Reconnaissance percussion drilling in the Twilight 
Lake area (Figure 8) encountered anomalous, but sub-economic, copper values.  The best hole 
averaged 650 parts per million (0.065%) copper over its full length.  The drill holes apparently 
were short and vertical. 
 
The Twilight IP anomaly is partly coincident with a stock of granodiorite of the Bethlehem 
Phase, one of the younger phases of the Guichon Creek batholith that are suggested to be the 
source of the Highland Valley copper mineralization.. Extensive concentrations of boulders of 
quartz porphyry are mentioned in several accounts of the geology in the area north of Twilight 
Lake (e.g., McTaggart, 1966). This rock type is commonly associated with the younger phases of 
the Guichon Creek batholith, and they are regarded as high-level intrusions. 
 
An IP anomaly follows the WG fault for at least a kilometre in the northeast corner of the IP 
survey.  Like the Twilight Lake Zone, it lies within the Property and is open to the north.  
Cominco Ltd. carried out an extensive regional IP survey in 1981 and 1982 in the area 
surrounding Mamit Lake (Scott, 1981; Klein, 1982).  The survey covered part of the Mamit 
Block northeast of the area shown on Figure 8.  An IP anomaly similar in shape and extent to the 
one associated with the Western Graben-fault was outlined.  It lies about 500 metres to the east 
and it appears to follow a parallel fault.  
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Drilling at the south-eastern end of the belt on behalf of Dot Resources and predecessor 
companies has established a 43-901 compliant indicated and inferred resource of 8 million 
tonnes at a copper-equivalent grade of 0.48% (Robinson, 2009). The mineralization is fracture-
related porphyry-copper type similar to that in the Highland Valley mines. The mineralization is 
reported to be related to north-south and northwest faulting. 
 
Skuhun. An IP survey carried out on behalf of Northwest Syndicate in 1968 outlined an 
anomalous zone in the north-eastern corner of the Skuhun claim block (Chaplin, 1968). The 
chargeability indications were reported to be deep and fairly weak. The anomaly is located in an 
area that is covered by thick periglacial deposits. It appears to be of particular interest because it 
lies close to the intersection of the Skuhun fault zone with the interpreted extensions of the HVC 
and Highmont faults. 
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Tap. Shallow IP surveying was carried out by Sonic Ray Resources in 1972. A north-trending 
anomalous zone was outlined. Unfortunately, the IP anomaly trend appears to be parallel to the 
line direction. A check survey used a completely different electrode array (Wenner vs. Gradient) 
and was unable to achieve deep penetration (Cochrane, 1974). This is of particular importance 
since all of the accounts stress that the predominant copper mineral at a shallow depth in this 
area is native copper ; the same circumstances were noted on the Chat Property to the north, 
where deep oxidation of sulphides is well documented. The results of the survey are illustrated 
under “Drilling” later in the present report. 
 
Magnetometer 
 
Most of the earlier geophysical surveys in the region were directed toward the discovery of 
deposits of the Craigmont type. The Craigmont orebody was deposited in volcanic rocks and 
limestone at the margin of the Border 
 
Phase of the Guichon batholith. The alteration of the deposit was of the skarn type in part, and 
was accompanied by magnetite. Porphyry copper deposits of the Highland Valley type may have 
an association of hydrothermal magnetite in potassic alteration zones, but the magnetic property 
commonly is destroyed by the conversion of magnetite to hematite during later overprinting by 
other types of alteration. In general, ground magnetic surveys of limited areal extent are 
unsuitable for use in the exploration for calc-alkaline porphyry copper deposits of the Highland 
Valley type, in contrast to their usefulness with regard to the alkaline porphyry copper-gold 
deposits. 
 
Regional aeromagnetic surveys of the type illustrated in Figure 3 are valuable as tools for 
geological interpretation.  The Geological Survey of Canada airborne magnetometer survey 
carried out in 1967 was extremely useful in the interpretation of the geology of the Guichon 
Creek batholith at the time of its publication -- and its value has not diminished, in the least.  The 
magnetic intensity reflected in the the aeromagnetic data tends to decrease from the margin of 
the intrusion toward the core.  There is a particularly well defined steeper gradient in the general 
decline that follows the zone between the Highland Valley Phase  and the younger phases that 
form the central core of the intrusion.  The major copper deposits of the Highland Valley are 
located along or close to this magnetic feature, and it has been considered to be a favourable area 
for exploration (e.g., Troup, 1992a,b.)  The western portion of the Chat claim group and almost 
the entire Skuhun group, are located within this zone.   
 
The characteristic symmetry of the magnetic pattern –i.e., layers of diminishing magnetic 
intensity inward from the edge of the batholith – is disrupted within a zone that includes the 
southern part of the Chat claim block and extends along the Southeast Belt to the eastern margin. 
This zone of relatively low magnetic intensity that cuts through the higher values that are 
characteristic of the earlier phases of the intrusion can be seen on Figure 5.  The inference, 
supported by the field evidence cited earlier of local Bethlehem Phase outcrops and widespread 
quartz porphyry float, is that younger (less magnetic) rocks are present at shallow depth beneath 
a cover of older phases of the Guichon batholith.   
. 
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GEOCHEMICAL SURVEYS 
 
Geochemical soil sampling was carried out locally on the Property at various times with limited 
success, generally to test known mineralized areas. For example, several lines were sampled in 
the vicinity of the Chataway Zone (Troup, 1992b) noted above. There were no anomalous 
indications in this case. My air-photo interpretation suggests that the area is covered by late 
Tertiary sedimentary rocks that would effectively mask the geochemical response from 
mineralization in the much older rocks of the Guichon Creek batholith. 
 
Tertiary sedimentary rocks and transported late-glacial deposits cover large portions of the valley 
of Guichon Creek on both the Tap and Mamit Blocks (Figures 5b&c).  A less readily recognized 
deposit of shallow sand and gravel covers the west-central portion of the Tap Block.  This large 
area was covered by a geochemical soil survey (Hindson, 1972) with almost completely negative 
results.  My recent field and air-photo study indicated that transported material covers more than 
90% of the survey locale, an area of very favourable geology and known mineralization. 
 
A relatively new geochemical prospecting technique – Mobile Metal Ion (MMI) analysis – is a 
possible means of detecting mineralization covered by surficial material that masks the 
underlying rock. 
 
Stream-sediment sampling was carried out a number of times within the property and its 
surroundings. The analyses are unusually high in copper—in many cases 5 to 10 times higher 
than the average values found in drill holes in the vicinity. There is no apparent correlation 
between the copper content of the stream sediment and upstream mineralized zones. This 
unexplained widespread dispersion of copper made it difficult to justify exploration work to 
follow up any particular anomalous indication. 
 
It occurred to me that some form of concentration of copper may have taken place in the 
sampling procedure, possibly due to the analysis of very fine material that represented only a 
small proportion of the total sample or to seepage adjacent to the drainages. Accordingly, I 
collected eight samples within and close to the western part of the Property, ensuring that the 
source material was deposited in a low- energy environment to avoid “placer” concentration. In 
previous surveys the stream sediments usually were screened to minus 80 mesh (<0.175 mm). In 
the present case we analysed samples of both minus 100 mesh (<0.15mm) and minus 50 plus 100 
mesh (0.15 to 0.3 mm). Analyses using a dilute acid digestion of the samples were used to test 
for seepage anomalies along the drainages. 
 
My suspicion that copper had become concentrated to some degree in the fine material turned 
out to be incorrect. In our analyses the copper values in the coarser fraction were somewhat 
higher than those in the finer material. The “partial digestion” tests tended to rule out the 
possibility that the high values were due to recent deposition of readily soluble copper on the 
surface of the grains (seepage anomalies). 
 
The results of the stream-sediment test work are displayed on Figure 9, which also shows a few 
copper values from two earlier surveys.  The values are conspicuously lower than those from 
some previous sampling efforts but the pattern is identical.  There appears to be a strong 
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correlation between higher copper content and interpreted faults.  The three samples that were 
less strongly anomalous (S-1, S-2 and S-5) were taken from streams that do not appear to follow 
major faults.  There does not appear to be a correlation between copper content and the length of 
the creeks from which the sample was collected.  The two highest values were in samples taken 
from short drainages, indicating that material carried downstream for long distances from the 
source was not involved. 
 

 
 
A program of regional stream-sediment sampling was carried out over the Guichon Creek 
batholith and adjacent areas by the B.C. Dept. of Energy Mines and Resources.  Contoured 
values for copper are shown on Figure 10.  The sample points are fairly widely spaced but the 
data are exceptionally useful because the sampling covered a very large area and because the 
collection and analysis were conducted in a consistent and reliable manner.   
 
It should be pointed out that data points are often rather far apart, forcing somewhat subjective 
contouring.  However, all of the data points fall within their respective fields.  No samples were 
collected in the area surrounding the Highland Valley copper deposits in order to avoid the 
possibility of contamination.   [Note that the contour interval on Figure 10 is logarithmic.] 
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Since the copper values in the stream sediment bear no apparent relationship to the values in the 
surrounding bedrock, it follows that the copper had a more local source. The stream-sediment 
samples in almost all cases were taken from the main drainages in the region – the drainages that 
followed the regional faults. (In a number of cases, soil samples collected close to creeks that 
followed regional faults also tended to be anomalously high.) The most reasonable conclusion is 
that the anomalous copper in the samples reflects mineralization along the regional faults. As a 
corollary to this it is suggested that the copper mineralizing events that formed the Highland 
Valley deposits were active along a zone extending south-southeast from the mining area, 
apparently utilizing the regional faults as a “plumbing system.” The former Craigmont mine is 
located close to the southern terminus of this zone – 30 kilometres south of the Highland Valley. 
 
Mineralization 
 
The zones of known mineralization on the Property are shown on the accompanying property 
geological maps. 
 
The Sku showing in the Skuhun claim block is located near the south margin of the younger 
intrusive phases (Bethsaida and Bethlehem) that comprise the core of the Guichon Creek 
batholith. The Skuhun Creek fault lies a short distance north of the showing under a thick cover 
of glacial and post-glacial sediments. The mineralization consists of bornite . magnetite and 
hematite within quartz veinlets in fractures that are widely distributed in the area (data from 
MINFILE). Weak to moderate alteration (sericitization, kaolinization, propylitization) 
accompanies the mineralization. A diamond drill hole along the southern edge of the Shuhun 
Creek valley intersected a zone containing 0.184% copper across 10 metres. 
 
A showing in Roscoe Creek, situated a short distance from Chataway Lake in the north-western 
part of the Chat claim block, lies close to one of the regional faults that extend south from the 
Highland Valley area. Mineralization consists mainly of malachite and iron oxides in highly 
fractured rock. Two adits, now collapsed, were driven into a nearby slope. No assays are 
available from this showing. 
 
The Chataway Zone is located south of Chataway Lake. Photo-geological interpretation suggests 
that the granitic rocks in the immediate area are overlain by a thin layer of younger sedimentary 
rock. A news release in the George Cross News Letter of February 8, 1967 (reported in Troup, 
1992b) stated that copper mineralization was intersected in four diamond drill holes and gave an 
inferred resource of 544,320 tonnes grading 1.58% copper. I have been unable to obtain any 
reliable information on the nature of the mineralization or to verify the assay results. 
Accordingly, I have classified the resource as hypothetical. A more detailed account of the 
exploration in this area is given later in the present report. 
 
The Wiz 3 showing is located along the north-eastern extension of the “Southeast Belt”, a zone 
that includes a number of prospects related to north-to northwest-trending faults. Trenching and a 
nearby drill hole are reported to have encountered disseminated bornite, but no assays are 
available (MINFILE). 
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The TDM showing lies in the north-eastern part of the Chat block. MINFILE reports that fine 
disseminated native copper occurs in one of the varieties of the Highland Valley Phase of the 
batholith. 
 
The Buck showing is located in the easternmost portion of the Chat block, close to the eastern 
margin of the Guichon Creek batholith. The showing occurs in east-trending shear zones in 
gabbro of the Border Phase of the intrusion. The mineralization consists of chalcopyrite, 
malachite and pyrite (MINFILE). Early exploration of the showing included extensive “Cat” 
trenching and an adit. Geophysical and geochemical surveys have been carried out. The results 
are discussed below. 
 
Drilling 
 
A large number of holes were drilled within and adjacent to the Property. Most of these were 
shallow percussion holes that were laid out in reconnaissance fashion. Very little information is 
available in the public domain on the results of the various drilling programs. The assumption is 
that the results were indifferent, since there is no evidence of sustained drilling anywhere on the 
Property. 
 
By far the largest drilling program of record was carried out by Asarco in 1970 to test almost the 
entire Chataway Exploration property that covered all but the easternmost portion of the present 
Chat claim group (Bayley, 1970). The basic layout was a grid of shallow percussion holes at 
nominal 1500-foot spacing (i.e., one hole per claim). The holes were drilled to a depth of about 
30 metres in most cases. However, only the north-western and the south-central part of the 
Property were tested to this extent. 
 
A nine-hole diamond drilling program by Chataway Exploration to follow up on geophysical 
surveys is discussed below under “Mineralization” and “Geophysical Surveys” as the Chataway 
Zone. Although a mineral resource was calculated by the company, no reliable information is 
available and it should be discounted pending further investigation. 
 
The comprehensive IP survey of the western part of the Chat Block carried out by Hudson Bay 
Exploration in 1993was tested by only three diamond drill holes. Significant mineralization was 
not encountered in any of the holes. Most of the drilling on the Tap Block was done by Carolin 
Mines Ltd. in 1966 to 1969 and by their subsequent partner, Sonic Ray Resources Ltd., during 
1972 and 1973. Unfortunately, most of the work went undocumented in the public domain and 
my information comes mainly from later reports (Cochrane, 1973; Weymark, 1983). 
 
The initial work by Carolin Mines consisted of five diamond drill holes, mainly in the vicinity of 
the old showings in the small canyon of Tyner Creek [the only place in the area where bedrock is 
exposed] that had been tested previously by two adits and several trenches. No description of the 
mineralization was located, except for the statement by Cochrane (1974) that, “All holes were 
reported to intersect native copper mineralization and erratic sections containing copper 
sulphides.” The 1972 work by Sonic Ray Resources consisted of four northeast-trending IP lines, 
followed up by nine diamond drill holes. The best results reportedly were obtained in holes 72-7 
(12 metres of 0.85 % Cu) and 72-8 (6 metres of 0.84% Cu). The true widths of the intersections 
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are unknown since no drill logs or other data are available. [These holes tested a portion of the IP 
survey described earlier in the present report, and they were not drilled close to the mineralized 
zone along Tyner Creek.] 
 

 
 
Sampling Method and Analysis 
 
No sampling of mineralization was carried out by the Issuer. 
 
Sample Security, Preparation, and Analyses 
 
No sampling of mineralization was carried out by the Issuer. 
 
Data Verification 
 
Except for the inferred resource of copper mineralization in the Chataway Zone, which I refer to 
as hypothetical for lack of reliable information, the numerical data contained in the present report 
are entirely geological, geophysical and geochemical. 
 
The geological data were derived from a variety of governmental and private sources, 
supplemented and amended by my field mapping and photogeological interpretation. Due to the 
large degree of subjectivity in geological exploration work, the verification is based only on my 
experience in the region and on my personal acquaintance with most of the geologists involved. 
 
I am familiar with most of the geophysical survey companies involved in the geophysical 
exploration that is quoted in this report. No techniques were utilized that could be described as 
unconventional. 
 
I carried out a field and laboratory investigation of the very high copper content in many stream-
sediment samples in the area and verified their credibility to my satisfaction. 
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Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserve Estimates 
 
Mineral resource or mineral reserve estimates have not been made for the Property, except for 
the modest inferred resource quoted in a news release by Chataway Exploration Co. on the 
Chataway Zone that I have discounted for lack of reliable data. 
 
INTERPRETATION & CONCLUSIONS 

 
The Highland Valley Property of MOAG Copper Gold 
Resources Inc. is located within and adjacent to the Guichon 
Creek batholith, a very large granitic intrusion that is host to the 
major ore deposits of the Highland Valley copper district which 
includes the largest base metal mine in Canada.  The Property 
lies about seven kilometres southeast of the Highmont mine and 
four kilometres north of the former Craigmont mine, a high-
grade producer at the margin of the batholith.  It has an area of 
9400 hectares (36 square miles). The large “spread” of the 
Property between the two important mining areas suggested that 
a regional approach was more suitable in the present stage of 
exploration than the more conventional piecemeal exploration of 
limited areas adjacent to individual small properties. This 
entailed the detailed interpretation of air photographs carried out 
in conjunction with comprehensive examination and re-
interpretation of all available maps and technical reports in the 
region.  The photo-geology proved to be particularly effective in 

identifying regional faults and in defining surficial geological features that had a major impact on 
the use and interpretation of geochemical & geophysical surveys 
 
Mineralization in the Highland Valley district is believed to be related to the intrusion of the 
youngest phases that form the central core of the Guichon Creek batholith.  The major deposits 
are located in the eastern part of the core and in the adjacent older rocks.  The western portions 
of the Property, including the isolated Skuhun Block, are located within this favourable marginal 
zone.   
 
The Geological Survey of Canada aeromagnetic map (supported by field geological 
observations) suggests that the younger intrusive phases of the batholith are present at relatively 
shallow depth within a southeast-trending zone that includes the central parts of the Chat Block. 
The earliest copper mining in thie region was based on vein-type deposits that were emplaced 
along north- to north-northwest-trending faults within this “Southeast Belt.”  Recent work by Dot 
Resources Ltd. along the extension of this belt southeast of the Property has found evidence of 
porphyry copper mineralization similar to that in the “core” rocks.  It has been suggested (e.g., 
Robinson. 2009) that high-level intrusive centres of the type that is commonly invoked as a 
fundamental element in the emplacement of the Highland Valley Copper deposits may exist 
elsewhere in the region. 
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In the Highland Valley copper district the mineralization precipitated mainly along fractures in 
intensely shattered rock.  The copper grade in the deposits is closely related to the fracture 
density.  The total sulphide content is low.  Induced polarization is the only effective geophysical 
method;  the response tends to be comparatively weak.  In contrast, the ore at the Craigmont 
Mine was deposited primarily in veins, streaks, patches and coarse disseminations in altered 
limestone and other rocks. It contained a considerable amount of magnetite and was detectable in 
magnetic surveying. The mineralization in the smaller, fault-related deposits is mainly in fracture 
fillings similar to those in the Highland Valley.  A commercial deposit of this type of ore would 
require a higher grade and probably would give a stronger induced polarization response, but 
shorter electrode separations would be required. 
 
The south-trending valley of Guichon Creek, which lies along the eastern margin of the batholith 
for much of its length, follows a prominent zone of faulting.  The most recent movement appears 
to have taken place in response to late Tertiary extension, creating the Mamit Lake graben.  The 
older rocks within the valley are mostly covered by Tertiary sedimentary rocks and transported 
late-glacial deposits.  This area was explored mainly by geophysical methods in the past.  
Follow-up to the surveys tended to be cursory.  Review and re-interpretation of the earlier work 
indicates that additional exploration of this part of the Property is warranted. 
 
The geology of the region lying east of the Mamit Lake graben has been completely revised in 
the study described in the present report.  The rocks previously were mapped as volcanic and 
sedimentary units of the Nicola Group.  The recent work suggests that the area is underlain 
mainly by an Alkalic Intrusive Complex that intrudes both the Nicola rocks and the granitic 
intrusions of the Guichon Creek batholith.  This intrusive complex is widely exposed in the 
Kamloops – Merritt region.  It includes rocks similar to those of the Iron Mask batholith, host to 
the former Afton & Ajax mines. Very little exploration work has been carried out on the portion 
of Property that lies east of the Guichon Creek valley. 
 
The photo-geological interpretation outlined a number of very continuous faults within the 
Guichon Creek batholith that I have termed “north-south regional faults.”  An astonishingly large 
proportion of the significant mineral occurrences in the region, including all of the major mines, 
appear to be spatially associated with these structures. 
 
The copper values in the stream sediment within the Guichon Creek batholith are far higher than 
can be accounted for by known mineralization.  Recent test work indicates that it is very unlikely 
that this is the result of concentration in the sampling process or of seepages of dissolved metal 
along the drainages. The less resistant zones of faulting were preferentially occupied by the creek 
valleys from which the stream sediments were collected. It is proposed that the anomalously high 
values reflect copper deposition along the regional north-south faults.    This proposal is 
supported by regional stream-sediment sampling carried out by the B.C. Geological Survey that 
demonstrates a coherent pattern of copper values throughout the southern portion of the Guichon 
Creek batholith, implying that the faults act as a “plumbing system” for copper-rich 
hydrothermal solutions.   
 
The stream-sediment anomaly pattern suggests that the mineralized faults extend at least as far 
south as the Craigmont mine at the margin of the batholith, where fractured volcanic rocks and 
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limestone may have provided a favourable environment for high-grade ore deposition from 
hydrothermal solutions that utilized the regional north-south faults as conduits.   
 
Widespread intense fracturing adjacent to the regional faults prior to the mineralizing events 
could have taken place in various ways.  Regional east-west faults are indicated in the vicinity of 
the Valley, Lornex, Highmont and JA orebodies.  Breccia pipes and high-level dike 
concentrations are present in the vicinity of the deposits to the north –Bethlehem, South Seas and 
Krain. 
 
In much of the region stockwork fracturing (as in the core of the batholith) or favourable host 
rocks (as at Craigmont) may not be present.  However, linear zones of shearing adjacent to north-
south faults and dikes have provided conditions for the deposition of relatively high-grade 
copper mineralization at several sites. Under suitable conditions mineralization of this type might 
form significant high-grade ore deposits within the zone traversed by the copper-bearing faults. 
 
The proposed model for ore deposition in the Guichon Creek batholith suggests that a regional 
system of north-south faults distributed copper in hydrothermal solution from an unknown 
source or sources.  Precipitation of the metal was facilitated by intense brecciation of the more 
brittle rocks (youngest intrusive phases?).  The brecciation was localized along the north-south 
faults by cross faults or by breccia pipes and concentrations of high-level dikes.  In the case of 
the Craigmont mine, the only example outside of the batholith, limestone acted as the main 
precipitant for copper. 
 
I have concluded that the most favourable areas for future exploration based on the depositional 
model are: 
   
 1.  The zone along the margin of the younger intrusive rocks that form the core of the 
Guichon batholith.  This zone is covered by deep overburden in part of the Skuhun Block and 
in the western part of the Chat Block. 
  
1a. The Chataway Creek area in the western part of the Chat Block.  Several regional faults 
appear to extend into the area.  The highest stream sediment values in our test are located in this 
area.  The area has not been tested due to deep overburden. 
  
1b. The Skuhun Creek area in the northern part of the Skuhun Block.  The interpreted HVC, 
Highmont and Roscoe Lake regional faults appear to converge and to intersect the Skuhun Creek 
fault near the northeast corner of the Skuhun claim block.  There are high stream sediment values 
in the vicinity. 
 
  2.   The west-central part of the Tap Block.  This area is almost entirely covered by thin late-
glacial deposits.  Several north-south regional faults are present.  Copper showings were drilled 
to the east along the east-west Tyner Creek fault, which transects the area.  Sparse drilling within 
the general area intersected significant amounts of copper locally. 
 
  3.  The north-western part of the Chat Block east of 1a.  There are several broad IP anomaly 
areas that appear to be related to regional north-south faulting.  These anomalies are poorly 
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resolved due to the large electrode separation used.  Transported cover is thin but fairly 
extensive.  
   
 4.  The extension of the Southeast Belt lying north of Twilight Lake.  This area appears to be 
almost entirely covered by basal till.  Conventional geochemical soil sampling should be an 
effective tool for further exploration. 
 
   5.  The “Chataway Zone” south of Chataway Lake. Although a mineral resource of 
approximately half a million tonnes of 1.6% copper has been published, this target is 
hypothetical since the results of the drilling have not been verified.  Nevertheless, the reported 
occurrence deserves to be followed up.  The putative zone appears to be covered by relatively 
thin Tertiary sedimentary rocks. 
 
6.  The eastern projection of the Dupuis Creek fault in the northern part of the Mamit 
Block.  The Dupuis Creek fault extends east from the vicinity of the JA deposit.  The Fiddler 
prospect is located close to the fault.  Induced polarization and geochemical anomalies are 
present along the projection of the fault into an area of complex geology within the Property.  No 
recent field work has been carried out. 
 
Summing up, it is concluded that a number of significant exploration targets have been 
uncovered using well aged techniques – photo-geology and the comprehensive examination and 
re-interpretation of the wealth of data on previous work in the region.  These target areas may 
have been overlooked in the past because deep or continuous overburden hindered the use of the 
available exploration methods.  It is further concluded that these exploration targets can be tested 
effectively utilizing recently developed geophysical and geochemical procedures -- three-
dimensional-induced polarization (3D-IP) and mobile-metal ion (MMI). 
 
TECHNICAL REPORT – KETCHAN PROPERTY 
 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION & LOCATION 
 
The Ketchan Property is comprised of 30 unpatented mineral tenures (hereinafter mainly referred 
to as “claims”) in one block covering an area of 13,980 hectares (139.8 square kilometres. or 
about 54 square miles).  It is located in the Southern Interior of British Columbia, mid-way 
between the towns of Merritt and Princeton.  The approximate centre of the claim group is 
located at Latitude 49°49’, Longitude 120°34’.  
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Mineral title to all of the claims is held by MOAG COPPER GOLD RESOURCES INC., subject 
to a Net Smelter Royalty on certain tenures of 3% payable to Guy R. Delorme of Vernon, B.C.  
[These tenures are indicated by an asterisk on the preceding claim list.]   
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Surface rights are held by other parties (mainly by Douglas Lake Ranch and Quilchena Cattle 
Co.) on portions of the Property.  The extent of these rights is indicated on Figure 1. 
 
A sufficient amount of assessment work has been completed to extend the due dates for at least 
two years on all of the claims.   
 
The Property has not been legally surveyed.  However, the boundaries of the claims are defined 
precisely in the mineral titles.  The property boundaries shown on the various maps are accurate 
within the limits of the map scales. 
 
I am not aware of any environmental liabilities to which the property is subject. 
 
Work permits must be acquired before physical work on the Property can re-commence.  
Applications for such permits will be made once the field program has been planned and 
approved. 
 
ACCESSIBILITY, CLIMATE, PHYSIOGRAPHY, LOCAL RESOURCES & 
INFRASTRUCTURES 
 
The Central Nicola property is located midway between the towns of Merritt and Princeton in 
south-central British Columbia, about 200 kilometres east of Vancouver.  The northern boundary 
of the Property lies 6 kilometres south of the hamlet of Aspen Grove, and it follows Highway 5A 
south for about 16 kilometres.  The northern appendage of the Property intersects the Coquihalla 
Extender, the eastern portion of a freeway that connects the Okanogan Valley with Vancouver, 
via Merritt. 
 
All parts of the Ketchan claims are accessible via a network of gravel and dirt roads.  The 
western part of the Property is traversed by Highway 223 (Coalmont Road), which leaves 
Highway 5A south of Aspen Grove. 
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The Ketchan claims occupy a rolling upland area with a maximum elevation of 1500 metres, the 
southern extension of the Fairweather Hills.  Local relief is moderate in most of the area.  
However, the south-eastern part of the Property, in the vicinity of the old Shamrock “Mine,” 
follows the steep-sided gorge occupied by Summers Creek below the southern end of Missezula 
Lake;  here local relief exceeds 300 metres.  Otter Creek, within the western part of the claims, 
follows a somewhat less precipitous depression between high, rolling hills. 
 
A mixture of open forest and grassland characteristic of the semi-arid environment is found 
throughout the region.  Ranching and logging are the main economic activities.  Large areas of 
grassland devoted to grazing are found in the relatively flat terrain in the western part of the 
Property and around Ketchan Lake. 
 
The climate is characterized by hot, dry summers and cold winters.  This has not proven to be a 
hindrance to year-round operations at the large open-pit mines in the region. 
 
There is an abundance of land suitable for processing-plant sites, including waste dumps and 
tailings ponds, within the area.  Missezula Lake could provide a plentiful supply of process 
water.  A high-voltage power line passes through the central part of the Property;  there is a gas 
pipeline about 10 kilometres to the west of the claims. 
 
Merritt and Princeton, each approximately 40 kilometres from the Property, are located at the 
northern and southern termini of Highway 5A.  Both were townsites for major copper mines in 
the past.  There is an ample supply of experienced labour in the region. 
 
HISTORY 
 
The area covered by the present claims has had a long and complex history of exploration.  
Recorded mineral production consists solely of a shipment of copper ore from the Shamrock 
mine in 1929.  Although a good deal of prospecting evidently was carried out early in the last 
century, there is little documentation of exploration prior to the Ketchan Lake porphyry copper-
gold discovery in 1962.  There are no historical mineral resource or mineral reserve estimates for 
the area covered by the Property.   
 
The following is a chronological summary.  It has been divided into four sections for 
convenience. 
 
General 
1929: A small shipment from the Shamrock Amine@ averaged 5.78% Cu. 
1963: Consolidated Woodgreen carried out trenching on the Shamrock  
          prospect and completed 3 diamond drill holes. 
1979: Cominco Ltd. drilled 6 percussion holes in the central part of present claims, based on 

I.P., magnetic and geochemical surveys.  Only two holes reached bedrock, both 
intersecting altered diorite.  One hole averaged 0.141% Cu over 32 metres. 

1985:  Vanco Exploration carried out geochemical and geological mapping on central part of 
present claims.  They also mapped and sampled the Shamrock prospect. 
1988: Laramide Resources carried out a geochemical survey for gold in the northern part of the 
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present claims. 
1990:  Minequest Exploration carried out 56 kilometres of I.P. surveying on central part of 
present claims. 
1991: Rayrock Yellowknife Mines drilled 9 percussion holes on the Minequest property.  No 
significant Cu or Au values are reported, but a significant, but untested, copper prospect on Zig 3 
Claim was noted.  
2004-2005: Gary Robert Brown carried out geological and photo- 
          geological mapping of the entire claim block, along with 
          magnetometer and VLF surveying of a Minequest IP anomaly area. 
    
Ketchan Lake Prospect 

1962: Plateau Metals Ltd. staked the present Ketchan Lake prospect area.  Later the same year, they 
carried out a magnetometer survey and completed 3 diamond drill holes. 
1966:  Adera Mining Ltd. optioned the property and carried out geological and geophysical 
surveys, along with 512 metres of diamond drilling and 512 metres of trenching.   

1973: Bethlehem Copper Corporation staked the Log Group of mineral claims following a large-scale 
regional exploration program.  

1974: Bethlehem Copper carried out geological mapping and geochemical sampling, followed by 
drilling of 10 percussion holes. No information pertaining to this drilling is on record. 

1975: Bethlehem Copper completed 351 metres of diamond drilling in 4 holes. 
1980: Bethlehem Copper completed 410 metres in 2 diamond drill holes to test the results of an 

I.P. survey carried out earlier in the year. 
1991: Cominco Ltd. completed 15 percussion drill holes -- 1067 metres. 
1992: Cominco Ltd drilled 8 percussion holes -- 640 metres. 
2005: Copper Belt Resources drilled 10 diamond drill holes – 1210 metres. 
2006: Copper Belt Resources drilled 2 diamond drill holes – 485 metres. 
2007: Copper Belt Resources drilled 5 diamond drill holes – 931 metres. 
 
PAR Prospect 
1962-1965:  Tormont Mines Ltd, completed 2759 metres of diamond drilling 
          in 18 holes, ostensibly to test a skarn Cu showing west of Otter Creek.                                                          
1970:  Andrew Robertson completed a vertical diamond drill hole to a depth  
          of 123 metres at the site of the original showing. 
1998-2004:  W.R.Bergey carried out detailed mapping supplemented by  
          magnetometer and VLF-EM surveys. 
 
Coke Prospect 
This prospect was discovered in 1962 by Plateau Metals Ltd.  Between   1963 and 1976 
numerous geological, geophysical and geochemical soil surveys were carried out on the Coke 
prospect by Plateau Metals, Adera Mining, Amax Exploration, Kalco Valley Mines and Ruskin 
Developments.  Two diamond drill holes totalling 229 metres and three percussion holes 
totalling 235 metres were drilled by these companies between 1966 and 1972.  Since then, 
several geophysical and soil and rock geochemical surveys were conducted by Cominco Ltd. in 
1980, P.Peto in 1985 and Mingold Resources in 1987.  The work on the Coke Prospect was 
carried out in conjunction with exploration that also included the Rum prospect, located about 
one kilometre to the south.  [The foregoing account was excerpted from MINFILE.]  
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GEOLOGICAL SETTING 
 
Preamble 
 
Most of the discussion in this section is based on field mapping and photo-geological 
interpretation carried out intermittently by the author over the past 10 years.  Since my 
interpretation of the geology of the region differs to a very considerable extent from that revealed 
in published geological reports and maps, a discussion of the methods employed is in order. 
 
Photogeology should not be confused with the identification and interpretation of linear 
topographic features.  To be effective, photogeology must be based on reliable field geological 
data and it should be re-interpreted constantly as the exploration work proceeds.  Under 
favourable circumstances photo-geological interpretation can be made through continuous till 
cover to provide geological information that is impossible to obtain from field mapping.  At the 
same time, it can identify areas covered by transported surficial material that would preclude the 
effective use of conventional geochemical exploration methods. As it happens, the region 
surrounding the Property has well above average favourability for the application of 
photogeology. 
 
My approach in this instance was to examine pairs of government air photos at scales of 
1:75,000 (black& white) and 1:20,000 (colour) under magnifications of  2x and 4x.  The regional 
geology discussed below was based on detailed work in the vicinity of the Ketchen Property and 
on similar mapping and interpretation that covered a large area extending west from the Iron 
Mask batholith near Kamloops.  My field work between these areas was erratically distributed, 
and only 1:75,000 photographs were available for interpretation.   
 
The author has utilized air-photo interpretation as an important adjunct to other mineral 
exploration methods in a number of countries during the past 50 years. 
 
Regional Geology 
 
The Ketchan Property is located close to the centre of the exposed portion of the Nicola Belt.  
This belt is composed mainly of Late Triassic volcanic rocks and volcanogenic sedimentary 
rocks.  It is considered to be a part of Quesnellia, a geological terrane that originated far to the 
south and became accreted to the continent of North America in late Mesozoic time.  Volcanic 
rocks of the Nicola Group are classified as “alkaline” and, as is typical of rocks in this category, 
they contain relatively large amounts of trace-element copper.  Porphyry copper deposits are 
commonly associated with bodies of intrusive rock within the Nicola Belt as well as in 
equivalent volcanic units elsewhere in the province.  The association of large copper deposits 
with volcanic rocks that contain unusually large amounts of trace copper is not, in my opinion, 
merely a coincidence. 
 
Most of the Nicola Belt has been mapped geologically at an extremely small scale (ca. 
1:250,000), and little sub-division of stratigraphic units was possible.  However, the area 
between Merritt and Merritt, which includes the Property, was mapped at the intermediate scale 
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of 1:50,000 (Preto,1979).  Preto recognized three major divisions within the volcanic sequence -- 
Western, Central and Eastern facies -- separated by a pair of regional faults.  He believed that 
these faults were related to Nicola volcanism.  My recent work tends to confirm Preto’s tripartite 
division of the Nicola volcanic rocks at regional faults.  
 
Preto (1979) states, “All structures in the volcanic and intrusive rocks are dominated by the same 
northerly trend as the major faults.  Such structural conformity is probably the result of an old 
system of major deep-seated crustal fractures which dominated the structural framework of the 
region in Early Triassic time and caused Nicola volcanic centres to be distributed in northerly 
trending belts flanked by basins.”   I strongly agree, up to a point, with this premise.  However, 
to me it appears more likely that the older structures were steeply-dipping transcurrent (strike-
slip) faults related to plate motion during transport of Quesnellia.   
 
I interpreted the traces the two faults identified by Preto (1979) from south  of the Ketchan 
Property to Kamloops Lake (Figure 3), a distance of 125 kilometres.  [The faults were 
interpolated beneath areas of Late Tertiary to Recent volcanic and sedimentary cover that are not 
shown on the figure.]   
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Obviously this uninterrupted continuity of the oldest faults in the region is not credible.  My 
interpretation is that the precursor deep-seated structures are reflected in plan by comparatively 
straight, north-south linear features. Where these faults were truncated by cross-faults or by 
intrusion, younger north-south fault zones maintained the continuity of the zone initiated by the 
deep-seated crustal features, as suggested by Preto (1979).  
 
A good example is the Otter Creek structural zone (previously named the Allison fault) which 
follows a very straight north-south path along Otter Creek for about 15 kilometres within and 
north of the western part of the Property.  The deep-seated fault is intruded by dikes related to 
the Allison Lake pluton.  South of the Property its strongly linear course is interrupted close to 
the margin of the main mass of the pluton, where the creek also takes a sharp bend.  A fault line 
is indicated on the air photos to continue on a rather sinuous, but relentlessly southerly, course 
through the pluton.  It is not unreasonable to suggest that the younger fault followed (in a general 
way) the older line of weakness.  A similar situation is apparent in the northern extension of the 
Otter Creek structural zone southwest of Kamloops.  The eastern structural zone, designated the 
“Summers Creek” fault by Preto (1979), is less well defined since it has been intruded by 
younger rocks along much of its course. The interpreted trace of the early structure is shown 
along the eastern margin of the Nicola Horst but it has not been clearly distinguished from the 
later faults elsewhere.  
 
The reason for this discourse on the regional faulting is related to the apparent economic 
significance of north-south faults in the region.  Within the Guichon batholith, north-south 
regional faults have been interpreted to be present in the vicinity of all of the major copper 
deposits, and elevated copper values are associated with these faults in soil and stream-sediment 
geochemical surveys (Bergey, 2007). The Iron Mask batholith, the host of large Cu-Au deposits, 
appears to be confined to the belt located between the major fault structures.  Several significant 
copper and gold prospects are found within and close to the Otter Creek and Summers Creek 
fault zones themselves.  These are shown on Figure 3 and are discussed later in this report. 
 
The Western Facies of the Nicola Group comprises a distinctive assemblage of intermediate to 
felsic volcanic rocks, predominantly pyroclastic, and minor but widespread limestone.  The 
Central Facies is poorly described in the literature, mainly because only minor amounts of Nicola 
volcanic rock are exposed in the belt situated between the deep-seated regional faults.  Most of 
this belt is underlain by rocks of the intrusive complexes (discussed below) and by the 
metamorphic complex of the Nicola Horst.   
 
The Eastern Facies is composed of intermediate to mafic volcanic rocks interbedded with 
considerable amounts of volcaniclastic sedimentary rocks.  The volcanic rocks are overlain by a 
sedimentary unit that generally is considered as a separate facies.  However, it appears to be 
folded into the volcanic assemblage and forms part of the eastern structural block. 
 
There is no evidence to indicate the amount of movement along the major faults.  Detailed 
mapping of the island of Puerto Rico, partly the model for the geological concept expressed in 
the present report, outlined three isochronic but stratigraphically uncorrelated volcanic 
assemblages of Cretaceous age separated by two major transcurrent fault zones.   Movement 
along one of the faults was determined to be greater than 60 kilometres.   
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Calc-alkaline batholithic intrusions of Late Triassic to Early Jurassic age, mainly quartz 
monzonite and granodiorite, are found in both the Eastern and Western Belts, but rocks of this 
type are present mainly as very small stocks in the Central Belt. The exception is the Allison 
Lake pluton which impinges on the southeast corner of the Property and is clearly younger than 
the Otter Creek fault.  It is intrusive into the rocks of both the Western and Central Volcanic 
Facies, and it also intrudes the Aspen Grove intrusive complex. 
 
I have identified two very large alkaline intrusive complexes that previously were mapped as 
mainly Nicola volcanic rocks.  The Aspen Grove intrusive complex, which underlies the central 
and western parts of the Ketchan Property, covers an area of about 200 square kilometres.  The 
Kamloops intrusive complex, including the “traditional” Iron Mask batholith, is at least 500 
square kilometres in area.  [It should be noted that I have found photographic evidence of rocks 
of the intrusive complex throughout the region between Kamloops and the Property.  These have 
not been verified by field mapping and are not shown on Figure 3.] 
 
The alkalic intrusive complexes are dominated by intrusive breccia that appears to have been 
misidentified as a variety of volcanic and sedimentary rocks, including flow breccia, lahar, 
crystal tuff, volcanic breccia, conglomerate, and grit in government reports and in a multitude of 
assessment reports and core logs.  
 
The alkaline complexes include a variety of intrusive rock types, including diorite, monzodiorite, 
monzonite and syenite.  A rather enigmatic rock type that links both major complexes has the 
composition and appearance of alkaline basalt.  This rock is maroon to purple in colour. [I named 
it “brick-red basalt” (BRB) in the field.] It generally is a pyroxene-plagioclase-phyric porphyry 
with a fine-textured, but always holocrystalline, groundmass.  It is found throughout the two 
complexes as both fragments and groundmass in the intrusive breccia, but also as a large, 
massive unbrecciated body in the western part of the Property.  It clearly is not directly related to 
Nicola volcanism, but I believe that the BRB is the one of the main reasons that intrusive breccia 
has been misidentified as a volcaniclastic rock.  A more complete discussion of the intrusive 
breccia and its association with the adjacent massive intrusive rocks is given in the next section 
of the report. 
 
The rocks in the intrusive complexes are readily distinguished from rocks of the Nicola Group on 
the air photographs.  The characteristic stratification in the Nicola rocks, almost always within a 
few degrees of north, usually is clearly indicated.  The air photographs reflect the massive nature 
of the rocks of the intrusive complex and they tend to stand out strongly against the more 
recessive volcanic and sedimentary rocks, which have undergone at least one period of 
deformation prior to the emplacement of the intrusive rocks.  Coalescent circular features, 
presumably representing pipe structures, are very evident in areas underlain by intrusive breccia.  
The circular features vary from 200 metres up to nearly two kilometres in diameter.  
 
The “traditional” Iron Mask batholith is distinguished from the adjacent intrusive complex on 
Figure 3.  However, most of the rock types are indistinguishable in the two units and intrusive 
breccia pipes appear to be common in the batholith.   
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Geological reports on the region in the past 30 years commonly refer to the alkalic intrusive 
rocks as “coeval in part” with rocks of the Nicola Group despite widespread evidence that the 
two assemblages are structurally discordant.  I believe that this resulted from the need to explain 
abundant intrusive clasts in supposed volcaniclastic rocks, as well as from the evidence that the 
alkalic intrusive rocks are chemically similar to the Nicola volcanic rocks. 
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The Nicola Horst lies entirely within the Central Belt. The uplift exposed highly metamorphosed 
volcanic and calc-alkaline granitic rocks of assumed Late Triassic age, along with sedimentary 
rocks that may be Paleozoic.  These are intruded by unaltered Eocene granitoids within the 
structural zone (Moore, 2000).  All of the field data on the Nicola horst is derived from Moore et 
al. (1990) and Moore (2000).  However, the photo-geological study suggests that the southern 
boundary is a southwest-dipping normal fault and that the northern boundary is an intrusive 
contact with the Kamloops Intrusive Complex.  If my inferences are correct, and if the 
metamorphosed volcanic rocks of the horst are part of the Nicola Group as stated by Moore 
(2000), then the intrusive complexes are separated from the Nicola volcanics by regional 
deformation, calc-alkaline intrusions, deep-seated metamorphism and regional faulting.  There 
are many unanswered questions relating to the Nicola Horst.  However, a more detailed 
discussion is outside of the scope of the present report.   
 
A number of volcanic and sedimentary units, as well numerous small alkaline and calc-alkaline 
intrusions, that range in age from Jurassic to Tertiary are present in the region but are not shown 
on the regional geological map (Figure 3).     
 
PROPERTY GEOLOGY 
 
Nicola Group 
 
The Western Volcanic facies of the Late Triassic Nicola Group (as defined above) is confined to 
the westernmost part of the Property.  Exposures are fairly abundant along the western slope of 
Otter Creek, but they tend to be small and they offer little structural information except for a 
pervasive NNE-trending cleavage.  The rocks are predominantly intermediate to felsic tuff, with 
minor amounts of andesitic lava and limestone. 
 
The Central Volcanic facies is exposed mainly in the southern part of the Central Belt.  The 
rocks are mainly andesitic tuff and tuff breccia.  A single outcrop area of laminated felsic ash tuff 
of indeterminate affiliation was located in the west-central part of the belt.   
 
The Eastern Volcanic facies crops out along the eastern boundary of the property.  The few 
outcrops that were examined were composed of andesitic flows and pyroclastics.  The rocks of 
the Eastern and Central facies could not be distinguished because of the sparse data available.   
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Calc-alkaline Intrusive Rocks 
 
The eastern margin of the Allison Lake pluton, smallest of the Late Triassic to Early Jurassic 
batholithic intrusions in the region, follows the western border of the Property.  The dominant 
lithology in this part of the pluton is coarse-textured granite typified by large, rounded quartz 
phenocrysts.  The granite appears to have engulfed an earlier, more mafic, intrusive phase 
composed of diorite and quartz diorite.   
 
Radiometric dating from a sample of granite collected along Highway 5a in the south-western 
corner of Figure 5a yielded an age of 200+/-5 Ma (Preto, 1979).  This date places the Allison 
Lake pluton at the Triassic-Jurassic boundary.  Field and air photo evidence strongly suggests 
that the pluton was emplaced prior to intrusion of the rocks of the alkalic intrusive suite. 
 
Alkalic Intrusive Complex 
 
The geological map of the area between Merritt and Princeton (Preto, 1979) display a number of 
small, isolated bodies of diorite, monzonite and syenite within the Nicola Group outcrop area.  
The largest of the alkaline intrusions on the Property is a body of diorite that extends across the 
broad valley in the vicinity of Ketchan Lake. 
 
During 2004 the author identified large areas of intrusive breccia that were made up mainly of 
clasts of the rock types that composed the alkaline intrusions.  The breccia package was 
designated an “Intrusive Breccia Complex” (Bergey, 2005).  Since that time, geological work 
identified an even larger area covered by similar rocks close to Kamloops that included the Iron 
Mask batholith (Bergey, 2008).  The brecciated and unbrecciated rocks were combined in an 
Alkalic Intrusive Complex, and the same designation is used herein. 
 
The 2004 mapping of the Ketchan Property revealed that a common component of the alkalic 
complex is a fine-textured red to purple mafic rock that I named “Brick-red Basalt” (BRB) in the 
field.  Unbrecciated exposures of this rock are found within an area that extends for 4 kilometres 
northwest from Missezula Lake.  The rock is pyroxene-and plagioclase-phyric, with a 
holocrystalline groundmass that varies from very fine- to fairly coarse-textured.  It is 
amygdaloidal locally, but I believe that it is a sub-volcanic intrusive since I have not uncovered 
any indication of stratification in the field or on the air photos.  There is a no evidence to suggest 
an association of BRB with Nicola volcanic rocks. 
 
BRB is particularly significant because it consistently has been misidentified as a volcanic rock 
of the Nicola group.  Preto (1979) analysed 40 samples of “Nicola rocks” from the Aspen Grove 
area.  Of these, no fewer than 15 appear to be BRB.  All are classified as “trachybasalt, potassic 
alkali series.”  The presence of this putative volcanic material as breccia fragments and/or matrix 
encouraged field geologists to attach a volcanic identity to the rock.  
 
Small bodies of monzonite and syenite occur throughout the Intrusive Complex.  Despite its 
rather limited areal extent, Preto (1979) analysed 16 samples of monzonite and syenite compared 
with only 3 samples of diorite, a much more extensive unit. Like the diorite, the syenite and 
monzonite tend to be fine textured and pyroxene is the common primary mafic mineral. 
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The dominant component of the Aspen Grove Intrusive Complex is intrusive breccia.  This unit 
comprises a number of separate bodies that appear to be clusters of coalescent pipes.  Individual 
pipes vary considerably in size, but they are generally between 400 metres and 1000 metres in 
diameter.   
 
The breccia is composed of a heterolithic assemblage of the other rock types of the Complex. 
The texture of the material is highly variable both in the degree of rounding of the fragments and 
in the amount and composition of the matrix.  Clast size also is variable – from a few centimetres 
down to a highly milled variety that resembles an unstratified clastic sedimentary rock or tuff.  
(There is some field evidence to suggest that the finer material is concentrated near the margins 
of the pipes.)  I have not seen any clasts that I consider to be unequivocally volcanic in origin.  
The presence of BRB in the mix no doubt accounts for the common misidentification of the 
intrusive breccia as a volcanic rock that contains “coeval” intrusive rock fragments. 
 
Intrusive breccia has been examined and identified in thin section only at the Ketchan porphyry 
copper-gold prospect, where altered and mineralized diorite (unit “ICa” on Figure 5a) has been 
intruded by small bodies of breccia (Dunne & Thompson, 2006).  However, I have examined 
many samples of intrusive breccia under the binocular microscope. 
 
The Alkalic Intrusive Complex appears to be younger than the granitic rocks of the Allison Lake 
pluton which have been dated at about 200 Ma (i.e., close to the Triassic-Jurassic boundary) and 
is older than Late Jurassic rocks elsewhere in the region.  Accordingly, the Complex is 
considered to be Early Jurassic in age. 
 
Ashcroft Formation 
  
An enigmatic assemblage of sedimentary and volcanic rocks was noted in drill holes and in 
sparse outcrops in the vicinity of Ketchan Lake.  Exposures of sandstone were noted east of the 
south end of the lake (Figure 5a).  The rocks appear to be in conformable contact with altered 
diorite.  A drill hole at the road junction 500 metres to the east intersected graphitic argillite with 
thin interbeds of andesitic volcanic rocks at the base of the overburden (Thomson, 2006).  
Similar rocks were encountered at depth in fault contact with mineralized diorite about 200 
metres to the west (Thomson, 2007).  A drill hole located approximately a kilometre southwest 
of Ketchan Lake reportedly intersected andesitic volcanic rocks and minor graphitic argillite 
apparently related to the same unit (Simpson, 1980).  These disparate occurrences apparently are 
located within a zone of complex faulting.  
 
The rocks of this unit stand out in contrast to the intense deformation, alteration and 
mineralization of adjacent rocks of the Alkalic Intrusive Complex.  They have been assigned 
tentatively to the Ashcroft Formation of Late Jurassic age based on lithology, structure and 
metamorphic grade. 
 
These rocks are of particular interest because of their graphite content.  This conductive mineral 
is responsible for a positive chargeability response in induced polarization surveying, a 
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behaviour that is difficult to distinguish from the response due to disseminated sulphides in the 
adjacent Ketchan porphyry copper-gold system. 
 
Late Tertiary Sedimentary Rocks 
 
A number of isolated features indicative of flat-lying geological units were outlined on the air 
photos.   They clearly interrupt the regional faults, including some that are indicated to be post-
Eocene, but appear to be displaced by local normal faults.   
 
Outcrops of weakly metamorphosed mudstone and sandstone identify these features in the north-
western part of the Property and in the area to the north.   A small exposure of indurated and 
well-sorted cobbles at the top of the slope above Otter Creek may represent a basal conglomerate 
of the unit.  There is no field evidence in other parts of the Property to establish a correlation. 
 
Valley Basalt 
 
Flows of vesicular, grey and red olivine basalt of Pleistocene age discontinuously underlie a 
fairly narrow, but laterally extensive, area that extends from south of Ketchan Lake through the 
north end of Missezula Lake and continues to the north for many kilometres.  A smaller outcrop 
area underlies part of a broad valley in the west-central part of the Property. 
 
Valley Basalt was intersected in a number of drill holes near Ketchan Lake.  The indicated 
thickness is about 30 metres on average. 
 
Glacial and Post-glacial Deposits 
 
Deposits of till (more specifically, basal or lodgement till) forms a thin, but nearly continuous, 
blanket on the bedrock in the region.  This material impedes geological mapping but does not 
seriously inconvenience photo-geological interpretation.  Till is considered to be a good medium 
for geochemical soil sampling. 
 
The till is overlain locally by ice-contact deposits that formed during the waning stages of 
glaciation.  These deposits are particularly abundant along north-trending valleys in the western 
part of the Property.  Characteristic landforms that can be identified on air photos are eskers, 
kames and kame terraces.   
 
Unit “g” on Figures 5a and 5b outlines areas where ice-contact deposits are too thick and 
continuous for satisfactory photo-geology.  Unit “o/b” outlines areas where the glacial cover is 
less thick and continuous but still impedes photo geology to some extent.  The regional north-
south faults can be identified fairly readily.  Conventional geochemical soil sampling should not 
be attempted in areas covered by ice-contact deposits of any thickness. 
 
Alluvial deposits occur mainly along Summers Creek and Otter Creek.  These and local landslide 
deposits are included in unit “g”. 
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Faulting 
 
The nature and possible significance of the major structural zones – Otter Creek and Summers 
Creek faults – were discussed under RegionalGeology.”   
 
The fundamental faults themselves have been almost entirely obliterated by later intrusions 
within the Property.  However, subsequent faulting appears to have been controlled within these 
zones to a considerable extent by the deep-seated structures. 
 
Porphyritic granitic rocks were emplaced along the Otter Creek fault and the zone is reflected as 
a very pronounced north-south magnetic “low” for a distance of more than 25 kilometres.  A 
later, parallel fault separates the granite from rocks of the Alkalic Intrusive Complex.   
 
A number of regional faults are interpreted along and adjacent to Summers Creek.  The fault 
highlighted on Figure 5a is interpreted to be the most probable “successor” fault based on the 
presence of zones of intense shearing in adjacent volcanic rocks at several points along its trace. 
 
A “swarm” of north-south faults is interpreted along a wide zone east of the Otter Creek fault.  
These are obscured to a considerable extent by extensive Quaternary deposits.  The subdued 
topography in this area may be due in large part to the faulting. 
 
A northwest-trending fault marks the north contact of the diorite that is the host of the Ketchan 
copper-gold porphyry system.  A sub-parallel fault along the south margin of the intrusion is 
suspected. 
 
DEPOSIT TYPES 
 
Mineral deposits of two types are currently under investigation – alkalic porphyry copper-gold 
deposits and calc-alkaline porphyry copper deposits.  A third deposit type – volcanic redbed 
copper deposits accounts for many of the plethora of showings and prospects described in 
Minfile for the Property and its environs (Figure 6).  (The term “redbed” refers to the 
characteristic colour that reflects the  oxidizing environment in which the host rocks were 
formed).  Most of the “redbed” occurrences in the Aspen Grove area are found in intrusive 
breccia;  hence the validity of the term in this particular locale is doubtful.  However, the 
ingredients that are believed to be essential to the formation of these deposits – copper-rich 
source rocks and a reducing environment for precipitation of the metals – are present within the 
Alkalic Intrusive Complex.  Despite an abundance of showings, no significant prospects of this 
class of deposit have been identified. 
 
The Ketchan alkalic porphyry copper-gold system is a representative of the group of porphyry 
deposits that are associated with alkalic intrusive complexes that are suggested to follow a 
regional north-south fault-trend.   These deposits include the Afton and Ajax deposits in the Iron 
Mask batholith, as well as the Copper Mountain deposits to the south and the Mount Polley 
deposits north of Kamloops.  The Big Kidd Prospect and the Axe Prospect, located a short 
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distance north and south of the Ketchan Property respectively, are alkalic porphyry systems 
associated with the Aspen Grove intrusive complex.  Intrusive breccias are prominent in all of 
the Alkalic Intrusive Complexes. 
 
The two advanced exploration projects associated with the Aspen Grove complex have published 
resource estimates in accordance with NI 43-101: 
 
1.  Big Kidd (Christopher James Gold Corp.), which lies 8 kilometres to the     north of the 
Ketchan Property, has an Indicated Resource of 31.3 million tonnes of material at an average 
grade of 0.15% Cu and 0.33 g/t Au, and an Indicated plus Inferred Resource of 122.4 million 
tonnes, nominally of the same grade (Dawson, 2004). 
 
2. Axe (Weststar Resources) is located about 10 kilometres south of the Ketchan Property.  It has 
an Indicated Resource of 39 million tonnes at an average grade of 0.33% Cu and an Inferred 
Resource of 32 million tonnes, nominally of the same grade (Kerr, 2006). 
 
Calc-alkaline porphyry copper (-molybdenum) deposits are associated with the granitic plutons 
that lie both east and west of the zone followed by the Alkalic Intrusive Complexes.  The major 
deposits of the Highland Valley group are located near the centre of the Guichon Creek batholith 
and the Craigmont deposit lies at its margin (Figure 3).  The latter is usually considered to be a 
skarn deposit, but the definition is flexible.  It could be interpreted as a porphyry copper deposit 
of the Highland Valley type where the mineralization was precipitated partly by limestone.  The 
PAR prospect in the western part of the Property displays some similarities.  The original 
showing is of the skarn type, but most of the known mineralization was deposited in an 
apophysis of the Allison Lake pluton close to the Otter Creek fault.   The various “Mob” 
showings near the south-western corner of the Property are classified as porphyry-copper type. 

 
MINERALIZATION 
 
A search of MINFILE uncovered 43 mineral prospects and showings within and adjacent to the 
property (Figure 7).  Most of these (29) were categorized as Avolcanic redbed Cu@ occurrences,  
Aalkalic porphyry Cu-Au@ had 8, porphyry Cu had 5 references, and there is a single Aquartz-
stockwork Au@ prospect.  Almost all of the occurrences are located in rocks interpreted to be 
part of the Alkalic Intrusive Complex or in the Allison Lake pluton.  There are no MINFILE 
references for the portion of the Western Belt that lies within the Property except for the PAR 
prospect that is located adjacent to the bounding fault along Otter Creek.  
 
The mineralization of interest that was uncovered in the more significant parts of the Property as 
a result of “historical” exploration work is described in the next two sections of this report.   
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EXPLORATION 
 
The main objectives of this section are to describe the results some of the more important of the 
numerous “historic” exploration projects and to expand on these results within the framework of 
the revised geological interpretation expounded in the present report.  In general, the initial 

exploration results were 
inadequately followed up.  The 
exceptions were the Coke Prospect 
and the Ketchan Prospect, both of 
which were discovered by Plateau 
Metals in 1962.  They were explored 
nearly continuously for many years 
afterwards, the former until 1987 
and the latter until the present time.  
The following account of “historic” 
exploration covers only the projects 
that appeared to be of greatest 
interest.   
 
Par Prospect 
Diamond drilling programs by 
Tormont Mines Ltd. from 1962 to 
1965 and by Andrew Robertson in 
1970 were virtually the only serious 
exploration efforts in the area, the 
property having been tied up by 
non-performers from that time until 
2000.  My recent work was aimed 
mainly at placing the drilling results 
into a more reasonable geological 
perspective and in defining the 
target for economic mineralization 
beyond the immediate drilling area. 
The Tormont program comprised 
2759 metres of diamond drilling in 
17 holes.  The work was based on a 
copper showing in a geological 
setting that suggested skarn-type 
mineralization, although no nearby 
intrusive rock had been identified at 
that time.  The core was not 
preserved, and the drill logs are all 
but indecipherable.  Fortunately, the 
assay results appear to be complete 

and reliable, and the drill hole locations were found to be accurate.  
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The author’s mapping (Bergey, 2002) indicated that the magnetite-rich skarn mineralization at 
the original discovery was deposited in andesitic tuff marginal to granitic intrusive rocks related 
to the Allison Lake pluton.  The core of the local intrusion is a coarsely porphyritic granite that 
occupies a portion of the Otter Creek valley. Fine-grained porphyritic granite lies between this 
and the showings.  A distinctive quartz porphyry, characterized by abundant large quartz Aeyes@ 
in an extremely fine-grained groundmass, intrudes the granitic rocks and the adjacent volcanics.  
The quartz porphyry is found in small exposures throughout the drilling area and to the north.  
The only large outcrop area is located close to Otter Creek (Figure 8).  The drilling logs suggest 
that the porphyry extends through the fault at this point.  The granitic rocks and the immediately 
adjacent volcanic rocks in the drilling area have been subjected to intense brecciation within an 
ovoid zone, with a maximum dimension of about a kilometre along Otter Creek The quartz 
porphyry alone appears to have escaped brecciation, and may well have accompanied the 
process. 
 
The best drill holes in the Tormont program are centrally located within the brecciated area, and 
they appear to be associated with the largest exposed body of quartz porphyry, although the 
porphyry itself is not mineralized except for sparse pyrite.  Only two drill holes, H-27 and H-30, 
were drilled beneath Otter Creek and both of these collared in quartz porphyry and continued in 
this rock through the assumed trace of the fault. .  H-31 was the only hole to test the eastern side 
of the fault.  It was abandoned in Acaving ground, with heavy water inflow@ at the presumed 
location of the fault. 
 
A number of holes surrounding the large porphyry outcrop contained disseminated pyrite-
chalcopyrite mineralization throughout most of their lengths according to the logs. However, the 
selection of samples was somewhat erratic, and only short sections of core were analyzed in most 
cases.  The following are the most significant assays, from south to north.  The hole locations are 
shown on Figure 8. 
 
Hole 26:  1.4% Cu, 5g/t Ag, <0.1g.t Au / 6 metres;   0.3% Cu, 5 g/t Ag, 1 g/t Au / 9 metres. 
Hole 27:   0.90% Cu, 41 g/t Ag, < 0.1 g/t Au / 20 metres;  including 1.9% Cu, 64 g/t Ag / 6.7m. 
Hole 29:   0.50% Cu, 12 g/t Ag, 0.25 g/t Au  / 34 metres [entire hole except for quartz porphyry] 
Hole 31:   0.37% Cu, 34 g/t Ag, 0.6 g/t Au  / 1.5 metres [last core before hole lost in fault] 
 
No drilling was done east of the Otter Creek fault except for Hole 31.  The fault itself was not 
tested.  Holes 27 and 30 were located east of Otter Creek, but both holes started in quartz 
porphyry, which appears to occupy the fault zone in this part of the area.  (The best Cu-Ag in the 
core drilling was intersected in Hole 27 immediately west of the porphyry.)  Hole 29 was drilled 
a short distance west of the fault.  A short section of significant Cu-Ag-Au mineralization was 
found in Hole 31 adjacent to the fault zone. 
 
North of the drilling area, on the Adam claim, exposures of granitic intrusive rocks, mainly 
quartz-feldspar porphyry are confined mainly to the immediate vicinity of Otter Creek (Bergey, 
2004).  The porphyry, as well as adjacent volcanic rocks along the margins of beaver ponds, tend 
to be highly fractured or sheared, and commonly are altered and limonite-stained.  The flooded 
area has a fairly uniform average width of 50 metres. 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

October 29, 2012 
Page 81 

 
  

 
Several VLF-EM anomalies were detected (Figure 8).  These generally trend north to north-
northeast, and they have lengths of up to 400 metres.  Some of the shorter zones can be 
correlated with known mineralization (e.g. the local anomaly in the vicinity of skarn 
mineralization in the discovery area) but the much more continuous anomalies farther south have 
no obvious cause, although  Aspecks and seams of graphite” were reported from Hole 34. [In 
view of the poor quality of the core logging, there is a possibility that the “graphite” could be 
molybdenite.] 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

October 29, 2012 
Page 82 

 
  

 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

October 29, 2012 
Page 83 

 
  

VLF-EM anomalies also were detected within porphyritic granite and adjacent volcanic rocks 
north of the drilling area.  They tend to be associated with small exposures of quartz porphyry 
and with a ferruginous breccia of recent origin. 
 
The author’s interpretation of the sequence of faulting and intrusion close to Otter Creek is as 
follows.  1) The granitic intrusive rocks that follow the creek were emplaced in the regional fault 
zone that marks the boundary between the Central and Western volcanic facies of the Nicola 
Group.  (This feature is marked by a north-south-trending topographic linear and by a 
pronounced magnetic “low” for a distance of more than 25 kilometres north from the main body 
of the Allison Lake pluton.)  2) The shearing within the granitic rocks adjacent to the creek 
probably appears to be related to a fault that has a relatively small displacement. 3) The quartz 
porphyry appears to have been unaffected by the shearing, but this may be evidence of its 
unyielding nature rather than of its age.  4) The dominant “successor “ to the regional Otter 
Creek fault is interpreted to lie a short distance to the east of Otter Creek in this part of the area.  
[The fault is shown in the lower right corner of Figure 8.] The interpretation implies that this 
fault offsets rocks of the Alkalic Intrusive Complex.  The ages of the mineralization and the 
circular breccia zone have not been determined.  The brecciation affects all of the rock types in 
the immediate area except for the quartz porphyry.  The fragments in the breccia tend to be 
homolithic and they are infrequently rotated, unlike the intrusive breccia of the Alkalic Intrusive 
Complex.  However, the zone could represent the uppermost portion of a breccia pipe of 
unknown affiliation. 
 

      
 
Coke Prospect 
 
The Coke Prospect along with the Rum Prospect, which lies about one kilometre to the south, 
were discovered by Plateau Metals in 1962.  Exploration work in the area included detailed 
geological mapping, several soil geochemical surveys, induced polarization (IP) and magnetic 
surveys, trenching and a minor amount of drilling.     
 
The Amax geological survey (Christofferson et al., 1971) that included the Coke Prospect 
comprises the largest area of detailed mapping in the region.  It outlined a large body of intrusive 
rocks and intrusive breccia that forms a part of the Alkalic Intrusive Complex shown in Figure 
5a.  [This is the only reference to intrusive breccia that I have uncovered in the geological 
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literature of the region.  The results of the Amax survey apparently were ignored in the 
preparation of the later government geological map (Preto, 1979), which shows only Nicola 
volcanic rocks in the area.]  The intrusive rocks are truncated on the east by a major regional 
fault that I believe follows close to the trace of the primordial Summers Creek fault, the 
boundary between the Central and Eastern facies of the Nicola volcanic sequence.  The rocks 
immediately east of the fault are mapped as north-south-trending bedded volcanics.  
 
The IP survey detected two weak chargeability anomalies, each about a kilometre in length along 
the western side of the Summers Creek regional fault.  The known mineralization at the Coke 
and Rum Prospects is enclosed within these anomalies (Figure 9).  A considerably stronger IP 
anomaly follows the eastern side of the fault for two kilometres and is open to the north.  The 
geological environment and the shape of the anomaly suggest two possible interpretations: 1) the 
anomaly is related to mineralization in shearing and fracturing adjacent to the north-striking 
fault; 2) the anomaly reflects graphite in the north-striking bedded rocks.   
 
Anomalous copper and gold soil geochemical values are confined almost entirely to the IP-
anomaly areas.  However, the regional Summers Creek fault occupies an ancient valley that 
contains remnants of Tertiary(?) sedimentary rocks and glacial ice-contact deposits.  Both of 
these are composed of transported material, which is an unsatisfactory soil-sampling medium.  
Accordingly, samples collected over the eastern IP anomaly may not reflect an underlying 
source. 
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Mineralization at the Coke Prospect is composed of disseminated pyrite and chalcopyrite in 
altered microdiorite.  Copper values in three trenches are described in assessment reports (Figure 
9).  The only available information on the results of diamond drilling was a given in MINFILE 
for one hole, which was reported as 0.23% Cu over 83.2 metres.  This result falls within the 
range of the trench samples.  Analysis of gold was not carried out.  More recent rock and soil 
geochemical data indicates that values in gold are highly variable, but that gold is present in the 
samples in approximately the same ratio as at the Ketchan Lake Prospect described later in the 
present report. Coke also shows a close similarity to the Ketchan Lake prospect in that the 
mineralization is hosted by hydrothermally altered microdiorite that apparently has been invaded 
by pre-mineralization intrusive breccia (Christofferson et al., 1971).  
 
It is of particular interest to note that the known mineralization at Coke apparently is closely 
associated with a regional fault that is interpreted to follow the “primordial” Otter Creek fault 
zone.  The northerly extension of this fault intersects the easterly extension of the Ketchan Lake 
porphyry copper-gold system in an area that is interpreted to be overlain by thin, post-
mineralization sedimentary rocks.  This highly prospective area has not been tested by IP 
surveying or by drilling, and the previous geochemical surveys are not meaningful because of 
transported cover. 
 
Zig 3 Prospect 
 
I examined the Zig 3 Prospect area on my first visit to the Property.  As it happened, this also 
was my first introduction to both alkalic intrusive breccia and “brick-red basalt” (BRB).  The 
former was recorded in the region only as localized breccia pipes – e.g., the pipe at the Big Kidd 
deposit, 8 kilometres to the north -- and the latter had not been described previously in the 
literature for the region.  Mapping in the vicinity indicated that the intrusive breccia favourable 
covered an area of at least 600 metres by 400 metres. (The BRB in this area occurs as both 
matrix and fragments in the breccia.  A single fragment is centrally located in the photo in Figure 
10). 
 
It was discovered subsequently that previous work in the immediate area had been carried out by 
Vanco Explorations (Lisle, 1985) and by Rayrock Yellowknife (Gourlay, 1991), inter alia.  The 
designation AZig 3" is the name given to a showing described in MINFILE (#092HNE150).   
The showing is stated to consist of, Anative copper and chalcocite in augite plagioclase 
porphyritic andesite and red volcanic breccia.@  A more detailed examination reveals that the 
chalcocite and native copper appear to be localized in small patches and that disseminated 
chalcopyrite and pyrite are more widely distributed.  A sample of disseminated sulphides taken 
from the relatively unaltered breccia sample shown in Figure 10 assayed 0.34% Cu, 0.06 
grams/tonne Au and 1 gram/tonne Ag.  A sample of malachite-coated material containing some 
chalcocite that was collected nearby assayed 2.6% Cu and 97 g/t Ag.  These very preliminary 
observations suggest that mineralization at the Zig 3 Prospect includes both porphyry Cu-Au and 
redbed Cu types. 
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Rayrock Yellowknife re-sampled a rock trench of unknown provenance during their exploration 
of an area that coincides with the northern and central parts of the Ketchan property.   An assay 
value of 0.3% copper across 25 metres is shown at a locality near the northern border of the Zig 
3 claim on Figure 4.  This obviously corresponds to the Arock@ trench in intrusive breccia shown 
on my sketch.  No description is given in the Rayrock report.   
 
Detailed photo-geological interpretation indicated that the mineralization at the Zig 3 Prospect 
occurs along the margin of a circular structure that almost certainly represents a breccia pipe, one 
of a cluster of coalescent pipes that make up a dome-shaped topographic feature. Geological 
mapping in the area encountered limonitic float several hundred metres to the east along the 
indicated trend of the predominant fracturing in the mineralized road-cut. 
 
Induced Polarization Survey (1991) 
 
Rayrock Yellowknife Resources Ltd. carried out 54 kilometres of induced polarization surveying 
that covered about 30 square kilometres in the central part of the Property (Gourlay, 1990).  It 
was followed up with a poorly conceived 8-hole percussion drilling program that tested small 
portions of four anomalies (Gourlay, 1991).  Disseminated pyrite was encountered in several of 
the holes.  The survey did not cover any of the prospects described in the present report. 
 
The survey was re-interpreted in the light of our current geological concept (See Figure 11).  Six 
anomalous zones of interest were selected by the writer, based in large part on the opinions 
expressed by Phillip Hallof , Consulting Geophysicist, in Gourlay (1990).  Six of the eight 
shallow percussion drill holes were designed to test the two lowest rated anomalies. 
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Zone C is located within an area of fairly abundant outcrops of relatively unaltered 
monzonite/syenite and related breccia.  Three closely spaced holes encountered modest amounts 
of pyrite.  Drilling of Zone D penetrated a valley basalt flow in all three closely spaced holes and 
ended in weakly pyritized “brick-red basalt.  Zone E the southern extension of Zone D”, has not 
been tested.   The single percussion hole on Zone F did not reach bedrock.  This anomaly has 
been dismissed by Gourlay (1990), without any real evidence, as caused by clay minerals in the 
overburden.   
 
In the writer’s opinion, no additional work is warranted on Zones C, D and F at this time.  Field 
checking of the area surrounding Zone E should be undertaken. 
 
I believe that Zones A and Zone B are of considerably greater interest based on their size and on 
the geological setting.  All of the anomalies occur at the western end of the survey lines, mainly 
because the survey reached the property boundary, and presumably they are wider than 
indicated.  The chargeability and resistivity anomalies tend to be coincident on all of the lines 
that cross Zone A and Zone B.  Regarding the most southerly of the lines in Zone A, Hallof (in 
Gourlay, 1990) states that, “the zone of metallic mineralization must be at least 1000 metres in 
width.”  
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A single shallow percussion drill hole at the southern limit of surveying of Zone A comprised the 
entire follow-up on Zones A and B.  The cuttings were examined under the microscope and 
identified as “dacite.”  A detailed description of the rock indicates a fine-textured quartz-feldspar 
porphyry that could be either volcanic, as inferred by Gourlay (1990), or intrusive in origin.  
Lavas of dacitic composition are uncommon in the Central volcanic facies of the Nicola Group.  
However, the description closely matches the quartz-feldspar porphyry at the PAR Prospect. 
 
The photo-geological interpretation indicates that Zones A and B are situated within a broad 
lowland almost devoid of rock exposures that appears to have formed along a north-trending 
deformation zone defined by much greater than average density of faulting.  Granitic rocks of the 
Allison Lake pluton underlie this broad valley about 6 kilometres to the south.  It is reasonable to 
suggest that extensive apophyses of the pluton extend north from the pluton into this area in the 
manner of the quartz-feldspar porphyry that follows Otter Creek for several kilometres north of 
the Par Prospect, along the western margin of the same deformation zone. 
 
A reasonable interpretation for induced polarization Zones A and B is that the low resistivity 
(high conductivity) is due to permeable fractures and shears related to the deformation zone.  The 
chargeability most likely reflects disseminated sulphide minerals.  It should be stressed that IP 
surveys cannot identify economic minerals in the mineralization.  Conventional soil geochemical 
sampling to determine the presence of copper or gold is hindered by the almost universal 
presence of transported overburden in the valley. 
 
The geological model proposed for the area that includes the Zone A and Zone B anomalies 
suggests that the broad, sediment-filled valley west of the range of hills that constitutes the 
southward extension of the Fairweather Hills is underlain by faulted and sheared Nicola volcanic 
rocks intruded by granitic rocks related to the Allison Lake pluton.  [The more resistant rocks of 
the Alkalic Intrusive Complex underlie the topographically prominent Fairweather Hills and 
their southward extension to Missezula Mountain.]  Porphyry copper mineralization is recorded 
within the structural belt at the Mob claims, near the south end of the valley (Figure 7), and at the 
PAR Prospect, along its western margin.  The zone of interest has an average width of 1.5 
kilometres and a length of 8 kilometres. 
 
Shamrock “Mine” Area 
 
The Shamrock “Mine” shipped a token amount of copper ore in 1929.  A program of trenching 
and diamond drilling in 1963 failed to produce encouraging results.  The deposit evidently is of 
the type designated as Volcanic Redbed Copper.  It is interpreted to occur in intrusive breccia of 
the Alkalic Intrusive Complex.  I have not visited the site. 
 
During 1972 Belcarra Explorations Ltd. carried out a soil geochemical sampling program for 
copper that covered an area of about 6 square kilometres surrounding the “mine.”  There was no 
anomalous response at the minesite.  A localized anomaly east of the adits and trenches probably 
reflects downslope movement of copper from dump material. 
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The geochemical survey detected a cluster of 
copper anomalies within an area of about one 
square kilometre.  The strongest portion of the 
anomaly, and the only part that is located within 
the Property lies midway between Shamrock 
“mine” and the south end of Missezula Lake.  
There is no record of any follow-up to the survey. 
 
I have not done any mapping in the immediate 
vicinity of the anomaly.  The photo-geological 
interpretation indicates that the strongest anomaly 
is located in a narrow slice of Nicola volcanic 
rocks along the west side of a branch of the 
Summers Creek fault system. 
 
The anomaly is of sufficient size and intensity to 
warrant serious follow-up exploration. 
 
Ketchan Lake Prospect 
 
Although Ketchan Lake Prospect is by far the 
most intensively explored portion of the Property 
it is treated last in this section of the report, which 
deals mainly with an interpretation of “historical” 
exploration data, in order to juxtapose it with the 
“Drilling” section that covers exploration work 
carried out on behalf of the Owner. 
 
The original discovery was made by Plateau 
Metals Ltd. in 1962.  Geological mapping, 
geophysical surveys and diamond drilling were 
carried out by Plateau Metals and by Adera 

Mining Ltd. in 1966 under an option arrangement.  Bethlehem Copper Corp. acquired the 
Ketchan Lake property in 1973.  Geophysical surveys and drilling were undertaken 
intermittently between 1973 and 1980 by Bethlehem Copper and, during 1991 and 1992, by 
Cominco Ltd, following its takeover of Bethlehem Copper.  Percussion drills of limited depth 
capability were utilized for most of the drilling. 
 
Thirty-seven drill holes were completed within the area surrounding Ketchan Lake (Figure 13).  
Twenty-two of the holes were drilled within a northwest-trending zone that includes the known 
mineralization at the Ketchan Prospect.  This zone is approximately 1.5 kilometres in length by 
0.5 kilometres in width. 
 
The writer carried out geological mapping at Ketchan Lake on behalf of the Owner and Copper 
Belt Resources, the Optionee, during 2005 (Bergey, 2005).  This work indicated that the 
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mineralization was hosted by the largest body of diorite in the Aspen Grove intrusive complex.  
The diorite in the mineralized area has been highly fractured and altered.  Small exposures of 
intrusive breccia, monzonite and syenite were noted in the central part of the zone, but fracturing, 
alteration and a scarcity of outcrops inhibited the delineation of these rock types.  
 
Induced polarization and magnetic surveys were carried out by Plateau-Adera and by Bethlehem-
Cominco.  The results of the various sets of surveys are not in conflict.  Condensed results of the 
most recent geophysical surveys are shown in Figure 13. 
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Both magnetic and IP surveys can provide valuable assistance in the search for mineralization of 
the Alkalic Porphyry Cu-Au type, but in neither case is the information definitive.   
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Magnetite, by far the most significant magnetic mineral, commonly accompanies alkalic 
porphyry-copper-gold mineralization in the form of hydrothermal veins and fracture fillings.  
However, the unmineralized intrusive rocks, particularly diorite, often contain considerable 
amounts of magnetite that was introduced as part of the rock-forming process.  Also, magnetite 
can be destroyed (oxidized to non-magnetic hematite) during post-ore hydrothermal alteration, 
particularly adjacent to major faults (as may have happened at the Coke and Axe Prospects south 
of Ketchan Lake).  Surficial oxidation in the weathering process may also destroy the magnetic 
property of the rock (as appears to be the case at the Afton Cu-Au deposit) but there is no 
evidence of deep surface oxidation in the Ketchan region.  Magnetic anomalies do not have a 
severe depth limitation.  However, the amplitude and definition of anomalies decline with depth 
from the surface. 
 
The most recent (and most complete) ground-based magnetometer survey outlined an anomalous 
zone that coincided with the central and western part of the mineralized area east of Ketchan 
Lake.  The magnetic zone extends to the northwest within the Ketchan Lake valley for an 
additional 1500 metres.  In its western portion it follows the line of a regional fault. The 
anomalous zone comprises a number of rather discontinuous individual magnetic “highs.” This 
type of pattern is not unusual for hydrothermally introduced magnetite.  
 
Chargeability anomalies detected by IP surveys may reflect disseminated sulphide 
mineralization.  However, other materials also are “chargeable.”  In the case of Ketchan Lake, 
the most important of these is graphite.  This conductive mineral is common in the poorly 
delineated sedimentary unit that is present along the south margin of the Ketchan Prospect (Unit 
A? on Figure 13).  It is evident that parts of the IP anomalies in the  Ketchan Lake area are due to 
graphite.  This uncertainty as to the probable source of the anomalies greatly complicates the 
interpretation of the IP surveys. 
 
There are three west-northwest-trending chargeability anomalies.  Anomaly A appears to reflect 
graphite – at least in its western portion, where DDH 75-4 intersected graphitic argillite 
interbedded with pyroclastic volcanic rocks.   The large central anomaly through Ketchan Lake 
is derived from several sources, and I have sub-divided it into Anomalies B and C.  Anomaly B, 
coincides with the known area of mineralization at the Ketchan Lake Prospect. It is open to the 
east.  Anomaly C has at least two sources.  The south-eastern portion overlies sedimentary rocks 
that are known to contain graphite. The valley to the west is underlain by valley basalt and no 
information has been recorded on the four percussion drill holes in the area.  The western part of 
the anomaly is underlain by diorite and intrusive breccia.  DDH 75-5 reported disseminated 
pyrite with very low copper values in intrusive rocks in this area.  Anomaly D is weak and 
localized.  It appears to follow the regional northwest-trending fault that forms the north-eastern 
boundary of the diorite, but it has no known cause. 
 
A significant feature of the geophysical surveys is the divergence of the overlapping magnetic 
and IP anomalies at the western edge of the known mineralization (Figure 13).  The broad IP 
anomaly extends to the west under Ketchan Lake, whereas the magnetic feature continues to the 
northwest.   
 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

October 29, 2012 
Page 95 

 
  

There is a possibility that the absence of a coincident IP anomaly along the northwest trend is 
due in part to the deep cover of younger rocks in this area.  Diamond drill hole 75-2A is the only 
hole along this trend for which information on the geology is available.    DDH 75-2A penetrated 
glacial overburden (0-22m), valley basalt (22-64m) and semi-consolidated valley fill (64-105 m) 
before reaching “bedrock” between 105 and 107 metres, where the hole was lost.  The material is 
described as “soft intrusive bedrock with strong pyrite.  Only a few pieces of rock were 
recovered.  No assaying was carried out.  The hole is located on a magnetic anomaly, but there is 
no IP expression of the pyrite (Figure 13).  There are two earlier percussion holes in the area but 
there is no information on the results of the drilling and no indication that either of them had 
reached intrusive bedrock. 
 
The possibility of southeastwardly extension of the Ketchan Lake mineralized structure has not 
been explored seriously.  The IP survey terminated a short distance east of the most easterly drill 
hole.  A major regional fault has been interpreted about 1500 metres southeast of the drilling 
area.  The intervening ground is mostly covered by glacial ice-contact deposits and by a 
Tertiary? sedimentary outlier.  The Coke Prospect is located adjacent to the same regional fault, 
about 1500 metres south of the projected intersection of the Ketchan Lake mineralized zone with 
the fault. 
 
Complete drill logs and analytical data are available for only the more recent historical drilling B 
i.e. the 1991and 1992 Cominco programs.  The most significant holes were drilled in the eastern 
part of the drilling area.  The locations of the drill holes are shown on Figure 3.   
   
The results of the best Cominco percussion drill holes are as follows (all of the holes were drilled 
vertically):   
   B-10 averaged 0.38% Cu / 0.123 grams/tonne Au over 86.6m (open); 
   B-12 averaged 0.23% Cu / 0.135 grams/tonne Au over 80/5m (open); 
   B-13 averaged 0.13% Cu / 0.126 grams/tonne Au over 90.6m (open); 
   92-1 averaged 0.019% Cu / 0.10 grams/tonne Au over 48.8m (open); 
   92-4 averaged 0.26% Cu /0.124 grams/tonne Au over 81.4m (open); 
   92-6 averaged 0.16$ Cu / 0.155 grams/tonne Au over 89.1m 
 
The locations of the drill holes are shown on Figure 13. 
 
DRILLING 
 
The factual data contained in this section of the report was compiled from Thomson (2007).  The 
author initiated the 2005 program and visited the site from time-to-time during the successive drill 
programs but was not directly involved in their planning or execution. 
 
2005 Diamond Drill Program 
 
In 2005, a diamond drill program was designed to test the area around Cominco percussion drill 
holes B-10 and 92-4, as both holes contained promising copper-gold values over significant 
intervals. The 2005 diamond drill program consisted of 10 drill holes totalling 1202.4 meters and 
was carried out under the direction of G. Thomson, P. Geo. Several of the drill holes, in particular 
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K07-04, K07-07, K07-08 and K07-09, contained significant consistent intervals of moderate to 
locally high grade copper and gold values.  Significant copper/gold intercepts are summarized in 
the following table;  the locations of the drill holes are illustrated on Figure 14. 
 
The results of the 2005 diamond drilling programs are summarized in the following table: 
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Hole No. Location Dip Azimuth Length Elevation       From       To   Width   Copper   Gold 

    (metres) (metres) (metres) (metres) (metres) (%) (g/t) 

K05-01 
676273 
5516895 -90 0 54.0 1373m 6.4 17.4 11.0 0.35 0.11 

           

K05-02 
676273 
5516895 -45 225 54.0 1373m 6.1 17.3 11.2 0.10 0.05 

           

K05-03 
676273 
5516895 -45 45 104.2 1373m Negligible     

           

K05-04 
676412 
5516719 -90 0 109.8 1395m 9.2 109.8 100.7 0.38 0.10 

     Includes 22.0 52.5 30.5 0.58 0.14 

     including 22.0 25.0 3.1 1.00 0.32 

     including 49.4 52.5 3.1 1.32 0.37 

     and 64.7 98.2 33.6 0.51 0.11 

           

K05-05 
676412 
5516719 -45 80 76.2 1395m 22.0 28.0 6.0 0.30 0.08 

      34.2 40.3 6.1 0.88 0.125 

           

K05-06 
676900 
5516048 -90 0 81.4 1370m 

Argillite-  
No samples    

           

K05-07 
676411 
5516721 -60 260 127.4 1395m 22.0 42.1 20.2 0.32 0.14 

     Includes 25.2 26.6 1.4 1.50 0.49 

      50.3 86.0 35.8 0.54 0.19 

     Includes 67.7 70.8 3.1 1.14 0.32 

           

K05-08 
676378, 
5516640 -90 0 236.3 1379m 9.8 107.3 97.5 0.33 0.09 

     Includes 15.9 70.8 54.9 0.42 0.12 

      119.5 122.6 3.1 1.28 0.28 

     (fault zone) 128.65 143.9 15.25 0.46 0.24 

      171.3 177.4 6.1 0.43 0.22 

      217.1 236.3 19.2 0.46 0.36 

     includes 217.1 220.1 3.1 0.17 1.25 

     includes 223.15 232.3 9.15 0.78 0.29 

           

K05-09 
676378, 
5516640 -60 80 171.4 1379m 52.45 74.0 21.55 0.51 0.14 

      101.2 114.2 13.0 0.77 0.15 

     Includes 104.25 110.35 6.1 1.36 0.24 

      142.4 147.0 4.6 0.84 0.32 

           

K05-10 
676273, 
5516886 -45 240 195.7 1373m 128.65 143.9 15.25 0.28 0.07 
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2006 and 2007 Diamond Drill programs 
 
A two-hole diamond drill program, totalling 485.0 metres was carried out on the Ketchan Lake 
mineralized zone during the period November 26 to December 16, 2006. The work was carried out 
under the direction of Equity Engineering Ltd. Drill hole K06-11 was drilled to 339.1 metres 
depth. Anomalous copper values were obtained in drill hole K06-11 with results summarized on 
the following data table. Due to drilling difficulties, drill hole K06-12 was terminated well short of 
its target depth and contained generally insignificant copper or gold values throughout its length of 
145.1 metres. 
 
A diamond drill program was carried out on the Ketchan property during March, 2007 under the 
direction of G. Thomson, P. Geo.  A total of 931 meters of drilling was carried out in five drill 
holes over the drilling period. The majority of these drill holes were drilled beyond the area of the 
significant drill holes of the 2005 drill program and for the most part contained only weak to 
moderate locally anomalous copper+/- gold values. The results of the 2006 and 2007 diamond 
drilling programs are summarized in the following table: 
 
Hole No. Location Dip Az. Length Elev. From To Width Copper          Gold

    (m) (m) (m) (m) (m) (%) (g/t) 

K06-11 
676491, 
5516506 -60 47 339.9 1375 107.65 145.3 37.65 0.24 0.115 

      204.47 241.22 36.75 0.29 0.17 

           

K06-12 
676289, 
5516578 -60 47 145.1 1367.6  Negligible     

           

K07-13 
676553, 
5516856 -60 227 314.9 1404 97.0  105.0 8.0 0.13  

      177.0 181.0 4.0 0.7 0.23 

           

K07-14 
676559, 
5516285 -60 47 172.8 1365 88.0 114.0 26.0 0.2 0.19 

      124.0 134.0 10.0 0.2 0.13 

           

K07-15 
675806, 
5516668 -60 53 68.0 1304 Argillite     

           

K05-16 
676107, 
5516649 -60 47 181.7 1352 130.0 144.0 14.0 0.1 0.1 

           

K05-17 
676008, 
5517294 -90 0 193.55 1337  Negligible     
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The best copper and gold values revealed in the drilling programs were located within a 
northeast-trending zone about 500 metres in length in the central portion of the known 
mineralized area.  All of the “significant” holes from both the historical and recent drilling 
(highlighted on Figures 13 and 14) fall within this zone.  
 
The following account is excerpted from Thomson (2007). 
 

 
 
PetraScience Consultants carried out petrographic analyses on eight core samples taken from 
drill holes DH05-03, 04, 07, 08 and 10 (Dunne & Thompson, 2006).  All of the samples except 
the one from DH05-10 came from holes that contained significant Cu/Au values.  The 
petrographic report states, “Lithologies are dominated by a variety of breccias including 
intrusive breccia and crackle breccia [emphasis mine]. The intrusive breccia comprises 
subrounded to subangular fragments of plagioclase porphyry and locally fine-grained 
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equigranular plagioclase aggregate in a fine to medium-grained, seriate, inequigranular, altered 
intrusive rock.”   
 
The following excerpt describes the alteration and mineralization: 
 

 
 
The only sample of equigranular diorite, the rock type that constitutes the “country rock” in the 
area surrounding the Ketchan Lake Prospect, was taken from DH5-10 which is located along the 
north-western margin of the zone of “significant” mineralization. 
 
I was impressed by the ubiquity of crackle breccia in the small proportion of the core that I 
examined.  Most of the core appeared to be composed of  fine-textured diorite (or “microdiorite” 
– the term preferred by Thomson [2007] in his drilling logs).  Intrusive breccia appeared to be 
much less common.  The identification of intrusive breccia by Dunne & Thompson (2006) in 
copper-gold-rich core in several holes is extremely interesting.  The breccia in these cases was 
quite fine grained.  Most of the intrusive breccia seen in outcrop within the Alkalic Intrusive 
Complex is much coarser-textured.  However, similar material to that described in petrographic 
study is not uncommon.  It appears to be related mainly to margins of breccia pipes.  In the 
present case, it is possible that the intrusive breccia represents localized injections. 
 
My interpretation based on the recent drilling is that small bodies of intrusive breccia intruded 
into the diorite, which appears to be the earliest phase of the Alkalic Intrusive Complex.  The 
crackle breccia may have been a consequence of this injection.  These two breccia types would 
constitute a favourable site for later introduction of the mineralization.  This setting –i.e., 
localized pipes closely associated with alkalic porphyry copper-gold deposits -- is common in the 
zone extending from Copper Mountain to Kamloops, and at the Mount Polley mine in the 
equivalent belt to the north.  The intimate association of intrusive breccia with these deposits has 
been understated in the literature. A good description of a breccia pipe at the Pothook Mine, 
located close to the Afton Mine, is given by Stanley et al. (1994): “In the center of the open pit, 
and seen only in drill core, there is a large body of hydrothermal breccia that contains rotated 
clasts of Pothook diorite, Cherry Creek monzonite, Sugarloaf diorite, and Nicola volcanics in a 
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matrix of rock flour.  In places, especially toward the center of the breccia, these clasts are well 
rounded due to milling, range in size from 5 to 100 millimetres, and are clast supported.  Toward 
the margins of the breccia, fragments are larger and more angular.”  The economic 
mineralization at the mine was emplaced both in the intrusive breccia and in crackle breccia in 
the intruded rocks. 
 
SAMPLING METHOD AND APPROACH 
 
Sampling of the drill core was carried out after logging by the geologist.  The samples were 
selected on the basis of visible mineralization.  The sampling interval in most cases was 2.0 
metres.   
 
To my knowledge there are no sampling or recovery factors that might impact the accuracy and 
reliability of the results. 
 
The sample selection was based on a visual evaluation of the amount of chalcopyrite in the core.   
 
A summary of relevant samples is shown on the tables in the previous section of this report and 
illustrated on Figure 14.  The structural controls for the mineralization are not clearly understood.  
Accordingly, it is not possible to estimate true widths without more detailed drilling.  
 
SAMPLE PREPARATION, ANALYSES AND SECURITY 
 
The sample preparation for the 2005 and 2007 drilling programs was done under the direct 
supervision of G. Thomson, P.Geo., an independent Consulting Geologist.  The 2006 program 
was directed by Equity Engineering Ltd., also independent of the issuer. 
 
The core was split in half lengthwise under the supervision of the geologist and one portion was 
bagged for delivery to the laboratory.  The remainder of the core was stored in a padlocked steel-
container core-storage unit for re-examination and for re-assay, if required.  Crushing, grinding 
and assaying of the core samples were carried out by EcoTech Laboratory Ltd. of Kamloops, 
B.C. 
 
The analyses for copper were run by Atomic Absorption and for gold by fire assay with Atomic 
Absorption finish.  Standard quality control procedures were used:  one repeat every 9 samples, 
one re-grind and re-assay every 35 samples, one standard check every 35 samples. No corrective 
actions were reported. 
 
In my opinion, the security and analytical procedures were adequate. 
 
DATA VERIFICATION 
 
I visited the Property at various times during the drilling period, and I have examined sections of 
the core that contained significant copper values.  The assays quoted in the present report appear 
to reflect the amounts of observed chalcopyrite in the core.  Based on my experience with similar 
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deposits the metal values appear to be consistent with the geological environment and with the 
results of previous drilling in the immediate area. 
 
ADJACENT PROPERTIES 
 
Information on several nearby properties has been mentioned in this report.  These references 
were made in conformity with the 43-101F Technical Report guidelines for this section. 
 
MINERAL PROCESSING & METALLURGICAL TESTING 
 
No mineral processing or metallurgical testing has been carried out. 
 
MINERAL RESOURCE & MINERAL RESERVE ESTIMATES 
 
No mineral resource or mineral reserve estimates have been made. 
 
INTERPRETATION & CONCLUSIONS 
 
Large alkalic intrusive complexes that include major amounts of intrusive breccia have been 
identified by the author in the Kamloops and Aspen Grove areas, and they are reported in the  
Copper Mountain mining area south of Ketchan, and at the Mount Polley mine, north of 
Kamloops.  The evidence that all of the known alkalic copper-gold mines within this region are 
enclosed by or are associated with the complexes suggests that they play an important role in the 
genesis of deposits this type.  Economic copper-gold deposits have not been identified in the 
vicinity of the Aspen Grove Alkalic Intrusive Complex.  However, both the Big Kidd 
[Christopher James Gold Corp.] and the Axe [Weststar Resources Ltd.] are advanced exploration 
projects that have published resource estimates.  
 
The Ketchan Lake porphyry copper-gold system has received by far the most exploration work 
of any of the mineral prospects on the Property.  The most recent exploration at Ketchan Lake 
followed up on the results of “historic” drilling.  The strongest and most consistent mineralized 
zone encountered in the drilling was intersected in 8 drill hole.  It has a length of about 500 
metres and has been tested to a depth of more than 250 metres.  The drilling density has been 
insufficient to determine the true width of this block or to calculate an indicated resource.  
Additional drilling within and adjacent to the zone definitely is warranted by the results of the 
drilling. 
 
Core logging and a petrographic analysis suggest that the higher-grade drill intersections are 
associated with the injection of intrusive breccia into older diorite of the Intrusive Igneous 
Complex.  This association is a common, and perhaps essential, phenomenon in the genesis of 
alkalic porphyry copper-gold orebodies within the region.  It also has been observed at the Coke 
Prospect in the southern part of the Property. 
 
Core logging indicated a strong association of magnetite with the more significant mineralized 
intersections. Anomalies in ground magnetic surveys correlated with the mineralized zone, but 
extended well beyond the best mineralized areas.  In particular, the surveys indicated that the 
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anomalous indications extended to the northwest for at least 1.5 kilometres, beyond the 
chargeability anomaly that is coincident with the known mineralized zone.  This extension is 
located mainly in the Ketchan Lake valley where the overburden is known to reach a depth of 
more than 100 metres.  A weak chargeability anomaly was noted at the north-western end of the 
magnetic anomaly.  There is a possibility that the previous induced polarization survey did not 
detect mineralization within the deepest part of the valley due to the physical properties of the 
overburden.   
 
A semi-continuous mineralized zone that includes the Coke and Rum Prospects follows the 
major Summers Creek fault zone that separates the Central and Eastern Facies of the Nicola 
volcanic rocks, and large portions of the Axe Developed Prospect appear to be associated with 
sheared zones that are associated with the same structure.  The Summers Creek fault is 
interpreted to intersect the south-eastern extension of the Ketchan Lake mineralized zone about 
1.5 kilometres from the nearest drill hole. This area is almost entirely covered by Tertiary? 
sediments and by late-glacial ice contact deposits. [The induced polarization survey did not 
extend to the southeast beyond the area tested by drilling.] 
 
Contemporary induced polarization techniques are capable of providing reliable chargeability 
data for possible drill targets below the deepest drill holes at the Ketchan Lake Prospect  The 
technique will readily penetrate the fairly deep cover of conductive overburden in the highly 
favourable areas to the northwest and to the southeast.  An IP survey that would increase the 
length of the area tested along the Ketchan Lake mineralized trend by three kilometres is 
warranted.  Conventional geochemical sampling along the mineralized trend would be unhelpful 
since the bedrock in almost all of the untested area is covered by transported overburden.  
However, the metallic metal ion (MMI) analytical technique has proven to be capable of 
detecting buried mineralization under a very considerable depth of cover. 
 
The PAR Prospect has been tested by a moderate amount of drilling, but I believe that much of 
the drilling was wasted due to a flawed deposit model.  Several significant intersections of 
copper-gold-silver that were obtained close to the regional Otter Creek fault were not followed 
up, and the fault zone itself was not tested.  The known mineralization was emplaced within a 
circular zone of brecciation.  The breccia is unlike that in the abundant breccia pipes of the 
Alkalic Intrusive Complex, but it could represent a zone of fracturing above a breccia pipe of 
unknown affiliation.  Deeper testing of the Otter Creek fault and the breccia zone are warranted.  
 
The Coke Prospect has received a considerable amount of technical surveying but very little drill 
testing.  The cause of the strong chargeability anomaly east of the regional fault has not been 
determined, and this area and the northern extension of the zone are covered partly by 
transported overburden, which reduced the effectiveness of the geochemical survey.  Detailed 
geological mapping covering the area from the Coke Prospect east to Summers Creek would 
provide a foundation for exploration of this relatively untested area, which includes the 
Shamrock mine. The “mine” itself is of no obvious exploration interest.  However, the strong 
copper geochemical anomaly to the north deserves a detailed surface examination.  Additional 
geochemical sampling is warranted in order to determine whether gold accompany the copper in 
this anomaly area since there are indications of gold related to shear zones in volcanic rocks in 
this part of the region.   
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The results of trenching and sampling of the Zig 3 Prospect indicated significant copper 
mineralization along two trenches, each greater than 100 metres in length, but the true width of 
the mineralization and its strike continuity are unknown.  Unlike the extensions of the Ketchan 
Lake and Coke prospect areas, overburden is thin in the vicinity of Zig 3 Prospect.  Conventional 
geochemical soil sampling, in conjunction with prospecting and geological mapping, is an 
obvious choice prior to drilling. 
 
The lowland area between the Otter Creek fault and the Fairweather Hills in the western part of 
the Property is interpreted to be underlain by a north-south zone of regional faulting in Nicola 
volcanic rocks that has been invaded by granitic rocks of the Allison Lake pluton.  This area has 
been designated as the “Western Deformation Zone” (WD Zone) for easy reference.]  An 
induced polarization survey within a portion of the zone outlined two wide chargeability and 
resistivity anomaly areas.  The IP anomalies are open in all directions.  The resistivity “lows” 
may reflect shearing related to the deformation zone. There is no information on the cause of the 
chargeability anomalies.  However, a number of porphyry copper indications (the “Mob” 
showings) occur in calc-alkaline granitic rocks of the Allison pluton at the southern end of the 
deformation zone.  North-south faults appear to be associated with the major copper deposits of 
the Highland Valley that are hosted by similar calc-alkaline rocks.  The extensive anomalous IP 
indications within the north-south WD zone represent attractive exploration targets that have not 
been tested in the past.  Serious follow-up exploration is warranted.  It should include diamond 
drilling to assist in the determination of the cause of the anomalous indications prior to carrying 
out geophysical and geochemical surveying of the entire WD zone, which has a north-south 
length of 7 kilometres.   
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5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information  
 
Selected Annual Information 
 
The following table provides a brief summary of the Company’s financial operations.  
 
Year Ended 
 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 June 30, 2010 
Net income (loss) ($729,213) $746,916 ($721,208) 
Basic and diluted income 
(loss) per share 

(0.01) 0.01 (0.02) 

Total assets 2,346,839 2,400,518 1,552,896 
The Company’s assets increased in 2011 primarily due to an increase in mineral property costs. The loss increased during 2012 
primarily due to an increase in office and miscellaneous expense, realized loss of marketable securities, write-off of goodwill 
offset by a gain on disposition of the Highland Valley Property. The income increased during 2011 primarily due to a gain on the 
Highland Valley property.  

 
Summary of Quarterly Results  
 
Three Month Period Ended 
 June 30, 2012 March 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 September 30, 2011 
Total assets $2,346,839 $2,571,980 $3,059,144 $2,410,737 
Mineral property costs 1,149,492 1,110,849 1,092,321 1,091,012 
Working capital 511,470 900,006 1,389,448 817,323 
Shareholders equity 1,664,962 1,901,936 2,372,850 1,799,416 
Net income (loss) (46,974) (145,914) (453,533) (83,792) 
Income (loss) per share (0.00) (0.00) (0.01) (0.000) 

 
Three Month Period Ended 
 June 30, 2011 March 31, 2011 December 31, 2010 September 30, 2010 
Total assets $2,400,518 $1,692,992 $1,638,449 $1,638,484 
Mineral property costs 1,088,101 1,731,697 1,600,659 1,552,111 
Working capital 1,008,026 (67,311) (58,127) (22,311) 
Shareholders equity 1,983,208 1,559,185 1,542,532 1,529,800 
Net income (loss) 1,006,523 (83,347) (87,268) (88,992) 
Income (loss) per share 0.013 (0.001) (0.001) (0.001) 
The Company’s business is not seasonal. The Company’s exploration projects are located in British Columbia and Ireland and 
exploration can be conducted year round subject to the availability of financing. The financial data for the quarters ended June 
30, 2012, March 31, 2012, December 31, 2011, and September 30, 2011 has been prepared in accordance with IFRS and the 
financial data for all previous quarters was prepared in accordance with GAAP.     

 
6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 

Overall Performance  
 

 During the year ended June 30, 2012 the Company spent $58,641 on mineral property costs on 
the Ketchan Property compared to $100,251 during the year ended June 30, 2011. Information 
regarding the Ketchan Property is described in Results of Operations. 
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 During the year ended June 30, 2012 the Company spent $2,750 on mineral property costs on the 
Mace Property compared to $2,750 during the year ended June 30, 2011. Information regarding 
the Mace Property is described in Results of Operations. 

 
 The Company had a loss of $729,213 (2011–income of $746,916) during the year ended June 30, 

2012. The Company raised $175,000 from financing activities during the year ended June 30, 
2012 compared to $429,500 raised from financing activities during the year ended June 30, 2011. 
As at June 30, 2012 the Company had working capital of $511,470 compared to working capital 
of $1,008,026 as at June 30, 2011. 
  
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
The Company relies on private placements to finance its operating activities and exploration 
programs. 
 

 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 
Working capital (deficiency) $511,470 $1,008,026 
Retained earnings (deficit) (703,505) 25,708 

 
Net cash used for operating activities for the year ended June 30, 2012 was $505,087 compared 
to $333,397 during the years ended June 30, 2011.  
 
Net cash received from investing activities for the year ended June 30, 2012 was $255,668 
compared to cash used of $121,654 for the year ended June 30, 2011.   

Financing activities provided cash of $175,000 during the year ended June 30, 2012 compared to 
cash of $429,500 for the year ended June 30, 2011.  
 
Phase 1 of the exploration program on the Company’s properties has an estimated cost of 
USD$1,439,000. The Company proposes to finance the exploration program from the net 
proceeds of further private placements.  
 
Related Party Transactions 

During the year ended June 30, 2012, management fees of $120,000 (2011 – $120,000) was paid 
to Gary R. Brown, the CEO the Company. 

During the year ended June 30, 2012, management fees of $120,000 (2011– $120,000) was paid 
to Bradley L. Jones, the CFO the Company. 

During the year ended June 30, 2012, rent of $36,000 (2011 – $36,000) was paid to Bradley L. 
Jones, the CFO the Company. 
 
Critical Accounting Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the application of policies and reported 
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amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements, along with reported amounts of expenses and net losses during the period.   
Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates and assumptions relate to the 
recoverability of exploration and evaluation assets, deferred income tax, provision for 
environmental rehabilitation and assumptions used in valuing options in share-based 
compensation calculations.  Actual results could different from those estimates. 
 
Financial Instruments and Risk 
 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, marketable securities, HST recoverable, 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities, advances payable and due from (to) related parties.  
Cash and marketable securities are carried at fair value using a level 1 fair value measurement.  
HST recoverable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, advances payable and due from (to) 
related parties approximated their carrying values due to the short-term nature of these 
instruments. 
 
(a) Credit risk 
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk 
consist primarily of cash and HST recoverable. The Company limits its exposure to credit loss by 
placing its cash with high credit quality financial institutions. The carrying amount of financial 
assets represents the maximum credit exposure. HST recoverable is due from the Government of 
Canada, and therefore, the credit risk exposure is low.   
 
(b) Foreign exchange risk 
 
The Company operates in Canada and Ireland, but has all of its cash held in Canada in Canadian 
dollars.  Future exploration programs and option payments may be denominated in foreign 
currency.  Foreign exchange risk arises from purchase transactions as well as financial assets and 
liabilities denominated in these foreign currencies. 
 
The Company does not use derivative instruments to hedge exposure to foreign exchange rate 
risk.  However, management of the Company believes that there is no significant exposure to 
foreign currency fluctuations.   
 
(c) Interest rate risk 
 
Advances payable and the amounts due to related parties are non-interest bearing.  The Company 
does not have other financial liabilities.  Therefore, interest rate is minimal.   
 
(d) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 
they become due. The Company requires funds to finance its business development activities. In 
addition, the Company, from time to time, needs to raise equity financing to carry out its 
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exploration programs. There is no assurance that financing will be available or, if available, that 
such financings will be on reasonable terms. 
 
(e) Market Risk 
 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, 
investment fluctuations, and commodity and equity prices. Market conditions will cause 
fluctuations in the fair values of financial assets classified as held-for-trading, available-for-sale 
and cause fluctuations in the fair value of future cash flows for assets or liabilities classified as 
held-to-maturity, loans or receivables and other financial liabilities. The Company is exposed to 
market risk in trading its investments, and unfavorable market conditions could result in 
dispositions of investments at less than favorable prices. The Company’s investments are 
accounted for as available-for-sale and are sensitive to changes in market prices, such that 
changes in market prices result in a proportionate change in the carrying value of the Company’s 
investments. The Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risk as the Company’s has 
no interest bearing debt. The Company’s ability to raise capital to fund mineral resource 
exploration is subject to risks associated with fluctuations in mineral resource prices. 
Management closely monitors commodity prices, individual equity movements, and the stock 
market to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company. 
 
7. Market for Securities 
 

 The Issuer’s securities are listed for trading on the CNSX under the symbol MOG. 
 
8. Consolidated Capitalization 
 
 The outstanding share capital of the Issuer is summarized in the table below: 
 
Designation of 
security 

Authorized Outstanding as at October 29, 2012 

Common shares Unlimited 71,251,333 
Options Nil Nil 
Warrants Nil 13,941,666 

Total outstanding shares fully  
diluted  

N/A 
85,192,999 

 
9. Options to Purchase Securities 
 

 There are nil stock options outstanding as of October 29, 2012.   
 
10. Description of the Securities 
 
 As of the date of this Listing Statement there are 71,251,333 common shares issued and 

outstanding.  The authorized capital of the Issuer consists of an unlimited number of 
common shares without par value, having the following material characteristics: 
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 Common Shares 
 
 The holders of common shares are entitled to dividends as and when declared by the 

directors of the Issuer.  They are also entitled to one vote per share on all matters at all 
meetings of the shareholders of the Issuer and, upon liquidation, are entitled to receive 
such assets of the Issuer as are distributable pro rata to the holders of the common shares.  
There are no pre-emptive rights or conversion rights attached to the common shares.  
There are also no redemption or purchase for cancellation or surrender provisions, 
sinking or purchase fund provisions, or any provisions as to modification, amendment or 
variation of any such rights or provisions attached to the common shares. 

 
 Prior Sales Past 12 Months 
 
 The following table summarizes all securities issued by the Issuer during the twelve (12) 

months preceding the date of this Listing Statement: 
 

Date of Issuance Type of 
Security Issued 

Number of 
Securities Issued

Price Per 
Security 

Total Funds 
Received  

October 2012 Units(1) 500,000 $0.05 $25,000 
June 2012 Units(2) 2,000,000 $0.05 $100,000 
Nov 2011 
 

Units(3) 

 
750,000 
 

$0.10 
 

$75,000 

(1) Each unit consists of one common share and one warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to acquire an 
additional common share at an exercise price of $0.10 per share on or before October 12, 2013. 

(2) Each unit consists of one common share and one warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to acquire an 
additional common share at $0.10 per share on or before June 29, 2013. 

(3) Each unit consists of one common share and one warrant.  Each warrant entitles the holder to acquire an 
additional common share at $0.10 on or before January 9, 2013 and thereafter at an exercise price of $0.20 
per share on or before January 9, 2014. 

  
Stock Exchange Price 

 
Month High Low Volume 
October 2012 - - - 
September 2012 $0.05 $0.05 2,575 
August 2012 $0.06 $0.01 111,002 
July 2012 - - Nil 
June 2012 $0.10 $0.005 18,750 
May 2012 $0.10 $0.05 128,125 
April 2012 $0.10 $0.10 50,325 
March 2012 $0.15 $0.09 17,000 
February 2012 $0.15 $0.05 120,500 
January 2012 $0.25 $0.05 121,502 
The shares were listed on the CNSX on January 9, 2012. 
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11. Escrowed Securities 
 
 Pursuant to the escrow agreement between the Issuer, Computershare Trust Company and 

the principals of the Issuer, 10% of the escrowed shares will be released from escrow on 
the date the common shares are listed on the CNSX, and 15% every six months thereafter, 
subject to acceleration provisions provided for in National Policy 46-201 – Escrow for 
Initial Public Offerings. 

 
 Pursuant to an additional voluntary escrow agreement between the Issuer, Computershare 

Trust Company and certain shareholders of the Issuer, 15% of the escrowed shares will be 
released from escrow on the date the common shares are listed on the CNSX, and 
thereafter 15% will be released every 6 months with the remaining 10% to be released 
during the last 6 month period of the entire 36 month escrow period. 

 
 The following table sets out the number of securities held in escrow pursuant to the escrow 

agreement among the Issuer, Computershare Trust Company, and certain shareholders of 
the Issuer: 

 
 ESCROWED SECURITIES 
 
Designation of class held in 
escrow 

Number of securities held in 
escrow 

Percentage of class 

Common 42,940,000 60.3% 
 

12. Principal Shareholders  
 
 To the knowledge of the directors and officers of the Issuer, upon the completion of the 

amalgamation, the following persons will own or exercise control or direction over 
securities of the Issuer carrying more than 10% of the votes attached to the securities: 

 
Shareholder and 
Municipality of 
Residence 

Number of Common Shares 
and Stock Options 

Percentage of Common Shares 
Beneficially Owned 

Gary Brown, 
Chemainus, British 
Columbia 

Common shares – 
19,998,000(1) 
Stock options - nil 

28.1% 

Bradley L. Jones, 
Toronto, Ontario 

Common shares – 9,882,000
Stock options - nil 

13.9% 

(1) Mr. Brown directly owns 498,000 common shares and indirectly owns or exercises control or direction 
over 19,500,000 common shares of the Issuer. 
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13. Directors and Officers 
 

 Name, Address, Occupation and Security Holding 
 
 The following table provides the names, municipalities of residence, position, principal 

occupations and the number of voting securities that each director and officer of the 
Issuer beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, or exercises control over, as of the date 
hereof: 

  
Name, 

Province and 
Municipality 
of Residence 

Principal Occupation or Employment During 
the Past 5 Years 

Current 
Position(s) with 
the Company 

Director/Off
icer 

Since 

Number of 
common 

shares held 

Gary R. 
Brown 
Chemainus, 
British 
Columbia 

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 
of MOAG; self-employed exploration project 
manager February 2006 to February 2011 

President, Chief 
Executive Officer 
and Director 

August 2009 19,998,000 

Bradley L. 
Jones, 
Toronto, 
Ontario 

Chartered Accountant, Chief Financial Officer, 
Chief Operating Officer, Secretary and Director 
of MOAG; President and Chief Financial 
Officer of Stealth Minerals Limited from 
October 1996 to March 2009 and Cascadero 
Copper Corporation from December 2004 to 
March 2009 

Chief Financial 
Officer, Chief 
Operating Officer, 
Secretary and 
Director 

August 2009 9,882,000 

Greg R. 
Thomson 
Langley, 
British 
Columbia 

Self-employed consulting geologist from 
February 2006 to present; Director of MOAG 

Director April 2010 Nil 

Notes: 
The members of the Audit Committee are  Bradley L. Jones,  Greg R. Thomson and Gary R. Brown.  Bradley L. Jones is the 
chair of the Audit Committee.  Moag has not established a Compensation Committee. 
 
Unless otherwise stated, each of the above proposed directors has held the principal occupation 
or employment indicated for the past five years. 
 
The above information has been furnished by the respective directors individually. 
 
No proposed director: 
 

(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied the other 
Issuer access to any exemptions under Ontario securities law, for a period of more 
than 30 consecutive days; 

 
(b) was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer ceased 

to be a director or executive officer, in the company being the subject of a cease 
trade or similar order or an order that denied the relevant company access to any 
exemption under securities legislation, for a period of more than 30 consecutive 
days; 
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(c) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee 
appointed to hold its assets; 

 
(d) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, 

made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was 
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with 
creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its 
assets; or has 
 

(e) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian 
securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has 
entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian securities regulatory 
authority; or 

 
(f) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory 

body that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor 
making an investment decision. 

 
Conflicts of Interest 
  
Some of the directors and officers of the Issuer are also directors, officers and/or promoters of 
other reporting and non-reporting issuers.  Accordingly, conflicts of interest may arise which 
could influence these persons in evaluating possible acquisitions or in generally acting on behalf 
of the Issuer, notwithstanding that they are bound by the provisions of the Canada Business 
Corporations Act to act at all times in good faith in the best interests of the Issuer and to disclose 
such conflicts to the Issuer if and when they arise. 
 
The Issuer has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”) which is intended to 
document the principles of conduct and ethics to be followed by the Issuer’s directors, officers 
and employees.  The purpose of the Code is to: 
 
1. Promote integrity and deter wrongdoing. 
2. Promote honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual or apparent 

conflicts of interest. 
3. Promote avoidance of absence of conflicts of interest. 
4. Promote full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in public 

communications made by the Issuer. 
5. Promote compliance with applicable governmental laws, rules and regulations. 
6. Promote and provide a mechanism for the prompt, internal reporting of departures from 

the Code. 
7. Promote accountability for adherence to the Code. 
8. Provide guidance to the Issuer’s directors, officers and employees to help them recognize 

and deal with ethical issues. 
9. To help foster a culture of integrity, honesty and accountability throughout the Issuer. 
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Management  
 
Further information on the business experience and professional qualifications of the Issuer’s 
directors, officers and promoters is set forth below: 
 
Gary R. Brown – CEO and President, Director 
 
Gary R. Brown serves as the President, Chief Executive Officer and as a director of MOAG. Mr. 
Brown has worked in the mining industry for over 25 years and has had his Prospectors License 
since 1985. He has managed exploration projects for junior mining companies in British 
Columbia and Ireland and brings extensive experience in both exploration and execution to 
MOAG`s properties. Mr. Brown will have primary responsibility for the coordination of the 
Corporation’s exploration efforts. Mr. Brown dedicates approximately 90% of his time to 
MOAG and has not entered into any non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with MOAG. 
 
Bradley L. Jones – Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Secretary and 
Director 
 
Bradley L. Jones, C.A. serves as the Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Secretary 
and as a director of MOAG. Mr. Jones received a Bachelor of Arts in Business Administration 
from Bishop’s University in Sherbrooke, Quebec in 1968. From 1968-1971, Mr. Jones attended 
McGill University and was awarded his Chartered Accountant’s designation in 1972. He is a 
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario. From 1978-1990 Mr. Jones was a 
partner at the accounting firm KPMG with responsibility for major client engagements and for 
coordination of the firm’s work in the securities industry. From 1990-1993, Mr. Jones was a 
senior member of the Corporate Finance Department of PricewaterhouseCoopers responsible for 
client advisory services including public and private financings, restructurings, mergers, 
acquisitions, valuations and related fairness opinions. In 1996 Mr. Jones was a founder of Stealth 
Minerals Limited and as its President, Chairman and Chief Financial Officer, was responsible for 
the company accumulating one of the largest land holdings in British Columbia. He also served 
as President, Chairman and Chief Financial Officer of Cascadero Copper Corporation from its 
inception in 2004 until 2009. Both Stealth Minerals and Cascadero Copper are listed on the TSX 
Venture Exchange. Mr. Jones was also a founder and director of Softquad International Limited, 
another TSX Exchange listed company. Mr. Jones is presently involved in private practice in the 
corporate finance field where he is a founder and director of MOAG. Finally Mr. Jones is a 
director of Highbank Resources Limited, a public company, listed on the TSX Venture 
Exchange. Mr. Jones dedicates approximately 90% of his time to MOAG and has not entered 
into any non-competition or nondisclosure agreement with MOAG. 
 
Greg R. Thomson – Director 
 
Greg R. Thomson serves as a director of MOAG. Mr. Thomson, a project geologist with proven 
ability to evaluate mineral properties and to carry out project work, ranging from grassroots level 
to advanced diamond drilling programs holds a B.Sc. (Geology) (1970) and a British Columbia 
Teaching Certificate (Recertification). He has been a Contract Exploration Geologist since 2000. 
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Prior to 2000 he was employed by various major mining companies. Mr. Thomson is a member 
of the Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of British Columbia, The 
Association for Mineral Exploration, British Columbia, the Kamloops Exploration Group, and 
the Chamber of Mines of Eastern British Columbia. Mr. Thomson dedicates less than 10% of his 
time to MOAG and has not entered into any non- competition or non-disclosure agreement with 
MOAG. 
 
14. Capitalization 

 Issued Capital 
 Number of 

Securities 
(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 
(fully-
diluted) 

%of 
Issued 
(non-
diluted) 

% of 
Issued  
(fully diluted) 

Public Float 
 

    

Total outstanding (A)  71,251,333 85,192,999 100% 100% 
     
Held by Related Persons or 
employees of the Issuer or 
Related Person of the Issuer, or 
by persons or companies who 
beneficially own or control, 
directly or indirectly, more 
than a 5% voting position in 
the Issuer (or who would 
beneficially own or control, 
directly or indirectly, more 
than a 5% voting position in 
the Issuer upon exercise or 
conversion of other securities 
held) (B) 

29,880,000 29,880,000 41.9% 35.1% 

     
Total Public Float (A-B) 41,371,333 55,312,999 58.1% 64.9% 
     
Freely-Tradeable Float 
 

    

Number of outstanding 
securities subject to resale 
restrictions, including 
restrictions imposed by 
pooling or other 
arrangements or in a 
shareholder agreement and 
securities held by control 
block holders (C)  

19,075,000 19,075,000 26.8% 22.4% 
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Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 22,296,333 36,237,999 31.3% 42.5% 
 
 
Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are persons other 
than persons enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart. List registered holders only. 
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 
     
1 – 99 securities  1  1 
     
100 – 499 securities  4  876 
     
500 – 999 securities  2  1,375 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities     
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  3  7,500 
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  1  4,333 
     
5,000 or more  securities  75  42,969,249 
     
  86  42,983,334 
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Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "non-public securityholders" are persons 
enumerated in section (B) of the issued capital chart.  
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 
     
1 – 99 securities     
     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities     
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities     
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities     
     
5,000 or more  securities  3  28,288,000 
     
  3  28,288,000 

 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

October 29, 2012 
Page 119 

 
  

Warrants 
 

Number of Common Shares  
Issuable upon the exercise of 
Warants 

Exercise Price Expiry Date 

625,000 $0.30 January 9, 2013 
1,750,000 $0.10 

$0.20 
January 9, 2013 
January 9, 2014 

3,016,666 
 

$0.15 
$0.25 

January 9, 2013 
January 9, 2014 

1,175,000 
 

$0.20 
$0.30 

January 9, 2013 
January 9, 2014 

625,000 $0.25 January 9, 2014 
4,250,000 $0.25 

$0.50 
January 9, 2013 
January 9, 2014 

2,000,000 $0.10 June 29, 2013 
500,000 $0.10 October 12, 2013 
13,941,666   

 
There are no common shares reserved for issuance that are not included in the table above. 
 
15. Executive Compensation 
 
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
 
Under this heading, the Company is including the disclosure required by Form 51-102F6 Statement of Executive 
Compensation. 
 
For the purposes of this Information Circular, Named Executive Officers of the Company means the following 
individuals (the “Named Executive Officers”): 
 
(a) the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”); 
 
(b) the Company’s Chief Financial Officer (the “CFO”) 
 
(c) each of the Company’s three most highly compensated executive officers, or the three most highly 

compensated individuals acting in a similar capacity, other than the CEO and CFO, at the end of the most 
recently completed financial year whose total compensation (see “Summary of Compensation”) was, 
individually, more than $150,000 as determined in accordance with subsection 1.3(6) of Form 51-102F6 – 
Statement of Executive Compensation for that financial year; and  

 
(d) each individual who would be a Named Executive Officer under paragraph (c) but for the fact that the 
 individual was neither an executive officer of the Company, nor acting in a similar capacity, at the end 
 of that financial year.  
 
As at June 30, 2012, the end of the most recently completed fiscal year of the Company, the Company has two 
Named Executive Officers, Gary Brown, the CEO of the Company and Bradley L. Jones, the Chief Financial Officer 
of the Company.   
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Compensation Discussion and Analysis 
 
The Board reviews and gives final approval with respect to compensation paid to the Company’s Named Executive 
Officers. Because the Company is an early-stage exploration company, the Board does not feel that the Company’s 
size warrants a compensation committee to evaluate compensation. 
 
The Company’s compensation objectives include the following: 
 

 to assist the Company in attracting and retaining highly-qualified individuals; 
 

 to create among directors, officers, consultants and employees a sense of ownership in the Company and to 
align their interests with those of the shareholders; and 

 
 to ensure competitive compensation that is also financially affordable for the Company.  

 
The compensation program is designed to provide competitive levels of compensation. The Company recognizes the 
need to provide a total compensation package that will attract and retain qualified and experienced executives as 
well as align the compensation level of each executive to that executive’s level of responsibility. In general, the 
Company’s Named Executive Officers may receive compensation that is comprised of two components: 
 

 Salary or consulting fees; and 
 

 Stock option grants. 
 
The objectives and reasons for this system of compensation are to allow the Company to remain competitive 
compared to its peers in attracting experienced personnel. The salaries are set on a basis of a review and comparison 
of salaries paid to executives at similar companies. 
 
Stock option grants are designed to reward the Named Executive Officers for success on a similar basis as the 
shareholders of the Company, although the level of reward provided by a particular stock option grant is dependent 
upon the volatile stock market. 
 
Mr. Brown and Mr. Jones receive compensation by way of an annual salary and the issuance of stock options. This 
compensation was premised on the objective of retaining their services, motivating a high level of performance and 
rewarding them for their achievements and loyalty. All elements of compensation to both Named Executive Officers 
were approved by the Board and reflects each individual’s responsibilities to the Company.    
 
Option-Based Awards 
 
The Board believes that eligible persons working with the Company as Named Executive Officers, directors, 
consultants or employees should have a stake in the Company’s future and that their interests should be aligned with 
the interests of the shareholders. To this end, the Board determines the overall amount of stock option grants and 
reviews and recommends to the Board the allocation of such grants to directors, officers, consultants and employees, 
primarily based on whose decisions and actions can have the greatest impact on the Company’s performance. 
 
These option-based awards are granted under the Company’s Stock Option Plan. The Company considers previous 
grants of stock options when considering new grants. 
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Defined Benefit or Actuarial Plan Disclosure 
 
The Company does not have a defined benefit or actuarial plan under which benefits are determined by final 
compensation of years of service of the Company’s officers and key employees. 
 
Pension Plans  
 
The Company does not provide a pension plan for directors or executive officers. 
 
Summary Compensation Table 
 
The following table is a summary of compensation paid to the Named Executive Officers for the financial years 
ended June 30, 2012, June 30, 2011 and June 30, 2010.   
 

Name 
and 

principal 
position 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Year 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Salary 
($)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Share-
based 

awards 
($) 

 
 
 

Option-
based 

awards 
($) 

 
 
 

Non-equity incentive 
plan compensation 

($) 
 

Pension 
value 

($) 
 
 
 
 

All other 
compensation 

($) 
 
 
 
 

Total 
compensation 

($) 
 
 
 
 

Annual 
incentive 

plans 
 
 
 

Long-
term 

incentive 
plans 

 
 

Gary 
Brown 
CEO 

2012 
2011 
2010 

$120,000 
$120,000 
$95,000 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

$120,000 
$120,000 
$95,000 

Bradley L. 
Jones 
CFO 

2012 
2011 
2010 

$120,000 
$120,000 
$95,000 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

$120,000 
$120,000 
$95,000 
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Incentive Plan Awards  
 
Outstanding Option-Based Awards 
 
The following table sets out all option-based awards outstanding to the Named Executive Officers as of June 30, 
2012. 
 
 Option-based Awards Share-based Awards 

Name 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Number of 
securities 

underlying 
unexercised 

options 
(#) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Option 
exercise 

price 
($) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Option 
expiration 

date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Value of 
unexercised 

in-the-
money 
options 

($) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Number 
of shares 
or units 

of shares 
that have 

not 
vested 

(#) 
 
 
 
 
 

Market 
or 

payout 
value of 
share-
based 

awards 
that 

have not 
vested 

($) 
 
 

Market or 
payout 
value of 
vested 
share-
based 

awards not 
paid out or 
distributed 

($) 
 
 
 

N/A 
 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
Value Vested or Earned During the Year 
 
The following table sets out the aggregate dollar value of incentive stock options that would have been realized if 
the options under the option-based award had been exercised on the vesting date for the Named Executive Officers 
during the most recently completed fiscal year ended June 30,  2012. 
 

Name 
 
 
 
 
 

Option-based awards – Value 
vested during the year 

($) 
 
 
 

Share-based awards – Value 
vested during the year 

($) 
 
 
 

Non-equity incentive plan 
compensation – Value 
earned during the year 

($) 
 
 

N/A 
 

N/A N/A N/A 

 
Pension Plan Benefits 
 
The Company had no pension plan benefits outstanding as at June 30, 2012. 
 
Termination and Change of Control Benefits 
 
The Company had not entered into any plans or arrangements in respect of remuneration received or that may be 
received by the Named Executive Officers in the Company’s most recently completed financial year or current 
financial year in respect of compensating such officers or directors in the event of termination of employment (as a 
result of resignation, retirement, change of control, etc.) or a change in responsibilities following a change of 
control. 
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Directors Compensation 
 
The Board has established and adopted compensation guidelines for its directors. The guidelines provide for the 
payment of fees to directors for attendance at various directors and/or committee meetings, the consideration of 
consent resolutions of the directors or audit committee to ratify, confirm and approve certain matters and the review 
of related documentation. 
 
During the most recently completed financial year ended June 30, 2012, the directors who were not named 
Executive Officers received the following compensation for services provided to the Company: 
 

Name 
 
 
 
 
 

Fees 
earned 

($) 
 
 
 

Share-
based 

awards 
($) 

 
 

Option-
based 

awards 
($) 

 
 

Non-equity 
incentive plan 
compensation 

($) 
 
 

Pension 
value 

($) 
 
 
 

All other 
compensation 

($) 
 
 
 

Total 
($) 

 
 
 
 

N/A 
 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
Incentive Plan Awards  
 
Outstanding Option-Based Awards 
 
 The following table sets out all option based awards outstanding as at June 30, 2012 to directors who were not 
Named Executive Officers: 
 
 Option-based Awards Share-based Awards 

Name 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Number of 
securities 

underlying 
unexercised 

options 
(#) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Option 
exercise 

price 
($) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Option 
expiration 

date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Value of 
unexercised 

in-the-money 
options 

($) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Number 
of 

shares 
or units 

of 
shares 
that 

have not 
vested 

(#) 
 
 
 
 

Market 
or 

payout 
value of 
share-
based 

awards 
that 
have 
not 

vested 
($) 

 
 

Market or 
payout 
value of 
vested 

share-based 
awards not 
paid out or 
distributed 

($) 
 
 
 
 

N/A N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A Nil N/A N/A N/A 
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Value Vested or Earned During the Year 
 
The following table sets out the aggregate dollar value of incentive stock options that would have been realized if 
the options under the option-based award had been exercised on the vesting date for directors who were not Named 
Executive Officers during the most recently completed fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. 
 

Name 
 
 
 
 
 

Option-based awards – Value 
vested during the year 

($) 
 
 
 

Share-based awards – Value 
vested during the year 

($) 
 
 
 

Non-equity incentive plan 
compensation – Value 
earned during the year 

($) 
 
 

N/A 
 

N/A N/A N/A 

 
16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 
 
As at June 30, 2012 the directors and officers are indebted to the Company in the amount of 
$241,514. 
 
17.  Risk Factors 
 
Exploration, Development and Operating Risks 
 
Mining operations generally involve a high degree of risk. The Issuer’s operations are subject to 
all the hazards and risks normally encountered in the exploration, development and production of 
gold, diamonds, precious metals and other minerals and metals, including unusual and 
unexpected geologic formations, seismic activity, rock bursts, cave-ins, flooding and other 
conditions involved in the drilling and removal of material, any of which could result in damage 
to, or destruction of, mines and other producing facilities, damage to life or property, 
environmental damage and possible legal liability. Although adequate precautions to minimize 
risk will be taken, milling operations are subject to hazards such as equipment failure or failure 
of retaining dams around tailings disposal areas which may result in environmental pollution and 
consequent liability. 
 
The exploration for and development of mineral deposits involves significant risks which even a 
combination of careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not eliminate. While the 
discovery of a mineral-bearing structure may result in substantial rewards, few properties which 
are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. 
 
Major expenses may be required to locate and establish mineral reserves, to develop 
metallurgical processes and to construct mining and processing facilities at a particular site. It is 
impossible to ensure that the exploration or development programs planned by the Issuer will 
result in a profitable commercial mining operation. Whether a mineral deposit will be 
commercially viable depends on a number of factors, some of which are: the particular attributes 
of the deposit, such as quantity and quality of mineralization and proximity to infrastructure; 
commodity prices which are highly cyclical; and government regulations, including regulations 
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relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, importing and exporting of minerals and 
environmental protection. The exact effect of these factors cannot be accurately predicted, but 
the combination of these factors may result in the Issuer not receiving an adequate return on 
invested capital. 
 
There is no certainty that the expenditures made by the Issuer towards the search and evaluation 
of deposits of minerals or other metals will result in discoveries of commercial quantities of gold, 
diamonds or other minerals or metals. 
 
Risks Associated With the Properties 
 
The properties are all high risk, speculative ventures.  No mineral resources or mineral reserves 
have been identified with respect to the properties to date and there is no certainty that the 
expenditures made by the Issuer towards the search and evaluation of gold or diamonds with 
regard to the properties or otherwise will result in discoveries of commercial quantities of gold, 
diamonds or other minerals or metals.  In addition, even in the event of the successful completion 
by the Issuer of Phase I of the recommended programs on the respective properties, there is no 
assurance that the results of such exploration will warrant the completion of Phase II of the 
recommended programs. In such circumstances, the Issuer may be required to acquire and focus 
its operations on one or more additional mineral properties. There can be no assurance that any 
such additional mineral properties will be available for acquisition by the Issuer or that, if 
available, the terms of acquisition will be favourable to the Issuer. 
 
Current Economic Conditions 
 
There are significant uncertainties regarding the price of gold, diamonds and other minerals or 
metals and the availability of equity financing for the purposes of mineral exploration and 
development. The prices of gold, diamonds and other minerals or metals have fluctuated 
substantially over the past several months and financial markets have deteriorated to the point 
where it has become extremely difficult for companies to raise new capital. The Issuer’s future 
performance is largely tied to the development of its current mineral properties and the overall 
financial markets. Current financial markets are likely to be volatile in Canada for the remainder 
of the calendar year and potentially into 2012, reflecting ongoing concerns about the stability of 
the global economy and weakening global growth prospects. As well, concern about global 
growth has led to sustained drops in some commodity markets. Unprecedented uncertainty in the 
credit markets has also led to increased difficulties in borrowing/raising funds. Companies 
worldwide have been affected particularly negatively by these trends. As a result, the Issuer may 
have difficulties raising equity financing for the purposes of mineral exploration and 
development, particularly without excessively diluting present shareholders of the Issuer. These 
economic trends may limit the Issuer’s ability to develop and/or further explore its mineral 
property interests. 
 
Operating History 
 
The Issuer has a very limited history of operations, is in the early stage of exploration and must 
be considered a start-up company. As such, the Issuer is subject to many risks common to such 
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enterprises, including under-capitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, 
financial and other resources and lack of revenues. There is no assurance that the Issuer will be 
successful in achieving a return on shareholders’ investment and the likelihood of success must 
be considered in light of its early stage of operations. 
 
Reliance on Limited Number of Properties 
 
The only property interests of the Issuer are its interest in the properties. As a result, unless the 
Issuer acquires additional property interests, any adverse developments affecting its properties, 
could have a material adverse effect upon the Issuer and would materially and adversely affect 
the potential mineral resource production, profitability, financial performance and results of 
operations of the Issuer. 
 
Insurance and Uninsured Risks 
 
The Issuer’s business is subject to a number of risks and hazards generally, including adverse 
environmental conditions, industrial accidents, labour disputes, unusual or unexpected geological 
conditions, ground or slope failures, cave-ins, changes in the regulatory environment and natural 
phenomena such as inclement weather conditions, 
floods and earthquakes. Such occurrences could result in damage to mineral properties or 
production facilities, personal injury or death, environmental damage to the Issuer’s properties or 
the properties of others, delays in mining, monetary losses and possible legal liability. 
 
Although the Issuer may in the future maintain insurance to protect against certain risks in such 
amounts as it considers reasonable, its insurance will not cover all the potential risks associated 
with a mining company’s operations. The Issuer may also be unable to maintain insurance to 
cover these risks at economically feasible premiums. Insurance coverage may not continue to be 
available or may not be adequate to cover any resulting liability. Moreover, insurance against 
risks such as environmental pollution or other hazards as a result of exploration and production is 
not generally available to the Issuer or to other companies in the mining industry on acceptable 
terms. The Issuer might also become subject to liability for pollution or other hazards which may 
not be insured against or which the Issuer may elect not to insure against because of premium 
costs or other reasons. Losses from these events may cause the Issuer to incur significant costs 
that could have a material adverse effect upon its financial performance and results of operations. 
 
Environmental Risks and Hazards 
 
All phases of the Issuer’s operations are subject to environmental regulation in the jurisdictions 
in which it operates. These regulations mandate, among other things, the maintenance of air and 
water quality standards and land reclamation. They also set forth limitations on the generation, 
transportation, storage and disposal of solid and hazardous waste. Environmental legislation is 
evolving in a manner which will require stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and 
penalties for noncompliance, more stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects and 
a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and their officers, directors and employees. 
There is no assurance that future changes in environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely 
affect the Issuer’s operations. Environmental hazards may exist on the properties on which the 
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Issuer holds interests which are unknown to the Issuer at present and which have been caused by 
previous or existing owners or operators of the properties. 
 
Government approvals, approval of aboriginal people and permits are currently, and may in the 
future be required in connection with the Issuer’s operations. To the extent such approvals are 
required and are not obtained, the Issuer may be curtailed or prohibited from continuing its 
exploration or mining operations or from proceeding with planned exploration or development of 
mineral properties. 
 
Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and per mitting requirements may result in 
enforcement actions thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities 
causing operations to cease or be curtailed, and may include corrective measures requiring 
capital expenditures, installation of additional equipment, or remedial actions. Parties engaged in 
mining operations or in the exploration or development of mineral properties may be required to 
compensate those suffering loss 
or damage by reason of the mining activities and may have civil or criminal fines or penalties 
imposed for violations of applicable laws or regulations. 
 
Amendments to current laws, regulations and permits governing operations and activities of 
mining and exploration companies, or more stringent implementation thereof, could have a 
material adverse impact on the Issuer and cause increases in exploration expenses, capital 
expenditures or production costs or reduction in levels of production at producing properties or 
require abandonment or delays in development of new mining properties. 
 
Country Risk 
 
The Issuer may from time to time conduct business in jurisdictions and countries in which the 
title to its properties may be uncertain or where access to infrastructure, or political stability, or 
security, among other things, may be unknown, or known, and prevent, or severely compromise, 
the Issuer from carrying out business. It may be that the Issuer accepts country risk, to the extent 
that it can be determined at all, in favour of acquiring properties with exceptional exploration and 
development potential, and ultimately be prevented from exploring and developing those 
properties for any number of reasons which may, or may not, be predictable, foreseeable, or 
manageable. 
 
Infrastructure 
 
Mining, processing, development and exploration activities depend, to one degree or another, on 
adequate infrastructure. Reliable roads, bridges, power sources and water supply are important 
determinants, which affect capital and operating costs. Unusual or infrequent weather 
phenomena, sabotage, government or other interference in the maintenance or provision of such 
infrastructure could adversely affect the Issuer’s operations, financial condition and results of 
operations. 
 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

October 29, 2012 
Page 128 

 
  

Land Title 
 
Although the title to the properties was reviewed by or on behalf of the Issuer, no assurances can 
be given that there are no title defects affecting such property. Title insurance generally is not 
available, and the Issuer’s ability to ensure that it has obtained secure claim to individual mineral 
properties or mining concessions may be severely constrained. Furthermore, the Issuer has not 
conducted surveys of the claims in which it holds an interest and, therefore, the precise area and 
location of such claims may be in doubt. Accordingly, the Issuer’s mineral properties may be 
subject to prior unregistered liens, agreements, transfers or claims, including native land claims, 
and title may be affected by, among other things, undetected defects. In addition, the Issuer may 
be unable to operate its properties as permitted or to enforce its rights with respect to its 
properties. 
 
Competition 
 
The mining industry is competitive in all of its phases. The Issuer faces strong competition from 
other mining companies in connection with the acquisition of properties producing, or capable of 
producing, precious and base metals.  Many of these companies have greater financial resources, 
operational experience and technical capabilities than the Issuer.  As a result of this competition, 
the Issuer may be unable to maintain or acquire attractive mining properties on terms it considers 
acceptable or at all. Consequently, the Issuer’s revenues, operations and financial condition 
could be materially adversely affected. 
 
Additional Capital 
 
The Issuer had negative operating cash flow during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011. The 
development and exploration of the Issuer’s properties will require substantial additional 
financing.  Failure to obtain sufficient financing may result in the delay or indefinite 
postponement of exploration, development or production on any or all of the Issuer’s properties 
or even a loss of property interest. The primary source of funding available to the Issuer consists 
of equity financing. There can be no assurance that additional capital or other types of financing 
will be available if needed or that, if available, the terms of such financing will be favourable to 
the Issuer. 
 
Commodity Prices 
 
The price of the common shares, the Issuer’s financial results and exploration, development and 
mining activities may in the future be significantly adversely affected by declines in the price of 
copper, gold, molybdenum or other minerals. The price of copper, gold, molybdenum or other 
minerals and metals fluctuates widely and is affected by numerous factors beyond the Issuer’s 
control such as the sale or purchase of commodities by various central banks and financial 
institutions, interest rates, exchange rates, inflation or deflation, fluctuation in the value of the 
United States dollar and foreign currencies, global and regional supply and demand, the political 
and economic conditions of major mineral-producing countries throughout the world, and the 
cost of substitutes, inventory levels and carrying charges. Future serious price declines in the 
market value of copper, gold, molybdenum or other minerals or metals could cause continued 
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development of and commercial production from the Issuer’s properties to be impractical. 
Depending on the price of copper, gold, molybdenum or other minerals or metals, cash flow 
from mining operations may not be sufficient and the Issuer could be forced to discontinue 
production and may lose its interest in, or may be forced to sell, some of its properties. Future 
production from the Issuer’s mining properties is dependent upon the prices of copper, gold, 
molybdenum or other minerals or metals being adequate to make these properties economic. 
 
In addition to adversely affecting the Issuer’s reserve estimates and its financial condition, 
declining commodity prices can impact operations by requiring a reassessment of the feasibility 
of a particular project. Such a reassessment may be the result of a management decision or may 
be required under financing arrangements related to a particular project. Even if the project is 
ultimately determined to be economically viable, the need to conduct such a reassessment may 
cause substantial delays or may interrupt operations until the reassessment can be completed. 
 
Government Regulation 
 
The mining, processing, development and mineral exploration activities of the Issuer are subject 
to various laws governing prospecting, development, production, taxes, labour standards and 
occupational health, mine safety, toxic substances, land use, water use, land claims of local 
people and other matters. Although the Issuer’s mining and processing operations and 
exploration and development activities are currently carried out in accordance with all applicable 
rules and regulations, no assurance can be given that new rules and regulations will not be 
enacted or that existing rules and regulations will not be applied in a manner which could limit or 
curtail production or development. Amendments to current laws and regulations governing 
operations and activities of mining and milling or more stringent implementation thereof could 
have a substantial adverse impact on the Issuer. 
 
Market Price of Common Shares and Warrants 
 
The common shares and warrants do not currently trade on any exchange or market. Securities of 
micro- cap and small-cap companies have experienced substantial volatility in the past, often 
based on factors unrelated to the financial performance or prospects of the companies involved. 
These factors include macroeconomic developments in North America and globally and market 
perceptions of the attractiveness of particular industries. The price of the common shares and 
warrants is also likely to be significantly affected by short-term changes in gold, diamonds or 
other mineral or metal prices or in its financial condition or results of operations as reflected in 
its quarterly earnings reports. Other factors unrelated to the Issuer’s performance that may have 
an effect on the price of the common shares and warrants include the following: the extent of 
analytical coverage available to investors concerning the Issuer’s business may be limited if 
investment banks with research capabilities do not follow the Issuer’s securities; lessening in 
trading volume and general market interest in the Issuer’s securities may affect an investor’s 
ability to trade significant numbers of common shares and warrants; the size of the Issuer’s 
public float may limit the ability of some institutions to invest in the Issuer’s securities; and a 
substantial decline in the price of the common shares and warrants that persists for a significant 
period of time could cause the Issuer’s securities, if listed on an exchange, to be delisted from 
such exchange, further reducing market liquidity. 
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As a result of any of these factors, the market price of the common shares and warrants at any 
given point in time may not accurately reflect the Issuer’s long-term value. Securities class 
action litigation often has been brought against companies following periods of volatility in the 
market price of their securities. The Issuer may in the future be the target of similar litigation. 
Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and damages and divert management’s 
attention and resources. 
 
The fact that no market currently exists for the common shares and warrants may affect the 
pricing of the common shares and warrants in the secondary market, the transparency and 
availability of trading prices, the liquidity of the common shares and warrants and the extent of 
issuer regulation. 
 
Dividend Policy 
 
No dividends on the common shares have been paid by the Issuer to date. Payment of any future 
dividends will be at the discretion of the Issuer’s board of directors after taking into account 
many factors, including the Issuer’s operating results, financial condition and current and 
anticipated cash needs. 
 
Dilution to Common Shares 
 
As a result of the increase in the number of common shares issued and outstanding, the voting 
power of the Issuer’s existing shareholders will be diluted and the subscribers will experience a 
diluting effect. 
 
Future Sales of Common Shares by Existing Shareholders 
 
Sales of a large number of common shares in the public markets, or the potential for such sales, 
could decrease the trading price of the common shares and could impair the Issuer’s ability to 
raise capital through future sales of common shares.  
 
Key Executives 
 
The Issuer is dependent on the services of key executives, including the directors of the Issuer 
and a small number of highly skilled and experienced executives and personnel. Due to the 
relatively small size of the Issuer, the loss of these persons or the Issuer’s inability to attract and 
retain additional highly skilled employees may adversely affect its business and future 
operations. 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
Certain of the directors and officers of the Issuer also serve as directors and/or officers of other 
companies involved in natural resource exploration and development and consequently there 
exists the possibility for such directors and officers to be in a position of conflict. Any decision 
made by any of such directors and officers involving the Issuer should be made in accordance 
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with their duties and obligations to deal fairly and in good faith with a view to the best interests 
of the Issuer and its shareholders. In addition, each of the directors is required to declare and 
refrain from voting on any matter in which such directors may have a conflict of interest in 
accordance with the procedures set forth in the Canada Business Corporations Act and other 
applicable laws. 
 
18. Promoters  
 

Gary Brown is considered a promoter of the Issuer. Please refer to the chart under the 
heading “Section 13 Directors and Officers” for information with respect to Mr. Brown’s 
share holdings and any history with regard to securities that have been ceased traded.  
Mr. Brown will not receive any consideration for acting as promoter. 

 
19. Legal Proceedings 
 
 The Issuer is not a party to or subject to any outstanding judgements, lawsuits or 

proceedings and there are no pending lawsuits or proceedings. 
 
20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 
 
 Management and others have no interest in material transactions of the Issuer. 
 
21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 
 
 Auditors 
 
 Buckley Dodds Parker, Chartered Accountants LLP 
 Suite 1140, 1185 West Georgia Street 
 Vancouver, BC  
 V6E 4E6 
 
 Transfer Agent 
 
 Computershare Trust Company 
 510 Burrard Street 
 3rd Floor 
 Vancouver, BC 
 V6C 3B9   
 
22. Material Contracts 
 
 1. Amalgamation agreement between MOAG and Greenfab dated as of 

 September 22, 2011. 
 2. Property Option Agreement between MOAG and Highbank Resources Ltd. dated 

September 23, 2009. 
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 3. Property Option Agreement between MOAG and Highbank Resources Ltd. dated 
December 8, 2009. 

 4. Amended Property Option Agreement between MOAG and Highbank Resources 
Ltd. dated December 15, 2010. 

 5. Amended Property Option Agreement between MOAG and Highbank Resources 
Ltd. dated February 2, 2011. 

 
23. Interest of Experts 
 

 There are no direct or indirect interests in the property of the Issuer or of a related person 
of the Issuer received or to be received by a person or company whose profession or 
business gives authority to a statement made by the person or company and who is named 
as having prepared or certified a part of the Listing Statement or prepared or certified a 
report or valuation described or included in the Listing Statement. 

 
24. Other Material Facts 
 

 There is no other material fact about the Issuer and its securities that are not disclosed 
under the preceding items and are necessary in order for the Listing Statement to contain 
full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the Issuer and its securities. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

To the Shareholders of MOAG Copper Gold Resources Inc.: 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of MOAG Copper Gold Resources Inc. which comprise the 

statements of financial position as at June 30, 2012 and the statement of comprehensive loss, change in equity and cash 

flow for the year ended June 30, 2012, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information. 

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such 

internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibility  

 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with Canadian auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an audit opinion 

on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

 

Opinion 
 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of MOAG Copper 

Gold Resources Inc. as at June 30, 2012, and and the statement of comprehensive loss, change in equity and cash flow for 

the year ended June 30, 2012 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board.  

 

The financial statements as at June 30, 2011 and for the year then ended were audited by other auditors who expressed an 

opinion without reservation on those statements in their audit report dated September 19, 2011. 

Emphasis of Matter 
 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements which indicates that the Company 

has a working capital of $511,470 (2011 - $1,008,026), has incurred losses since inception of $703,505. These conditions, 

along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant 

doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

Vancouver, British Columbia    

 

“Buckley Dodds Parker LLP” 

 

October 23, 2012 



MOAG COPPER GOLD RESOURCES INC. 
Statements of Financial Position 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

 

 
June 30, 

2012 

 
June 30, 

2011 
July 1, 
2010 

ASSETS  (Note 15) (Note 15) 

Current     

   Cash  $         87,147 $         167,417  $         11,066 

   Marketable securities (Note 5) 800,000 1,100,000 16,122 

   HST recoverable 64,686 41,000 - 

   Due from related parties (Note 8) 241,514 - 6,150 

   Prepaid expenses and deposits      - 4,000 1,500 

   Subscriptions receivable - - 1,000 

Total current assets 1,193,347 1,312,417 35,838 

    

Non-Current    

  Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 6) 1,149,492 1,088,101 1,517,058 

  Reclamation bond                           4,000 - - 

Total non-current assets 1,153,492 1,088,101 1,517,058 

    

Total assets $     2,346,839 $     2,400,518 $    1,552,896 

LIABILITIES     

Current    

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $          554,155 $          72,904  $         44,168 

   Short-term loan 20,000 - - 

   Advances payable (Note 7)                  70,222 150,000 - 

   Due to related parties (Note 8) - 43,987 3,471 

   Deferred premium on flow-through shares (Note  9) 37,500 37,500 - 

Total current liabilities 681,877 304,391 47,639 

    

Non-current    

   Deferred income tax - 112,919 - 

    

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     

   Share capital (Note 9) 2,983,467 2,657,500 2,236,500 

   Subscriptions received 25,000 - - 

   Accumulated other comprehensive loss (640,000) (700,000) (10,035) 

   Retained earnings (deficit) (703,505) 25,708 (721,208) 

Total shareholders’ equity  1,664,962 1,983,208 1,505,257 

    

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities $    2,346,839 $     2,400,518 $   1,552,896 

Nature and continuance of operations (Note 1) 

Subsequent event (Note 14) 

 

Approved on behalf of the Board: 

   

“Bradley L. Jones”  “Gary Brown” 

Director – Bradley L. Jones, C.A.  Director – Gary Brown         

 

     The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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MOAG COPPER GOLD RESOURCES INC. 
Statements of Comprehensive Loss                
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 

  
 June 30, 

2012 
 June 30, 

2011 

 
   

(Note 15) 

Expenses 

   

 

   Automobile     $              10,277 $                  - 

   Foreign exchange loss              -  29,050 

   Investor relations  1,802  - 

   Management fees (Note 8)       240,000  240,000 

   Office and miscellaneous  94,262  2,803 

   Professional fees        192,051  43,080 

   Rent (Note 8)                          43,500  36,000 

   Transfer agent  33,654  - 

   Travel                                     2,460  12,464 

  618,006  363,397 

     

Loss before other items  (618,006)  (363,397) 

     

Other items     

   Realized loss on disposition of marketable securities (Note 5)  (89,050)  (5,016) 

   Gain on disposition of Highland Valley Property (Note 6)  50,000  1,228,248 

   Write-off of goodwill (Note 4)  (185,076)  - 

  (224,126)  1,223,232 

     

Net income (loss) before income taxes  (842,132)  859,835 

     

Deferred income tax recovery (expense)  112,919  (112,919) 

     

Net income (loss) for the year $ (729,213) $ 746,916 

     

Loss per share – basic and diluted $       (0.01) $     0.01 

     

Weighted average number of shares outstanding               67,842,486          64,116,986 

     

     

Other comprehensive income (loss)     

   Net income (loss) for the year $ (729,213) $ 746,916 

   Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities (Note 5)  60,000  (700,000) 

     

Comprehensive income ( loss) for the year $ (669,213) $ 46,916 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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                                    MOAG COPPER GOLD RESOURCES INC. 
                                    Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity  
                                    (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

Number of 

Shares 

 

Share Capital 

 

 

 

Subscriptions 

Received 

Accumulated 

Other 

Comprehensive 

Loss 

 

 

 

Retained Earnings 

(Deficit) Total Equity  

        

Balance, July 1, 2011 (Note 15) 66,491,666  $     2,657,500  $                    - $    (700,000) $           25,708 $       1,983,208 

Private placements (Note 9) 2,750,000  175,000 25,000 - - 200,000 

Issue of shares in connection with amalgamation (Note 4 

& 9) 1,509,667 

 

150,967 

 

- - 

 

- 150,967 

Net loss for the year -  - - - (729,213) (729,213) 

Comprehensive loss for the year – Reversal of 

unrealized loss on disposition of marketable securities 

(Note 5) -  

 

- 

 

 

- 60,000 

 

 

- 60,000 

 

Balance June 30, 2012 70,751,333 

 

$     2,983,467 

 

$          25,000 $    (640,000) $       (703,505) $       1,664,962 

 

 

Number of 

Shares 

 

Share Capital 

 

 

Subscriptions 

Received 

 Accumulated 

Other 

Comprehensive 

Loss 

 

 

Retained Earnings 

Deficit  Total Equity  

        

Balance, July 1, 2010 (Note 15) 62,050,000  $     2,236,500 $                    - $        (10,035) $       (721,208) $        1,505,257 

Private placements (Note 9) 3,516,666  303,500 - - - 303,500 

Private placement – Flow- through shares (Note 9) 625,000  87,500 - - - 87,500 

Issue of shares for consulting services (Note 9) 300,000  30,000 - - - 30,000 

Net income for the year   - - - 746,916 746,916 

Comprehensive loss for the year – Reversal of 

unrealized loss on disposition of  marketable securities 

(Note 5) - 

 

- 

 

 

- 10,035 

 

 

- 

 

 

10,035 

Comprehensive loss  for the year – Unrealized loss on 

marketable securities (Note 5) - 

 

- 

- 

(700,000) 

 

- 

 

(700,000) 

        

Balance, July 31, 2011 (Note 15) 66,491,666  $     2,657,500 $                     - $       (700,000) $       25,708 $        1,983,208 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.                                                                                                                      
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  MOAG COPPER GOLD RESOURCES INC. 
  Statements of Cash Flows 
  (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

   

  
June 30, 

2012 
 

 
June 30, 

2011 
 (Note 15) 

Cash flows from (used in)     

Operating activities     

   Net income (loss) for the year $ (729,213) $ 746,916 

   Items not affecting cash:     

      Deferred income tax expense  -  112,919 

      Gain on disposition of Highland Valley Property  (50,000)  (1,228,248) 

      Realized loss on disposition of marketable securities  89,050  5,016 

      Share-based compensation  -  30,000 

      Write-off of goodwill  185,076  - 

      (505,087)  (333,397) 

 Changes in non-cash working capital items:     

    Increase in accounts receivable  (62,581)  

                        

(41,000) 

    Increase in prepaid expenses  4,000  (2,500) 

    Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  472,661  28,736 

    Increase (decrease) in advances payable  (79,778)  150,000 

  (170,785)  (198,161) 

Investing activities     

   Sale of marketable securities  271,059  (5,920) 

   Proceeds from option agreement   50,000   

   Proceeds from disposition of marketable securities    27,061 

   Exploration and evaluation expenditures  (61,391)  (142,795) 

   Reclamation bonds  (4,000)   

  255,668  (121,654) 

Financing activities     

    Proceeds from short-term loan  20,000  - 

    Proceeds from issue of common shares  175,000  429,500 

    Subscriptions received  25,000  - 

    Advances from (repayments to) related parties  (385,153)  46,666 

    (165,153)  476,166 

     

Increase (decrease) in cash during the year  (80,270)  156,351 

Cash, beginning of the year  167,417  11,066 

Cash, end of the year $ 87,147 $ 167,417 

 

 
Supplemental information: 

    

   Interest paid $ - $ - 
   Income taxes paid $ - $ - 
   Issue of shares in connection with the amalgamation with Greenfab $ 150,967  - 

 
  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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MOAG COPPER GOLD REESOURCES INC. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

                 (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
                    June 30, 2012 and 2011 

 

1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS     
 

 MOAG Copper Gold Resources Inc. (formerly Transformation Capital Corp.) (the “Company”) was incorporated 

pursuant to the provisions of the Canada Business Corporations Act on May 11, 2006. The Company changed its 

name on June 30, 2009 and has been engaged in the acquisition and development of molybdenum, silver, copper and 

gold mineral properties. The Company has not yet determined whether the properties contain reserves that are 

economically recoverable. The recoverability of amounts shown for mineral properties is dependent upon the 

discovery of economically recoverable reserves, confirmation of the Company’s interest in the underlying mineral 

properties in accordance with industry practice, the ability of the Company to obtain necessary financing to complete 

the development, and upon future profitable production. 

  

 On September 22, 2011, the Company entered into an amalgamation agreement with Greenfab Build Systems Inc. 

(“Greenfab”), a reporting issuer in the provinces of British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario, to combine as one 

corporation under the name MOAG Copper Gold Resources Inc.  As part of the amalgamation agreement, each 

shareholder of Greenfab received one (1) common share of the amalgamated company in exchange for every four 

(4) issued common shares of Greenfab held by the shareholder.  Each shareholder of MOAG received one (1) 

common share of the amalgamated company in exchange for every one (1) issued common share of MOAG held by 

the shareholder.   On December 1, 2011, Industry Canada granted the certificate of amalgamation under the Canada 

Business Corporations Act (Note 4 and 9).  Following the amalgamation, MOAG commenced trading on the 

Canadian National Stock Exchange on January 9, 2012.   

  

 The head office and principal address of the Company is 21 Burkebrook Pl., Suite 405, Toronto, Ontario, M4G 

0A2. 

  

 These financial statements have been prepared by management on a going-concern basis, which assumes the 

Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and settle its 

liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. As at June 30, 2012, the Company had working capital 

of $511,470 (2011 - $1,008,026), and has incurred losses since inception of $703,505. The Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to generate future profitable operations, and to raise the 

necessary capital to fund ongoing exploration expenditures, support its operations, and discharge its liabilities as 

they come due.  These financial statements do not reflect the adjustments to the carrying value of assets and 

liabilities and the reported expenses that would be necessary should the going concern assumption become 

inappropriate.   

  

 The Company’s Board of Directors authorized these financial statements for issue on October 25, 2012. 

 
2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION                    
 

(a) Statement of compliance 
 

 These statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as  

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations  

Committee (“IFRIC”) issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2012.  

 

These financial statements are the Company’s first IFRS annual financial statements. Previously, the 

Company prepared its financial statements in accordance with pre-changeover Canadian generally accepted 

accounting principles (“GAAP”). The impact of the transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS is explained in 

Note 15. IFRS 1 First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards has been applied. 
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MOAG COPPER GOLD RESOURCES INC. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

                 (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
                    June 30, 2012 and 2011 

 

 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)                   

 

 

 

 

(b) 

The significant accounting policies set out in Note 3 have been applied consistently to all periods presented and  

in the preparation of the opening balance sheet at July 1, 2010 (Note 15) for purposes of transition to IFRS. 

 
Basis of measurement     

  
  These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except for financial 

instruments classified as available-for-sale (“AFS”) and fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). These 

financial statements have been prepared under the accrual basis of accounting, except for cash flow 

information.  The Company’s functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar. 
  

(c) Use of estimates and assumptions 
  

 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates, 

assumptions and judgments that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and 

liabilities and disclosures of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, along with reported 

amounts of expenses and net losses during the period.   Significant areas requiring the use of management 

estimates and assumptions relate to the recoverability of exploration and evaluation assets, deferred income 

tax, provision for environmental rehabilitation and assumptions used in valuing options in share-based 

compensation calculations.  Actual results could different from those estimates. 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

(a) Marketable securities 
  

 Marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale and recorded at fair value based on quoted market 

prices with unrealized gain (loss) recorded in other comprehensive income (loss). 

 

  (b) Exploration and evaluation assets 
  
 Costs related to mineral activities are capitalized as tangible or intangible assets on a property-by-property 

basis.  Examples of such costs include acquisition of rights to explore, gathering exploration data through 

geological, geochemical and geophysical studies, drilling, trenching, sampling, activities in relation to 

evaluating technical feasibility and commercial viability of extraction, and administration costs directly 

attributable to the mining properties. Costs incurred before the Company has obtained the legal rights to 

explore an area are recognized in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss.  Once the technical feasibility 

and commercial viability of a mineral project is demonstrable, exploration and evaluation assets are 

reclassified to intangible assets, mining property, plant and equipment and other tangible assets.   

  

 All exploration and evaluation assets are recorded at acquisition costs less cumulative write-downs and are 

monitored for indications of impairment.  Where a potential impairment is indicated, an estimate of the 

recoverable amount is performed (Note 3(c)). 
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MOAG COPPER GOLD RESOURCES INC. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

                 (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
                    June 30, 2012 and 2011 

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(c) Impairment  
  
 The Company’s long-lived assets are reviewed for an indication if impairment at each financial reporting date 

or at any time if an indicator of impairment is considered to exist.  If any such indication exists, an estimate of 

the recoverable amount is undertaken, being the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in 

use.  If the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, then an impairment loss is recognized in 

the profit or loss.   
  

 If there is a future change in the estimate of the recoverable amount, partial or full amount of the impairment 

is reversed.  An impairment loss with respect to goodwill is never reversed. 
 

(d) Share capital 

  

 Common shares are classified as equity.  Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares 

and share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.   

  

  (e) Share-based payments 
  

 The share option plan allows employees and consultants to acquire shares of the Company.  The fair value of the 

options is measured at grant date and each tranche is recognized on a straight line basis over the period during 

which the options vest.  The fair value of the options granted is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing 

model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.  At each financial 

position reporting date, the amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share 

options that are expected to vest.   

  

(f) Warrants 
  

 Warrants included in units offered to subscribers in connection with financings are valued using the residual 

value method whereby proceeds are first allocated to the fair value of the shares and the excess if any, 

allocated to the warrants. 

  

(g) Earnings (loss) per share 
  

 Basic earnings (loss) per share are computed by dividing the net earnings (loss) available to common 

shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the reporting period.  Diluted 

earnings (loss) per share is computed similar to basic earnings (loss) per share except that the weighted average 

shares outstanding are increased to include additional shares for the assumed exercise of stock options and 

warrants, if dilutive.  The number of additional shares is calculated by assuming that outstanding stock options 

and warrants were exercised and that the proceeds from such exercises were used to acquire common stock at the 

average market price during the reporting periods.   

 

As the Company is incurring losses, basic and diluted per share per share are the same since including the 

exercise of outstanding options and share purchase warrants in the diluted loss per share calculation would be 

anti-dilutive.   
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MOAG COPPER GOLD RESOURCES INC. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

                 (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
                    June 30, 2012 and 2011 

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
  

  (h) Comprehensive income (loss) 
 

 Comprehensive income (loss) is the change in the Company’s net assets that results from transactions, events 

and circumstances from sources other than the Company’s shareholders and includes items that are not 

included in net profit such as unrealized gains or losses on available-for-sale-investments, gains or losses on 

certain derivative instruments and foreign currency gains or losses related to self-sustaining operations.  

  

   (i) Flow-through shares 
  
 Flow-through shares are a unique Canadian tax incentive.  They are the subject of specific guidance under US 

GAAP, but there is no equivalent IFRS guidance.  Therefore, the Company has adopted a policy whereby 

flow-through proceeds are allocated between the offering of the common shares and the sale of tax benefits 

when the common shares are offered.  The allocation is made based on the difference between the quoted 

market price of the common shares and the amount the investor pays for the flow-through shares.  A liability 

is recognized for the premium paid by the investors and is then derecognized in the period of renounciation.  

The recognition of a deferred income tax liability upon renounciation of the flow-through expenditures is 

recorded as income tax expense in the period of renounciation.   

  

(j) Income taxes 
  

 The income tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax is recognized in profit 

or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity.  In this case the tax is also 

recognized directly in equity. 

  

 Current income tax 

  

 Current income tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted 

or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with regards to previous 

years.  

  

 Deferred income tax 

  

 Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the 

tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  However, the 

deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or 

liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither 

accounting nor taxable profit or loss.  Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted on the statement of financial position date and are expected to apply 

when the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

  

 Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that is probable that future taxable profit will be 

available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 
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MOAG COPPER GOLD RESOURCES INC. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

                 (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
                    June 30, 2012 and 2011 

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(j) Income taxes (continued) 
  

 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 

tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax and liabilities relate to income taxes 

levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there 

is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 

  

 Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax income or tax expense in the 

statement of equity in which case the related deferred tax is also recognized in equity in which case the 

related deferred tax is also recognized in equity, respectively. 

 

(k) Provision for environmental rehabilitation 
  

 An obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs arises when environmental disturbance 

is caused by the exploration, development or ongoing production of a mineral property interest.  Such costs 

arising from the decommissioning of plant and other site preparation work, discounted to their net present value, 

are provided and capitalized at the start of each project to the carrying amount of the asset, as soon as the 

obligation to incur such costs arises.  Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflect the time value of money are 

used to calculate the net present value.  These costs are charged against profit or loss over the economic life of 

the related asset, through amortization using either the unit-of-production or straight line method.  The related 

liability is adjusted for each period for the unwinding of the discount rate and for changes to the current market-

based discount rate, amount or timing of the underlying cash flows needed to settle the obligation.  Costs for 

restoration of subsequent site damage which is created on an ongoing basis during production are provided for at 

their net present values and charged against profits as extraction progresses.   

  
 The Company has no restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs as the disturbance to date is minimal. 
  

(l) Provisions 

  
 Provisions are recognized when present legal or constructive obligations exist as a result of a past event 

where it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 

obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. The amount recognized as a 

provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the statement of 

financial position date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 
  

(m) Financial instruments 

  

 Financial instruments are defined as any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 

financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.  The Company recognizes financial assets and 

financial liabilities when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.   
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MOAG COPPER GOLD RESOURCES INC. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

                 (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
                    June 30, 2012 and 2011 

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(m) Financial instruments (continued) 

  

 Financial assets are classified into the following categories at their initial recognition:   

 

•  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;  

•  held-to-maturity investments; 

•  loans and receivables; 

•  or available-for-sale investments.   

 

 Financial liabilities are classified into the following categories at their initial recognition:   

 

•  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss;  

•  or other financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.   

 

 Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value, plus, in the case of a financial asset or 

liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transactions costs directly attributable to the acquisition or 

issuance of the financial asset or liability.  In a purchase or sale of financial assets recognition and 

derecognition occurs using trade date accounting.  

  

 Financial assets are subsequently measured after initial recognition at fair value, except for financial assets 

classified as held-to-maturity investments or loans and receivables, which are subsequently measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method.   

  

 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured after recognition at fair 

value.  All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method.   

  

 Financial assets are derecognized when: 

 

•  the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire;  

•  the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset are retained, but a contractual obligation  

 to pay the cash flows to another party without material delay is assumed by the Company; 

•  or when the Company transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset. 

 

 Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. 

  

 Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.  Financial assets 

are impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 

initial recognition of the financial assets, the estimated future cash flows of the investments have been 

negatively impacted.  Evidence of impairment could include: significant financial difficulty of the issuer or 

counterparty; or default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or likelihood that the borrower will 

enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(m) Financial instruments (continued) 

  

 The carrying amount of financial assets is reduced by impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 

exception of financial assets classified as loans and receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced 

through the use of an allowance account.  When these assets are considered uncollectible, they are written off 

against the allowance account.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against 

the allowance account.  Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognized in profit or 

loss.   

  

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 

objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment 

loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the 

impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment loss 

been recognized.   

  

 Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the statement of financial position are classified using a fair 

value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.  The fair value 

hierarchy has the following levels:  Level 1 – valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 

for identical assets or liabilities; Level 2 – valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices 

included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. 

derived from prices); and Level 3 – valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not 

based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).   

  

 At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to 

determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  Where such an 

indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 

impairment loss.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and its value in 

use.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 

pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 

to the asset.  If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount of the asset 

is reduced to its recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is recognized immediately in the statement of loss 

and comprehensive loss. 

  

 The Company has made the following classifications: 

 

•  Cash, HST recoverable, due from related parties and subscription receivable are classified as loans and 

receivables.   

•  Marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale investments.   

•  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, short-term loan, advances payable and due to related parties 

are classified as other financial liabilities. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(n) New accounting standards and interpretations  
  
 Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting periods 

after January 1, 2013 or later periods.  Many are not applicable or do not have a significant impact to the 

Company and have been excluded from the summary below.  The Company is currently assessing the impact 

of the following standards, which have not yet been adopted, on its financial statements 

  

 

 (i) IFRS 9 – Financial instruments (“IFRS 9”) was issued by the IASB in October 2010 and will replace 

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IASB 39”).  IFRS 9 uses a single 

approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing 

the multiple rules in IAS 39.  The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial 

instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 

financial assets.  Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for classification and measurement of financial 

liabilities were carried forward unchanged to IFRS 9.  The new standard also requires a single 

impairment method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment methods in IAS 39.  IFRS 9 is 

effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 

   

 (ii) IFRS 10 – Consolidated financial statements (“IFRS 10”) was issued by the IASB in May 2011.  

IFRS 10 is a new standard which identifies the concept of control as the determining factor in 

assessing whether an entity should be included in the consolidated financial statements of the parent 

company.  Control is comprised of three elements:  power over an investee; exposure to variable 

returns from an investee; and the ability to use power to affect the reporting entity’s returns.  IFRS 10 

is effective for annual period beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  Earlier adoption is permitted. 

   

 (iii) IFRS 11 – Joint arrangements (“IFRS 11”) was issued by the IASB in May 2011.  IFRS 11 is a new 

standard which focuses on classifying joint arrangements by their rights and obligations rather than 

their legal form.  Entities are classified into two groups:  parties having rights to the assets and 

obligations for the liabilities of an arrangement, and rights to the net assets of an arrangement.  

Entities in the former case account for assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in accordance with the 

arrangement, whereas entities in the later case account for the arrangement using the equity method.  

IFRS 11 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  Earlier application is 

permitted. 

   

 (iv) IFRS 12 – Disclosure of interests in other entities (“IFRS 12”) was issued by the IASB in May 2011.  

IFRS 12 is a new standard which provides disclosure requirements for entities reporting interest in 

other entities, including joint arrangements, special purpose vehicles, and off balance sheet vehicles.  

IFRS 12 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  Earlier application is 

permitted. 
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MOAG COPPER GOLD RESOURCES INC. 
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                 (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(n) New accounting standards and interpretations (continued) 

   
 (v) IFRS 13 – Fair value measurement (“IFRS 13”) was issued by the IASB in May 2011.  IFRS 13 is a 

new standard which provides a precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair value 

measurement considerations for use across IFRSs.  The key points of IFRS 13 are as follows: 

 

• fair value is measured using the price in a principal market for the asset or liability, in the 

absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market; 

• financial assets and liabilities with offsetting positions in market risks or counterparty credit 

risks can be measured on the basis of an entity’s net risk exposure; 

• disclosures regarding the fair value hierarchy has been moved from IFRS 7 to IFRS 13, and 

further guidance has been added to the determination of classes of assets and liabilities; 

• a quantitative sensitivity analysis must be provided for financial instruments measured at fair 

value; 

• a narrative must be provided discussing the sensitivity of fair value measurements categorized 

under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy to significant unobservable  inputs; 

• and information must be provided on an entity’s valuation processes for fair value 

measurements categorized under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 

 

  IFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  Earlier application is 

permitted. 

   

 
In addition, there have been amendments to existing standards, including IAS 27 and IAS 28. IAS  27 

addresses accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in non-consolidated financial 

statements. IAS 28 has been amended to include joint ventures in its scope and to address the changes in 

IFRS 10 – 13. 
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MOAG COPPER GOLD RESOURCES INC. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

                 (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
                    June 30, 2012 and 2011 

 

 

4. AMALGAMATION 
 

 Under the amalgamation agreement dated September 22, 2011, effectively closing on December 1, 2011, Greenfab 

and MOAG merged into one corporation under the name MOAG Copper Gold Resources Inc. (the “Amalco”).  

Pursuant to the agreement, the Amalco issued 1,509,667 common shares at a fair value of $0.10 each to the 

shareholders of Greenfab on a 4:1 basis in exchange for the net assets of Greenfab. 

  

 The transaction does not meet the definition of a business combination defined as an acquisition of assets and 

business that constitute a business under IFRS 3 – Business combination.  The Company has accounted for the 

amalgamation as an acquisition of net assets in accordance with IAS 16 – Property, plant and equipment and IAS 28 

– Intangible assets.  The allocation of the purchase price is based on the assets acquired and liabilities assumed 

measured at carrying values, which approximate their fair values, at the date of amalgamation.   

 

 The allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is as follows: 

 

Consideration   

    1,509,667 common shares at  $0.10 each $ 150,967  

   

Net assets acquired    

   Cash  6,156 

   HST recoverable  2,105 

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (14,637) 

   Loans payable  (27,733) 

  (34,109) 

   

Goodwill $ 185,076 

   

The Company recorded the net assets and goodwill at a total of $150,967 being the value of the consideration paid 

for those assets.  The $185,076 in goodwill represented the benefits of going public through the amalgamation with 

Greenfab.  At the period end date, the carrying amount was determined to be not recoverable.  The review led to an 

impairment loss of $185,076 for the year ended June 30, 2012.    

 

5. MARKETABLE SECURITIES 
 

 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 July 1, 2010 

 Number of 

Shares 

 

Amount 

Number of 

Shares 

 

Amount 

Number of 

Shares 

 

Amount 

       

Highbank Resources Ltd. 16,000,000 $ 800,000 20,000,000 $ 1,100,000 292,000 $      16,122 

 

During the year ended June 30, 2011, the Company received 20,000,000 common shares of Highbank Resources 

Ltd., a company related by a common director, pursuant to the terms of the Highland Valley property option 

agreement (Note 6).  Of which, 16,000,000 were held in escrow and 4,000,000 common shares were released and 

sold for total proceeds of $271,059, resulting in a realized loss of $89,050 (2011: $5,016) during the year ended 

June 30, 2012.  The Company has classified these investments as “available for sale”. As at June 30, 2012 these 

marketable securities were recorded at a fair value of $800,000 (2011: $1,100,000) and an unrealized gain (loss) of 

$60,000 (2011: ($700,000)) resulting from revaluation was included in other comprehensive income (loss) for the 

year ended June 30, 2012. 
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MOAG COPPER GOLD RESOURCES INC. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

                 (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
                    June 30, 2012 and 2011 

 

 

6.      EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

 

Title to mineral properties involves certain inherent risks due to the difficulties of determining the validity of certain 

claims as well as the potential for problems arising from the frequently ambiguous conveyance history characteristic 

of many mineral properties. The Company has investigated title to all of its mineral properties and, to the best of its 

knowledge, title to all of its properties is in good standing. 

 
 Ketchan  

Property 

Canada 

Highland Valley 

Property 

Canada 

 

Area #934 

Ireland 

 

 

Total 

     
Acquisition costs:     

     
Balance, June 30, 2012 and 2011 $       850,000 $                 - $    50,000 $    900,000 

     
Exploration costs:     

     
Balance, June 30, 2011   $       185,351 $                 - $      2,750 $    188,101 

     
Filing fees 58,641 - - 58,641 

Insurance - - 2,750 2,750 

     
Balance, June 30, 2012 $       243,992 $                 – $      5,500 $    249,492 

 
 $    1,093,992 $                 – $    55,500 $ 1,149,492 

       

Ketchan  

Property 

Canada 

 

Highland Valley 

Property 

Canada 

 

 

Area #934 

Ireland 

 

 

 

Total 

     
Acquisition costs:     

     Balance, July 1, 2010           $      850,000     $       490,000        $      50,000  $   1,390,000 

     
Option proceeds received - (490,000) - (490,000)

     
Balance, June 30, 2011 $      850,000 $                  - $      50,000 $      900,000 

     
Exploration costs:     

     
Balance, July 1, 2010   $        85,100 $        41,958 $                - $      127,058 

   -  
Filing fees 88,322 39,794 - 128,116 

Geological consulting 11,929 - - 11,929 

Insurance - - 2,750 2,750 

Option proceeds received - (81,752) - (81,752)

     
Balance, June 30, 2011 $      185,351 $                 - $        2,750 $     188,101 

  -   
 

$    1,035,351 $                  - $      52,750 $  1,088,101 
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6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 

 

Ketchan Property, British Columbia 
 

On July 5, 2009, the Company purchased the Ketchan Claim Group, located in southwest British Columbia, from a 

company owned by a related party for $250,000 and 20,000,000 common shares of the Company with a fair value of 

$600,000.  

 

Highland Valley Property, British Columbia 

On July 5, 2009, the Company purchased the Highland Valley Claim Group, located in southwest British Columbia, 

from a company owned by a related party for $250,000 and 8,000,000 common shares of the Company with a fair 

value of $240,000. 

 

On December 8, 2009 (as amended on December 15, 2010), the Company entered into an option agreement with 

HighBank Resources Ltd. (“Highbank”) whereby Highbank will earn a 50% interest in the Highland Valley 

property.  The option agreement has received the approval from TSX Venture Exchange on February 8, 2011 

(“effective date”).   

 

To earn this 50% interest, Highbank must pay a total of $250,000, issue 20,000,000 of its shares, and incur mineral 

exploration expenditures aggregating $1,000,000 as follows: 

  

 Cash consideration to be paid by Highbank: 

 • $50,000 to be paid upon execution of the agreement (received); 

 • a further $50,000 to be paid within one year following the effective date (February 8, 2012) 

(received); 

 • a further $75,000 to be paid within two years following the effective date (February 8, 2013); and 

 • a further $75,000 to be paid within three years following the effective date (February 8, 2014). 

  

 Shares of Highbank to be issued to the Company: 

 • 20,000,000 common shares to be issued within five days following the effective date (February 13, 

2011) (received).  Of which, 16,000,000 were held in escrow and 4,000,000 common shares were 

released and sold during the year ended June 30, 2012.   
  

 Exploration expenditures to be incurred by Highbank: 

 • $350,000 within one year of the effective date (February 8, 2012); 

 • an additional $350,000 within two years of the effective date (February 8, 2013); and 

 • an additional $300,000 within three years of the effective date (February 8, 2014). 

 •  

As of June 30, 2011, the Company incurred exploration and evaluation expenditures of $571,752 on the property.  

The amount was fully offset by 20,000,000 shares with a fair value of $1,800,000 received from Highbank (Note 5), 

resulting in a gain of $1,228,248 during the year ended June 30, 2011.   

 

During the year ended June 30, 2012, the Company received $50,000 in cash from Highbank and recognize a gain 

on disposition of mineral property in the same amount.   
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6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 

 

Area #934, County of Galway, Ireland (continued) 

 

On September 23, 2009, the Company entered into a property option agreement with Highbank to acquire a 50% 

legal and beneficial interest in and to the license over prospecting area #934 in the County of Galway in Ireland.    

 

The license is subject to a royalty of 2% of net smelter returns payable to the President of the Company (who holds 

the original license which was optioned to Highbank), along with a buy-back in favour of the Company. 

 

To earn this 50% interest, the Company must pay $50,000 and incur mineral exploration expenditures aggregating 

$1,000,000 as follows: 

 

 Cash consideration to be paid by the Company: 

 • $50,000 to be paid upon execution of the agreement (paid). 

 

 Exploration expenditures to be incurred by the Company: 

 • $400,000 within one year following TSX Venture Exchange acceptance (“effective date”) (October 14, 

2010); 

 • an additional $300,000 within two years following the effective date (October 14, 2011); and 

 • an additional $300,000 within three years following the effective date (October 14, 2012). 

 

7. ADVANCES PAYABLE 

 As at June 30, 2012, the Company had $70,222 (2011: $150,000) in advances payable to Highbank, which will be 

applied against mineral exploration expenditures incurred by the Company on the Highland Valley Property on 

behalf of Highbank. 

  

 

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

(a) Related party transactions 

  

 The Company entered into the following related party transactions for the year ended June 30, 2012 and 

2011: 

 

June 30, 2012  
Management 

Fees 
 

Rent Total 

Gary Brown (1) $         120,000 $               - $     120,000 
Bradley L. Jones (2) 120,000 36,000 156,000 

 $         240,000 $      36,000 $     276,000 

 

June 30, 2011 

Management 

Fees 

 

Rent Total 

Gary Brown (1) $         120,000 $               - $     120,000 

Bradley L. Jones (2) 120,000 36,000 156,000 

 $         240,000 $      36,000 $     276,000 
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8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 

 
(b) Related party receivables 

  

 Amounts receivable from related parties is comprised of the following: 

 

  
June 30,  

2012 

June 30, 

2011 

July 1, 

2010 

Gary Brown (1) $            62,179   $              - $               -  

Bradley L. Jones (2) 179,335 - 6,150 

  $           241,514  $              - $       6,150 

  

 
(c) Related party liabilities  

  

 Amounts payable to related parties are comprised of the following: 

 

 
 June 30,  

2012 

June 30, 

2011  
 July 1, 

2010 

Gary Brown (1) $                  -     $     30,456 $       3,471 

Bradley L. Jones (2) - 13,531 - 

 $                  -     $     43,987 $     3,471 

 

(1) Gary Brown is the President and a director of the Company.  

(2) Bradley L. Jones is the COO, CFO and a director of the Company. 

 
(d) Key management personnel compensation 

  

 Key management personnel were paid management fees for the year ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 as 

disclosed in Note 8(a). 

 

9.  SHARE CAPITAL 
  

(a) Authorized:  

  

 Unlimited common shares and preferred shares without par value 
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 

 
(b) Issued common shares:  

         During the year ended June 30, 2012: 

(i) The Company issued 2,000,000 units at $0.05 per unit for proceeds of $100,000. Each unit consisted of one 

common share and one share purchase warrant. Each share purchase warrant entitles the holder to acquire 

one common share at $0.10 per share in the first year. 

  

(ii) The Company issued 750,000 units at $0.10 per unit for proceeds of $75,000. Each unit consists of one 

common share and one common share purchase warrant. Each share purchase warrant entitles the holder to 

acquire one common share at $0.10 per share within twelve months and at $0.20 per share within twenty-

four months following the date on which the Company is listed on a Canadian stock exchange. 

  

(iii) Pursuant to the amalgamation agreement, one common share was issued for every four shares outstanding in 

Greenfab.  The Company issued an aggregate of 1,509,667 common shares valued at $150,967 (Note 4). 

During the year ended June 30, 2011: 

(iv) The Company issued 1,500,000 units at $0.034 per unit for proceeds of $51,000. Each unit consisted of one 

common share and one-third of a share purchase warrant. Each share purchase warrant entitles the holder to 

acquire one common share at $0.15 per share in the first year and at $0.25 per share in the second year after 

the Company is listed on a Canadian stock exchange. 

  

(v) The Company issued 1,016,666 units at $0.15 per unit for proceeds of $152,500. Each unit consisted of one 

common share and one share purchase warrant. Each share purchase warrant entitles the holder to acquire 

one common share at $0.15 per share in the first year and at $0.25 per share in the second year after the 

Company is listed on a Canadian stock exchange. 

  

(vii) On June 1, 2011, the Company issued 1,000,000 units at $0.10 per unit for proceeds of $100,000. Each unit 

consisted of one common share and one share purchase warrant. Each share purchase warrant entitles the 

holder to acquire one common share at $0.10 per share in the first year and at $0.20 per share in the second 

year after the Company is listed on a Canadian stock exchange. 

  

(viii) The Company issued 625,000 units at $0.20 per unit for proceeds of $125,000. Each unit consisted of one 

flow-through common share and one share purchase warrant. Each share purchase warrant entitles the holder 

to acquire one common share at $0.25 per share in the two years after the Company is listed on a Canadian 

stock exchange.   

  

 The fair value of the sale of tax deductions was determined to be $37,500 and presented as deferred 

premium on flow-through shares at initial recognition.   During the year ended June 30, 2011, the Company 

renounced $100,000 exploration expenditures prospectively.  The flow-through liability will be reversed 

when eligible expenditures are incurred.   

  

(ix) On May 2, 2011, the Company issued 300,000 common shares with a fair value of $30,000 to consultants 

for services rendered. 
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 

 

(c) Share purchase warrants:  

  

 The following table summarizes the continuity of share purchase warrants: 

  

 

Number of 

Warrants 

 

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise Price 

   
Balance, July 1, 2010 7,550,000 $0.32 

   
Issued 3,141,666 $0.15 

   
Balance, June 30, 2011 10,691,666 $0.27 

   
   Issued 2,750,000 $0.11 

   
Balance, June 30, 2012 13,441,666 $0.25 

       As at June 30, 2012, the following share purchase warrants were outstanding: 

Number of Warrants 

Outstanding 

 

Exercise 

price 

 

 

Expiry Date 

   
625,000 $0.30 January 9, 2013 

1,750,000 $0.10 / $0.20** January 9, 2014 

3,016,666 $0.15 / $0.25** January 9, 2014 

1,175,000 $0.20 / $0.30** January 9, 2014 

625,000 $0.25 January 9, 2014 

4,250,000 $0.25 / $0.50** January 9, 2014 

2,000,000 $0.10 June 30, 2013 

   
13,441,666   

 

 ** exercise price for the second year 

 
10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, marketable securities, HST recoverable, accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities, advances payable and due from (to) related parties.  Cash and marketable securities are carried at 

fair value using a level 1 fair value measurement.  HST recoverable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, 

advances payable and due from (to) related parties approximated their carrying values due to the short-term nature 

of these instruments. 

 

(a)  Credit risk 

  

 Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist primarily 

of cash and HST recoverable. The Company limits its exposure to credit loss by placing its cash with high 

credit quality financial institutions. The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit 

exposure. HST recoverable is due from the Government of Canada, and therefore, the credit risk exposure is 

low.   
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10.   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

(b) Foreign exchange risk 

  

 The Company operates in Canada and Ireland, but has all of its cash held in Canada in Canadian dollars.  

Future exploration programs and option payments may be denominated in foreign currency.  Foreign exchange 

risk arises from purchase transactions as well as financial assets and liabilities denominated in these foreign 

currencies. 

  

 The Company does not use derivative instruments to hedge exposure to foreign exchange rate risk.  However, 

management of the Company believes that there is no significant exposure to foreign currency fluctuations.   

  

(c) Interest rate  risk 

   

 Advances payable and the amounts due to related parties are non-interest bearing.  The Company does not have 

other financial liabilities.  Therefore, interest rate is minimal.   

  

(d) Liquidity risk 

  

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. 

The Company requires funds to finance its business development activities. In addition, the Company, from 

time to time, needs to raise equity financing to carry out its exploration programs. There is no assurance that 

financing will be available or, if available, that such financings will be on reasonable terms. 

 

(e) Market risk 

  

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, investment 

fluctuations, and commodity and equity prices. Market conditions will cause fluctuations in the fair values of 

financial assets classified as held-for-trading, available-for-sale and cause fluctuations in the fair value of future 

cash flows for assets or liabilities classified as held-to-maturity, loans or receivables and other financial 

liabilities. The Company is exposed to market risk in trading its investments, and unfavorable market 

conditions could result in dispositions of investments at less than favorable prices. The Company’s investments 

are accounted for as available-for-sale and are sensitive to changes in market prices, such that changes in 

market prices result in a proportionate change in the carrying value of the Company’s investments. The 

Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risk as the Company’s has no interest bearing debt. The 

Company’s ability to raise capital to fund mineral resource exploration is subject to risks associated with 

fluctuations in mineral resource prices. Management closely monitors commodity prices, individual equity 

movements, and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company. 
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11. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The Company manages its capital to maintain its ability to continue as a going concern and to provide returns to 

shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders.  The capital structure of the Company consists of cash and equity 

comprised of issued share capital, accumulated other comprehensive loss and deficit.   

 

The Company manage its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of economic conditions.  The 

Company, upon approval from its Board of Directors, will balance its overall capital structure through new share 

issues or by undertaking other activities as deemed appropriate under the specific circumstances. 

 

The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements and the Company’s overall strategy with 

respect to capital risk management remains unchanged from the year ended June 30, 2012.   

 

12.  DEFERRED INCOME TAX  

 

A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates is as follows: 

 

 2012 

$ 

2011 

$ 

   
Canadian statutory income tax rate 25.00% 27.50% 

   
Income tax (recovery) expense at statutory rate (210,533) 247,455 

   
Tax effect of:    

Permanent differences and other 36,117 (44,537) 

Change in enacted tax rates – (18,447) 

Change in valuation allowance 61,497 (71,552) 

   
Future income tax (recovery) provision (112,919) 112,919 

 

 2012 

$ 

2011 

$ 

   
Future income tax assets 

 
Non-capital losses carried forward   314,168 157,238 

Goodwill 34,702 – 

Valuation allowance (61,497) – 

   
Net future income tax asset 287,373 157,238 

   
Future income tax liabilities   

   
Resource pools (287,343) (270,157) 

   
Net future income tax liability – (112,919) 

 

As at June 30, 2012, the Company had non-capital losses carried forward of approximately $1,256,672 (2011 - 

$628,951) which may be utilized to reduce future years’ taxable income and expire through to 2032 if not utilized. 
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13. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 
 

The Company operates in one industry, which is the mineral resource industry, with properties in Canada and Ireland. 

 

 
June 30, 2012 Canada Ireland Total 

    
Exploration and evaluation assets $  1,094,492 $     55,500 $        1,149,492 

 

 

June 30, 2011 

 

Canada Ireland Total 

    
Exploration and evaluation assets $  1,035,351 $     52,750 $        1,088,101 

 
 

July 1, 2010 

 

Canada Ireland Total 

    
Exploration and evaluation assets $  1,467,058 $     50,000 $        1,517,058 

 
 
14. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

 

On July 19, 2012 the Company and Highbank Resources Limited (“HBK”) approved the following changes to certain 

property agreements and or arrangements between the parties: 

 

• The Company and HBK are parties to a Property Option Agreement (“the agreement”) dated December 8, 2009, 

amended December 15, 2010 and further amended February 2, 2011 in respect of the Company’s Highland 

Valley property. The agreement required HBK to pay amounts aggregating $250,000, issue 20 million shares 

and incur exploration expenditures of $1,000,000 over a three (3) year period in order to secure a fifty (50) 

percent inserts in the property. 

• Agreement was reached that the aforementioned fifty (50) percent interest would be considered “earned” based 

on cash payments and exploration expenditures made or incurred to date. The issuance of the 20 million shares 

was completed in February 2011. 

• Whereas HBK was the legal and beneficial owner of all right, title and interest in and to prospecting licence over 

prospecting area #930 and #934 in the Country of Galway located in Ireland. 

• HBK agreed to transfer its 100% interest in the licenses to the Company and will retain a 1% NSR which the 

Company have the option to purchase ½% for $500,000. 
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15.   INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) 
     

Overview 

The Company’s financial statements for the year ending June 30, 2012 are the first annual financial statements that 

will be prepared in accordance with IFRS.  IFRS 1, First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 

Standards, requires that comparative financial information be provided.  As a result, the first date at which the 

Company has applied IFRS was July 1, 2010 (the “Transition Date”).  IFRS 1 requires first time adopters to 

retrospectively apply all the effective IFRS standards as of the reporting date of June 30, 2012.  However, it also 

provides for certain optional exemptions and certain mandatory exceptions for first time IFRS adoption.  Prior to the 

transition to IFRS, the Company prepared its financial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP.   

 

In preparing the Company’s opening IFRS financial statements, the Company has adjusted amounts reported 

previously in financial statements prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP.  

 

The Company has applied the following exemptions to its opening statement of financial position dated July 1, 

2010:  

 

(a) First-time adoption of IFRS – exemptions applied 

  

 IFRS 1, which governs the first-time adoption of IFRS, generally requires accounting policies to be applied 

retrospectively to determine the opening statement of financial position on the company’s transition date. 

However, IFRS 1 also dictates certain mandatory exemptions and allows certain optional exemptions from 

full retrospective application on the transition to IFRS. In preparing its transition date financial statements 

the Company has chosen to apply the following mandatory exemption: 

  

 Share based payments 

  

 IFRS 1 encourages, but does not require, first-time adopters to apply IFRS 2 Share- based Payment to equity 

instruments that were granted on or before November 7, 2002, or equity instruments that were granted 

subsequent to November 7, 2002 and vested prior to the transition date on July 1, 2010. 

  

 The Company has not applied other exemptions because they are not applicable or material to the 

preparation of the Company’s financial statements at the transition date on July 1, 2010.   

 

 (b) Reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to IFRS 

  

 IFRS employs a conceptual framework that is similar to Canadian GAAP. However, few differences exist in 

certain matters of recognition, measurement and disclosure.  While adoption of IFRS has not changed the 

Company’s actual cash flows, it has resulted in changes to the Company’s reported financial position and 

results of operations. In order to allow the users of the financial statements to better understand these 

changes, the Company’s Canadian GAAP statements of financial position, statements of comprehensive loss 

and statements of cash flows have been reconciled to IFRS, with the resulting differences explained. 
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15. INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) (continued) 

 

 (b) Reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to IFRS (continued) 

  

 Impairment 

 IFRS:  If indication of impairment is identified, the asset’s carrying value is compared to the asset’s 

discounted cash flows.  If the discounted cash flows are less than the carrying value, the asset is impaired by 

an amount equal to the difference between the discounted cash flows and the carrying value. 
 
Canadian GAAP:   If indication of impairment is identified, the asset’s carrying value is compared to the 

asset’s undiscounted cash flows.  If the undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying value, the asset is 

impaired by an amount equal to the difference between the discounted cash flows and the carrying value. 

 

The Company completed an impairment review of its assets at July 1, 2010, June 30, 2011, and June 30, 

2012 and concluded that the assets were not impaired in accordance with IFRS.   

 

 (b) Reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to IFRS (continued) 

  

 Flow-through shares  

  

 IFRS:  At the time the flow-through shares are issued, the gross proceeds are allocated to the offering of 

shares and the sale of tax benefits to investors.  The allocation is based on the difference between the quoted 

price of the non-flow through shares and the amount the investors pay for the flow-through shares upon 

issuance of the shares.  A liability is recognized for the premium paid by the investors.  When the shares are 

renounced and the obligation to pass on the tax benefits to the investor is fulfilled, the liability on the flow-

through premium is reversed and a deferred tax liability is recognized.  If renouncement is prospective, the 

obligation is fulfilled when eligible expenditures are incurred.  If renouncement is retrospective, the 

obligation is fulfilled when the paperwork to renounce is filed or when eligible expenditures are incurred as 

long as there is the intention to renounce.  

 

Canadian GAAP:   The Company followed the recommendations of the Emerging Issues Committee 

(“EIC”) of the CICA with respect to flow-through shares, as outlined in EIC-146.  The application of EIC-

146 required the recognition of the foregone tax benefit on the date the Company renounced the tax credits 

associated with the exploration expenditures, provided there is reasonable assurance that the expenditures 

will be made.  To recognize the forgone tax benefits to the Company, the carrying value of the shares issued 

is reduced by the tax effect of the tax benefits renounced to subscribers. 

 

The effect of this transitional change is as follows:  

 

 (i) Issuance of flow-through shares 

   

  Decreased share capital and increased other liabilities at June 30, 2011 by $37,500 to recognize the 

premium paid for the flow-through shares in excess of the market value of the shares without the flow-

through features.   

   

There are no material differences between the statements of financial position presented under IFRS and 

Canadian GAAP at July 1, 2010.  There are also no material differences between the statements of 

comprehensive loss and statements of cash flows for the year ended June, 2011.   
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15.   INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) (continued) 

 

The Canadian GAAP statement of financial position at June 30, 2011 has been reconciled to IFRS as follows: 

 

 

 

 

Canadian GAAP 

Effect of 

Transition to 

IFRS IFRS 

ASSETS 
 

  

Current  
 

  

   Cash  $        167,417 $                   - $          167,417 

   Marketable securities 1,100,000 - 1,100,000 

   HST recoverable 41,000 - 41,000 

   Prepaid expenses and deposits 4,000 - 4,000 

Total current assets 1,312,417 - 1,312,417 

    

Non-Current    

  Exploration and evaluation assets 1,088,101 - 1,088,101 

Total assets $    2,400,518 $                   - $       2,400,518 

LIABILTIES    

Current    

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $            72,904 - $            72,904 

   Advances payable 150,000 - 150,000 

   Due to related parties 43,987 - 43,987 

   Deferred premium on flow-through shares (Note 13 (b)) - 37,500 37,500 

Total current liabilities 266,891 37,500 304,391 

    

Non-Current    

   Deferred income tax (Note 13 (b)) 112,919 - 112,919 

    

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    

   Share capital  (Note 13 (b)) 2,695,000 (37,500) 2,657,500 

   Accumulated other comprehensive loss (700,000) - (700,000) 

   Retained earnings 25,708 - 25,708 

Total shareholders’ equity 2,020,708 (37,500) 1,983,208 

    

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities $     2,400,518 $                   -  $      2,400,518 
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The first certificate below must be signed by the CEO, CFO, any person or company who is a 
promoter of the Issuer and two directors of the Issuer. In the case of an Issuer re-qualifying 
following a fundamental change, the second certificate must also be signed by the CEO, CFO, 
any person or company who is a promoter of the target and two directors of the target. 

 
CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, (full legal name of the Issuer), 
hereby applies for the listing of the above mentioned securities on CNSX.  The foregoing 
contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to (full legal name of 
the Issuer). It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material 
fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from 
being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Toronto, Ontario 

this 29th day of October, 2012. 

 

“Gary R. Brown”  “Bradley L. Jones” 

Gary R. Brown, Chief Executive Officer  Bradley L. Jones, Chief Financial Officer 

   

“Gary R. Brown”  “Gregory R. Thomson” 

Gary R. Brown, Promoter (if applicable)  Gregory R. Thomson, Director 

   

 
 


